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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-
sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from, or in reliance upon, the whole or any part
of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Shenzhen Neptunus
Interlong Bio-technique Company Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.

ERBAERZFERLR ([BRAT])
GEMWI4E &

GEMMER » IR PEARRM—ELTHT
% BERAFAHLEEMEIRETHNORASE
BERERAR - AERENATERBRENZ
ERNAMNETRAR  TESBEHEAFNZER
FAEHIRERE -

HRGEMETAREEAT/NMEAF » H#GEME
ENEZTREBREIREENBSEAZIRAN
THERBEE  BREERIEEGEMEENES
SHREREBNTES -

BB G REBIERA A RBATH R H &
ABBTRE - HREEE TR T T EFKNE
B8 - MR T BT A A & £ A5 (E 1]
BB 73 25 177 2 4 2 R 1o RE A% 5 A 25 7 5 B A 1 1]
BEAEEEIT -

A& 5 IR PR (GEMAE 5 £ 77 Al )
([GEM_ETTAEA) M TI# - 5 1B B AT
BERIFEEYRMK D BERL 7] ([ E]]) A
EH - ARFAEFE ([EF])BERAIHE 0 ERH
FIREFI AL EE AN - EEFHEIEL — A
BEHE  BBRBETHRINE » R BEEBHE
HEEEZ T HEERTH  RERELHF
Htr  AIAEREMER  EUSHAREK
EPTB (][R AL RE o



Corporate Information
NRIER

Chairman’s Statement

TREWE

Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE RO

Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Profile

BEf EELSREREREERE

Report of the Directors
TEems

Corporate Governance Report
PEERWME

Report of the Supervisory Committee
ERRS

Independent Auditor’s Report
B BN E

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
fFeBm AR ER R K

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AR ER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
RARESRER

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HAMREDR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e TSR MR

Five Year Financial Summary

hFMBRE

Group Property
ESEIbYES

Contents

H &%

Page
=N

23
40
58
59
67
68
70
72
73

179

180

R EREERENERMBROBRAT 2022555k

1



2

Corporate Information

NEEF

Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Feng (Chairman)
Mr. Huang Jian Bo

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Yi Fei

Ms. Yu Lin

Mr. Shen Da Kai

Mr. Xu Yan He (passed away on 21 March 2022)
Mr. Jin Rui (appointed on 13 May 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon

Mr. Poon Ka Yeung

Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou

Supervisors

Mr. Xiong Chu Xiong
Mr. Jin Ge
Ms. Cao Yang

Members of Remuneration Committee

Mr. Poon Ka Yeung (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
Mr. Zhang Feng
Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon

Members of Audit Committee

Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon (Chairman of the Audit Committee)
Mr. Poon Ka Yeung
Ms. Yu Lin

Members of Nomination Committee

Mr. Zhang Feng (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon

Mr. Poon Ka Yeung

Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou

Company Secretaries

Mr. Huang Jian Bo
Ms. Fung Wai Sum

S
HITES
RS (ZE)
=R

FHTES
RERELE
THz L

RS FAE

EREE R —F =

BYFHTES
ZKETE
ERGELE
BRIFRELE

E=E

RRABARSC A
SR%EE
Bt

HFWEEEXRE
EEB S HHEE
RS
S

BEREEEXRE
PR (BHE
EEG L
Foihdet

REEEEZEE

il

/

23+/E)

21/F)

REELE BEZRELE)

SIKEEFLE
EREELE
BRIAELE

NEWE
ERLE
BRI

SHENZHEN NEPTUNUS INTERLONG BIO-TECHNIQUE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BRFEE(R—FE-—F= A =+—Hitt)

FhOH+=FEZE)



Compliance Officer
Mr. Zhang Feng

Authorised Representatives

Mr. Zhang Feng
Mr. Huang Jian Bo

Auditors
Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited

Legal Adviser

Stephenson Harwood
18th Floor, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong

Principal Bank
China Construction Bank Shenzhen CBD Sub-branch

H Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Hong Kong

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Registered Office

Suite 1702, Neptunus Yinhe Technology Mansion, 1 Keji Middle 3rd Road,
Maling Community, Yuehai Sub-district, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, The
PRC

Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong
18th Floor, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong

Website

www.interlong.com

Stock Code
8329

Corporate Information

NCIE-ve

EEsRI (T
B4R

RERE
sk
HAIR

RSB
S (B8) BT BB AR AR

SEERAR
EEZEMERAT
HESESEBSTHA—F 0181
FEERET

AR RIRITRYIP O & 1T

E\%HHQ&JE&%@ &
BEBLBTARA
%/%EE%L16FE
BEREEPLIT7E

HRER
PRI LR EgEEmMaEtEiiT =
1558 TRTBHERE1702

BRBETEERMBE

AR REREESRA —H 0 181&
A uh

www.interlong.com

IR AR KSR

8329

R EREERENERMROBRAT 2022555



4

Chairman’s Statement
FEHRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Shenzhen Neptunus
Interlong Bio-technique Company Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year").

During the Year, the new COVID-19 variants had greater transmission
speed which caused pandemic prevention work became more frequent and
detailed, thus greatly affected the regular business activities of enterprises
and the normal living and consumption pattern of the people. As the anti-
epidemic measures enters the normalized prevention and control stage which
placed the management of COVID-19 as a “Class B infection”, business
activities of enterprises and lives of the people resumed normal rapidly, and
the national economy as a whole maintained its growth trend. As for the
pharmaceutical industry, China has steadily promoted the implementation
of policies such as “in-depth reform on pharmaceutical and healthcare
system”, “quality consistency evaluation for generic drugs” and “centralized
procurement of drugs organized by the State” in recent years, pharmaceutical
enterprises have also adjusted and optimized their business according to their
own characteristics to adapt to the key industry policies. Under the policy
of “in-depth reform on pharmaceutical and healthcare system”, the main
tasks related to pharmaceutical manufacturers to be deployed by the State in
2022 included: continuing to expand the scope of centralized procurement
of medicinal ingredients, enhancing the capacity of prevention and control
of major chronic diseases, accelerating the launch of innovative drugs with
clinical value, continuing to promote the consistency evaluation of generic
drugs, optimizing the national essential drug catalog and promoting the
revitalization and development of traditional Chinese medicine. The Group
has been continuously reviewing and optimizing its business and operation
modes in accordance with the key reform arrangements as well.
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In the past year, the principal activities of the Group continued to be research
and development, manufacturing and selling of medicines, and the purchase
and sales of medicines and healthcare food products. In line with the focus
of the reform of the medical and healthcare system, the Group continued
to develop new sales channels, improve new sales networks in various
provinces and regions and develop e-commerce platforms during the Year,
increased the promotional efforts of drugs for major chronic diseases and
healthcare food products, and continued to strengthen cost control and
sales and marketing of generic and basic drugs. In terms of research and
development, the Group continued to devote efforts in the the consistency
evaluation for varieties and trial production, validation and process research
of new varieties. In the field of traditional Chinese medicine, in addition to
continuing its own research and development and registration, the Group
also explored external investment opportunities to bolster the Group’s future
development in the field of traditional Chinese medicine business. By the end
of 2022, the Group experienced a roller-coaster ride in the market demand
for drugs in fighting the epidemic due to the rapid change in the COVID-19
prevention policy. During the process, on the one hand, the Group fulfilled
its social responsibility by quickly organizing production to supply the relevant
drugs to the market at affordable prices, and on the other hand, it also
accumulated valuable experiences for the Group to cope with the production
and supply chain management of the corresponding products during the
outbreak of epidemic diseases.

In the future, the Board will lead the Company’s management to continue
to improve governance, strengthen standardized management and improve
internal control system. Under the lead of the Board and management and
with the persistent efforts of all employees, the Board believes that the
business of the Group will continue to develop well. The Group will continue
to improve its development policy and strategy and increase investment in
production and quality assurance system, research and development of new
drugs, drug quality consistency evaluation and marketing network during
the course of deepening medical and healthcare system reform enforced by
the State. The Group will also increase inheritance and innovation in the field
of traditional Chinese medicine, develop classical prescriptions of traditional
Chinese medicine, effectively promote the optimization and revitalisation
of varieties, explore more potential values and further increase our core
competitiveness by enhancing product quality, in an effort to strengthen
the construction of the modern full industrial chain of traditional Chinese
medicine.

On behalf of the Company and the Board, | would like to express my
heartfelt gratitude to all shareholders and business partners for their support
and trust to the Group, and to all staff for their commitment to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, the Group was principally engaged in the research and
development, manufacturing and selling of medicines and medical devices,
and the purchase and sales of medicines and healthcare food products in the
PRC. The medicines being sold by the Group mainly cover several therapeutic
areas which are oncology, cardiovascular system, respiratory system, digestive
system and mental disorders.

Research and Development, Manufacturing and Selling of Medicines
and Medical Devices

The Group has two pharmaceutical production bases, which are respectively
located in Jin'an District, Fuzhou, Fujian Province, the PRC (“Fuzhou
Production Base”) and Miyun Economic Development Zone, Beijing City,
the PRC (“Beijing Production Base”). The Fuzhou Production Base possesses
366 Guo Yao Zhun Zi approval documents for Chinese medicines (including
more than a dozen of dosage forms such as tablets, capsules, granules,
oral solutions and tinctures) and chemical medicines (which include various
dosage forms namely tablets, capsules, granules, small volume injections and
large volume injections) in total, of which 235 varieties are included in the
“Catalogue of Drugs for Basic National Medical Insurance” (BZRE AN E B (R
i B 8%), and 146 products are included in the “National Essential Drug
List” (B EANEE R B £%). In addition, the Fuzhou Production Base is the
only narcotic production base in Fujian Province designated by the State. The
Beijing Production Base mainly produces chemical medicines (tablets, hard
capsules and powders) and holds 137 Guo Yao Zhun Zi approval documents,
of which 89 products are included in the “Catalogue of Drugs for Basic
National Medical Insurance” (BIZREARNEFE IR S45 B £%) and 60 products
are included in the “National Essential Drug List”.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group's research and development work mainly fulfills the internal
development demands of the Group through conducting independent
research and development and cooperation with external research and
development institutions. Three pharmaceutical manufacturing subsidiaries
of the Company are recognized as high-tech enterprises and all of them
are entitled to enjoy preferential corporate income tax treatment for high-
tech enterprises. Over the years, the Group has consistently promoted its
research and development innovation strategy and continued to invest in the
consistency evaluation of generic medicine and the research and development
of new medicines. Currently, the Group owns a total of 35 patents for
inventions. In respect of consistency evaluation, four of the Group’s products
have passed the consistency evaluation, including Sodium Bicarbonate Tablets
(xE& 289 /), Norfloxacin Capsules (3 %0 2 B %), Metformin Hydrochloride
Tablets (588 — F A /) and Propranolol Hydrochloride Tablets (B84 & %%
/& B ). The consistency evaluation of several other products is being carried
out in an orderly manner, including Vitamin B6 Tablets (44 2B6/7), which
evaluation have been completed and are still pending approval, and Vitamin
B1 Tablets (44 2B1/), which have completed the pilot test for consistency
evaluation and methodological transfer of quality standards. In the aspect
of research and development of new medicines, Doxofylline Injection (%%
ZWESTAR), which was commissioned by the Company’s pharmaceutical
subsidiary, has been approved and its supplementary application for
change of quality standard is currently under review. Concentrated Sodium
Potassium Magnesium Calcium Injection (508£5745 5% 55 FJE/AK) has also
obtain approval. The Group also possesses various new drugs and exclusive
products with self-owned intellectual property rights, including Tegafur,
Gimeracil and Oteracil Potassium Tablets (the “TGOP Tablets” or & & &
Fr, a drug for anti-gastric cancer), Xiaozheng Yigan Tablets CHEzNT F,
an anti-liver-cancer drug), Proteoglycan Tablets (Z#E2& A}, for enhancing
the immune system), Biyuan Capsules (% 4i2 %, an anti-rhinitis medicine),
Amaranth Berberine Capsules (B3 &E@E =B %, a drug for acute diarrhea),
Disodium Glycyrrhizinate (HEE —4R, a drug for anti-inflammatory and
liver protection), Spironolactone Tablets (#2AfE /-, a drug for auxiliary
diuresis), Ligustrazine Phosphate Tablets (&)= F, a drug for ischemic
cerebrovascular disease), Pre-filled Catheter Flusher (FEF =\ EE R, a
Class Il medical device) and HTK Myocardial Protection Cardioplegic Solution
(HTK ONRZEEBO®, a Class Il medical device).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S LT

During the Year, the pharmaceutical industry continued to undergo
accelerated changes and restructuring, with the new healthcare reform
policies tending to diversify and normalise, and the survival and development
of pharmaceutical companies gradually stabilized under the dual test of
challenges and opportunities. However, at the same time, the repeated
outbreaks and strict preventive and control measures of COVID-19 took
place across China had a significant impact on the operations of enterprises.
As a result, two pharmaceutical subsidiaries of the Group located in Fuzhou
also experienced relatively greater pressure. In order to ensure steady
business development, these subsidiaries have adjusted and planned their
overall business in accordance with national policy guidelines and the
Group's strategic policy of pharmaceutical mass manufacturing. In terms of
sales channels, they actively participated in the bidding of drugs in various
provinces and cities, accelerated distribution and sales to medical institutions
through pharmaceutical companies, fully secured market allocation and
circulation of pharmaceutical commercial companies, and expanded direct
sales to terminal chain pharmacies. In terms of product strategy, they
classified their products, featuring ten categories of products and grouping
them into key products and potential products, and selected suitable sales
channels according to product characteristics. In terms of pricing strategy,
a pricing committee was established to set reasonable prices by taking into
account product costs, expected gross profit and market demand, thus
enhancing competitiveness. In terms of resource integration, the Group
fully relied on and leveraged the advantages of the system platform of the
Neptunus Group to continuously expand sales channels and extend coverage
to hospital terminals. During the Year, these subsidiaries successfully achieved
rapid and steady growth.

In order to promote stable and high quality development and strive to turn
loss into profit as soon as possible, Beijing Neptunus Zhongxin Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd.* QERUBEFRIEEERMH AR AT, “Neptunus Zhongxin”) further
implemented the objectives and policies of cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement and compliant operation during the Year, striving to realize
diversified marketing, expand its sales team and increase the coverage of
distributors. At the same time, Neptunus Zhongxin vigorously integrated
and utilized the Group's platform and resources to focus on developing
advantageous products. In addition, due to the outbreak of COVID-19
in China in the fourth quarter, sales of some of Neptunus Zhongxin’s
pharmaceutical products surged, which had a large positive impact on
Neptunus Zhongxin's results, and therefore, overall, the magnitude of loss of
Neptunus Zhongxin reduced significantly for the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Purchase and Sales of Medicines and Healthcare Food Products

Currently, the main products distributed and sold by the Group are medicines
and healthcare food products manufactured by the Group and its parent
company group, which include the well-known product series of the
Neptunus Ginkgo Leaves Tablets (8 E SR A EEF) and Neptunus Jinzun (8
#18). Such products are mainly distributed to the end medical institutions
through professional sales promotion companies and to the end users
through large and medium-sized chain pharmacies.

During the Year, retail drug consumption continued to decline due to the
impact of the pandemic and restrictions on pandemic prevention measures
in various regions. At the same time, there was a prolonged suspension and
delay in the receipt and delivery of goods by the Group’s medicines and
healthcare food purchase and sales division, which had a significant impact
on sales. In addition, the Group’s medicines and healthcare food distribution
division reduced its distribution of certain prescription products in 2021,
resulting in a significant decrease in revenue as compared to previous years.
In order to stabilize its business and safeguard its long-term development,
the Group’s medicines and healthcare food products division focused on
integrated planning and timely adjusted its sales strategies, focusing on the
sales of key products and vigorously developing the health food products
market to actively drive its performance recovery. During the Year, the
segment basically maintained business stability and its year-on-year decrease
in revenue for the full Year was much smaller than the year-on-year decrease
in revenue for the first half of the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE S LT

Environmental, Social and Governance

The Group has been placing emphasis and taking actions in the aspects
of environment, society and governance, including: constantly improving
production efficiency, conserving resources and enhancing employees’
awareness of environmental protection. Regarding production, the
output corresponding to unit carbon emission increased, the pollution
and the emission of hazardous substance which are in violation of laws
and regulations were banned, and old equipment was replaced to reduce
energy consumption and enhance production efficiency. Regarding office
management, office supplies and energy consumption were conserved. Also,
the Group actively improves the working environment by transforming into
a paperless office and is committed to social responsibility by taking part in
charitable activities.

During the Year, the Company engaged a professional third-party institution
to assist in conducting comprehensive communication (from various
dimensions) with stakeholders by way of face-to-face communication,
telephone interview, questionnaire and survey. The relevant results not only
serve as an important reference for the Company to review and promote
the sustainability agenda of the Group, but also provide a powerful basis
for the content selection and preparation of our environmental, social
and governance report. The environmental, social and governance report
prepared by the Company pursuant to Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
will be published at the same time as the publication of this report.

PROSPECTS AND OUTLOOK

In face of the complex and changing macroeconomic environment and
the comprehensive change and restructuring of the industry condition,
companies in the pharmaceutical industry have examined the situation in
a timely manner and continuously adjusted and optimized their business
according to their own characteristics in order to adapt to the reforms for
stable development. The Group also closely monitors the uncertainties of
the external situation, proactively adjusts its risks, continuously improves the
its development strategies and tactics, and further increases its investment
in product manufacturing and quality assurance systems, research and
development of new medicines, consistency evaluation of generic medicines
and marketing network. Meanwhile, in the sector of traditional Chinese
medicine business, in order to further enhance its core competitiveness and
strengthen the construction of the modern full industrial chain of traditional
Chinese medicine, the Group has increased its heritage innovation, seized
opportunities to make strategic investments, developed classical recipes of
traditional Chinese medicine, effectively promoted the optimization and
renewal of varieties, searched for more potential value, and improved product
quality. We believe that through the concerted efforts of our management
and staff in all positions, the Group will be able to grow its business rapidly in
the long run.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group's total revenue for the Year was approximately RMB986,691,000
(2021: approximately RMB838,805,000), representing an increase of
approximately 17.63% as compared with the corresponding period of last
year. In relation to the revenue, approximately RMB694,840,000, which
accounted for approximately 70.42% of the Group’s total revenue, was
derived from the manufacturing and selling of medicines segment, while
approximately RMB291,851,000, which accounted for approximately 29.58%
of the Group’s total revenue, was derived from the sales and distribution of
medicines and healthcare products segment. During the Year, the Group's
revenue from the manufacturing and selling of medicines segment increased
by approximately 36.18% as compared with the corresponding period
of last year, while the revenue of the sales and distribution of medicines
and healthcare products segment decreased by approximately 11.18% as
compared with the corresponding period of last year. Therefore the overall
revenue of the Group increased.

During the Year, the Group'’s gross profit margin was approximately 45%
(2021: approximately 45%), basically the same as compared with the
corresponding period of last year.

The Group's gross profit during the Year was approximately
RMB444,142,000 (2021: approximately RMB374,103,000), representing
an increase of approximately 18.72% as compared with the corresponding
period of last year. The increase in gross profit was mainly attributable to the
increase in the overall revenue of the Group.

During the Year, the Group’s selling and distribution expenses were
approximately RMB244,231,000 (2021: approximately RMB238,115,000),
representing an increase of approximately 2.57% from the corresponding
period of last year. The increase in selling and distribution expenses was
mainly due to the corresponding increase in selling and distribution expenses
with the increase in revenue and the increase in selling and distribution
expenses as a result of the acquisition of Neptunus Zhongxin in June 2021.

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year were approximately
RMB93,733,000 (2021: approximately RMB80,536,000), representing an
increase of approximately 16.39% from the corresponding period of last
year. The increase in administrative expenses was mainly attributable to the
increase in staff costs and the acquisition of Neptunus Zhongxin in June 2021
resulted in an increase in administrative expenses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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During the Year, the Group’s other operating expenses (including impairment
losses on trade and other receivables, net) amounted to approximately
RMB40,927,000 (2021: approximately RMB40,468,000), representing an
increase of approximately 1.13% as compared with the corresponding period
of last year. The increase in other operating expenses was mainly attributed
to the increase in research and development expenses from Neptunus
Zhongxin, which was acquired in June 2021, and the increase in tax overdue
penalty.

The Group’s finance costs for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB7,032,000 (2021: approximately RMB4,596,000), representing an
increase of approximately 53% as compared with the corresponding period
of last year. The increase in finance costs was mainly due to the increase in
interest expenses incurred from the banking loans of Neptunus Zhongxin,
which was acquired in June 2021.

For the reasons above, the Group’s profit after tax increased from
approximately RMB34,306,000 for the corresponding period of last year
to approximately RMB63,830,000 for the Year, representing an increase of
approximately 86.06%. Profit attributable to the owners of the Company
increased from approximately RMB35,958,000 for the corresponding period
of last year to approximately RMB54,346,000 for the Year, representing an
increase of approximately 51.14%.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group usually finances its operating and investing activities with its
internal financial resources and bank loans. The Group’s transactions are
mainly denominated in Renminbi and the Group reviews its working capital
and finance requirements on a regular basis.

Banking Facilities
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had short-term bank borrowings of

RMB83,106,000. For details of banking facilities, please refer to note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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NET CURRENT ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current assets of approximately
RMB482,366,000. Current assets comprised bank balances and cash of
approximately RMB290,098,000, short-term bank deposits of approximately
RMB60,000,000, inventories of approximately RMB203,023,000
and trade and other receivables of approximately RMB341,968,000.
Current liabilities comprised trade and other payables of approximately
RMB267,483,000, current taxation of approximately RMB13,052,000,
contract liabilities of approximately RMB43,578,000, lease liabilities of
approximately RMB3,181,000, interest bearing borrowings of approximately
RMB85,028,000 and deferred revenue of approximately RMB401,000. The
net current assets increased approximately by RMB77,877,000 as compared
with that of approximately RMB404,489,000 as at 31 December 2021. The
increase in net current assets as compared to that on 31 December 2021
was mainly due to the fact that bank balances and cash and short-term bank
deposits increased by approximately RMB38,954,000 in total and inventories
increased by approximately RMB45,069,000.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the utilized banking facilities of RMB57,070,000
and the available banking facilities of RMB3,930,000 of the Group were
secured by pledge of its buildings and the pledged buildings were stated at
an aggregate value of approximately RMB24,387,000.

At 31 December 2022, the Group's future, fixtures and equipment with a
carrying amount of RMB1,822,000 (2021: RMB nil) were pledged to secure
the Group's other borrowings.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

During the Year, the Group’s operating revenue, major selling costs and
capital expenditure were denominated in RMB. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group's cash and cash equivalents were mainly denominated in RMB.
As such, the foreign currency risk facing the Group is limited. Currently, the
Group has not adopted any financial instrument for hedging purposes.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group, calculated by
dividing the total borrowings by total equity and multiplied by 100%, was
approximately 44.06% (2021: 38.46%).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment revenue and segment results by business and region of the Group
for the Year are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other significant investment
held by the Company during the Year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the Year, there has been no change in the capital structure of the
Company. The capital of the Company comprises its shares and other
reserves.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has contracted commitments for future
capital expenditure of approximately RMB990,000. The Board believes that
such capital expenditure can be financed by the Group’s bank deposits and
bank borrowings.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

The Group had not made any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures during the Year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITY
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no significant contingent liability.
FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND

CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this report, the Group does not have any plan for material
investments or purchase of capital assets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 1,458 staff (2021:
1,401).

During the Year, the staff costs including directors’ remuneration which
amounted to approximately RMB151,268,000 (2021: approximately
RMB120,083,000). The Group raised the salaries and improved fringe
benefits for its employees to maintain competitiveness and broaden appeal
of the Group. The employees’ incentives were reviewed and determined
annually pursuant to the remuneration and bonus policies of the Group
based on the performance of the employees. The Group also provided
various other benefits to its employees.

Compared with 31 December 2021, there was no significant movement in
the number of employees of the Group at the end of the Year.

The Group monitored closely the remuneration and fringe benefits of the
employees and rewarded employees in accordance with the Group’s business
performance. In addition, training and development opportunities for the
employees were also provided by the Group.

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend for the Year
(2021: Nil).
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Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Profile
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Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Feng (5K%%), aged 50, has been appointed as the chairman of the
Board and compliance officer of the Company since June 2011, and was
appointed as the authorized representative of the Company on 8 February
2021. He obtained an MBA degree from University of Technology, Sydney.
Mr. Zhang studied in Goteborg University, Sweden. He was a member of
the 13th National Committee of Chinese People’s Political Conference, a
committee member of the 10th and 11th and a standing committee member
of the 12th Jilin Municipal Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, the deputy chairman of the 10th, 11th and
12th sessions of Jilin Youth Federation (S #%& & FEtA €), the president of
the 8th session of and the honorary president of the 9th session of council
of Jilin Province Youth Entrepreneurs Association (EM& 5 FE L ERHE)
and the part-time deputy chairman of the 11th Jilin Federation of Industry
and Commerce (F#%& T8E). Mr. Zhang was the general manager of
Shenzhen Neptunus Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Neptunus Pharmaceutical”)
and Shenzhen Neptunus Tongai Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Company Ltd.
and the deputy general manager and chief branding and marketing officer
of Shenzhen Neptunus Bio-engineering Company Limited (“Neptunus Bio-
engineering”). He is currently the deputy chairman and non-independent
director of the 9th session of the board of directors and president of Neptunus
Bio-engineering, the director of Shenzhen Neptunus Group Company
Limited (“Neptunus Group”), Shenzhen Quanyaowang Technology Company
Limited ORI 2 ZEHERHE AR A E]) and Ascendent BioTechnology
Company Limited, the chairman of the board of directors of Shenzhen
Neptunus Changjian Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“Neptunus Changjian”), the
chairman of the board of directors and the legal representative of Neptunus
Pharmaceutical, the director of Fuzhou Neptunus Fuyao Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (“"Neptunus Fuyao”) and Fuzhou Neptunus Jinxiang Chinese
Pharmaceutical Company Limited (“Neptunus Jinxiang”)and the chairman of
the board of directors and director of several other companies.
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Mr. Huang Jian Bo (E&I)f), aged 46, has been appointed as an executive
director of the Board, joint company secretary and authorized representative
of the Company since June 2020, vice general manager of the Company
since 24 April 2020 and the Board secretary and the financial controller
of the Company since 13 May 2020. Mr. Huang graduated from Hunan
University with a bachelor’s degree in economics and majoring in finance
and is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He has extensive experience in listing operations, financial management
and investment management. Mr Huang has worked in the Company
during the period from February 2003 to April 2016, and served as the chief
financial officer, joint company secretary, Board secretary and authorised
representative of the Company. He was the financial controller of each of
Anhui Jiuhua Huayuan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Z BN FEFREE R A F)
and Shenzhen Ainengsen Technology Co., Ltd. (RYIZ EFREI B A A).
Mr. Huang is currently a director of Neptunus Changjian and the chairman of
supervisory committee of Neptunus Zhongxin.

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Yi Fei (5R#7), aged 50, has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company since 1 March 2021. Mr. Zhang obtained his
bachelor’s degree in Technical Economics in 1996 and a master’s degree
in Management Science and Engineering in 2015 from the School of
Management, Harbin Institute of Technology. He previously served various
roles, including secretary of the president office of Shenzhen Neptunus Group
Company Limited, sales manager of Sanya branch, regional sales manager
of Heilongjiang province, manager of the northeast region, nation-wide
commercial director, assistant general manager and operations director,
director and the deputy general manager of Neptunus Bio-engineering. He
had also acted as the general manager of Zhejiang Huafang Life Technology
Co., Ltd. G TEER £ BB A F]). Mr. Zhang is currently the executive
vice president and non-independent director of Neptunus Bio-engineering, the
legal representative, chairman of the board of directors and general manager
of Jilin Neptunus Yinhe Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd., the chairman
of the board of directors of Neptunus Fuyao and Neptunus Zhongxin, and a
director of several other companies.

Ms. Yu Lin (F3#), aged 65, has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company since February 2005. Ms. Yu graduated from Sun
Yat-sen University of the PRC, and has more than 30 years of experience in
biochemical and pharmaceutical industries in the PRC. Ms. Yu was the director
and vice-president of Neptunus Bio-engineering and was responsible for the
research and development of new products. Currently she is a director of
Shenzhen Neptunus Pharmaceutical Technology Research Company Limited
(“Neptunus Research”), Neptunus Pharmaceutical and Neptunus Zhongxin.

R EREERENERMROBERAT 20226 F5Hk 17

EX BEENSNEEERE

HElRSE - 465 BT TFANAREZE
RARBATESR  BEIARNWEREERER
BT TFNA - +HEEEZERALAE
BEE BT ZEFRAT=EREZEARR
NAEFEWENRMBABA - EREEXENH
MAR BESREXLEEES LM - STE
AftEstaineEes - £ LMERE  MBEER
REERTARFLELR AELER T
=E-AE—T-AFOAEARRMER - EE
RRRPBEE BEARWE EFIWENX
BRERKRER - WAEDHEELRBNAEER
BEARDALRINZERMERABTNTHE
TE -RAEBEIRBEERSIPHEEST
fE o

FHITES

RERELE S0 BT -—F=A Bk
ZEABAREIIERITESE - RAEEN1996F &
MRAETIXABEESRFMCOESERE &
BLaf R0 FARBEIEARETRE
REENSBETRERERYE  BELEN K
FEEFRIETEERMHERARBHMWE - 8
TEYM=DHREHERLE  BREIAREE
438 - AL KEALE - 2BEBRE - RCE
BREBHE EF  BEH BITSEDHIT
EHEGRIBRERAGBLER - REERMT
BETEMEBRBREZIEBIES SHWEER
MEBEIEEFRAGEEARA  EERFEL
B BTIRESEE BIFHEER UEE
RATERER -

T4t 65 BE_ZSTERFE_ARERT
BRARIERITES - THLEERFEFILAK
B fEhEACRBETEREFR = TFHKL
B BEMELTAMESREIER  ETEHHE
MR EERER - WA RIE T 58 R T
K BERAR(NEEMRER])ES  BTHEEE
B URSTERHESZRS -



Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Profile

2% ERRELEERER

Mr. Shen Da Kai (JtA#l), aged 57, has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company since 25 June 2020. Mr Shen is an accountant
and has an executive master of business administration degree. Mr. Shen
obtained the qualification of secretary of the board of directors of Shenzhen
Stock Exchange in 2008. He was a material accountant and cost accountant
of Guangdong Instrument Co., Ltd. (EE BB F]), the manager of
the financial department of Shenzhen Miji Electronics Co., Ltd. (RYIIFEE
B FER A, general ledger accountant and financial supervisor of the
financial management department, and leader of the finance team of the
SAPR3 project of Shenzhen SEG Samsung Glass Co., Ltd (FYIBE=Z
f& 7B BR A 7)), senior manager of the financial department and securities
affairs representative, deputy director of the financial centre of Neptunus Bio-
engineering, and the executive deputy general manager, director and vice
president of Shenzhen Neptunus Jiankang Technology Development Co., Ltd.
He is currently the non-independent director, vice-president and chief financial
officer of Neptunus Bio-engineering, and concurrently the chairman of the
board of directors, legal representative and general manager of Shenzhen
Neptunus Yinhe Pharmaceutical Investment Co., Ltd. and a director of several
other companies.

Mr. Xu Yan He (fr##0), aged 65, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company in June 2011 and re-designated to a non-executive director
of the Company in June 2020. Mr. Xu graduated from Zhejiang Engineering
College, the PRC, with a bachelor’s degree in 1982, and had nearly 30 years
of experience in pharmaceutical manufacturing industry in China. He was a
member of the 11th, 12th and 13th Fujian Provincial People’s Congress and
the deputy president of Fujian Pharmaceutical Association (@324 £ ), the
standing deputy president of Fujian Pharmaceutical Profession Association (1&
BHEEITE ) and Fujian Social Medical Insurance Association (f& &4
HEBEERBRHE). Mr. Xu had received a number of recognition, including
Outstanding Entrepreneur in Fujian and Outstanding Pharmacist in China. On
21 March 2022, Mr. Xu unfortunately passed away due to illness.

Mr. Jin Rui (£ %), aged 38, has been appointed as a non-executive director of
the Company since 13 May 2022. Mr. Jin obtained a bachelor’s degree from
Nanjing University in 2007 and a master’s degree from Zhejiang University
in 2013. Mr. Jin previously served various roles in the management level in
a number of companies, including the assistant president of Holley Group
Co., Ltd., the vice president of Holley Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd, and
a director of Zhejiang Wazam New Materials Co., Ltd. and Anhui Neptunus
Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. He is currently the vice president and non-
independent director of Neptunus Bio-engineering and a director of Neptunus
Fuyao, Neptunus Jinxiang and several other companies.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon (57k#%), aged 65, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company since August 2005.
Mr. Yick holds a bachelor’'s degree in business administration, majoring
in accounting, from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow
member of both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in England. Mr. Yick has
more than 30 years of experience in auditing, direct investment, investment
banking and corporate advisory services. From August 2015 to August 2020,
Mr. Yick was an independent non-executive director, the convener of the
nomination committee and a member of the strategy committee of Chengdu
Xingrong Environment Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange), and Mr. Yick was an independent non-executive
director, the chairman of the remuneration and nomination committee and
a member of the audit and compliance committee of Nexteer Automotive
Group Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange). In addition, Mr. Yick is an independent non-executive director of
Shanghai International Shanghai Growth Investment Limited, China Shuifa
Singyes Energy Holdings Limited (formerly known as “China Singyes Solar
Technologies Holdings Limited”) and Meta Media Holdings Limited (formerly
known as “Modern Media Holdings Limited”) (the shares of these three
companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange).
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Mr. Poon Ka Yeung (%3zF%), aged 56, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company since August 2005. Mr. Poon
obtained his bachelor’s degree in mathematics with minor in economics and
marketing from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1989 and was further
admitted to the MBA degree by the University of Hull, United Kingdom, in
1996. Mr. Poon has been appointed as an Honorary Institute Fellow of the
Asia-Pacific Institute of Business of the Chinese University of Hong Kong since
April 2002. He has been teaching marketing-related subjects for the master’s
degree in science program, MBA program and Global Executive MBA program
(OneMBA) of the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Since June 2008, he has
been appointed as visiting Adjunct Associate Professor in the Department
of Marketing of the Chinese University of Hong Kong. In addition, Mr.
Poon has been appointed as an independent non-executive director and a
member of audit, remuneration and nomination committees of Great Eagle
Holdings Limited (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) since March 2016. On 22 December 2021, Mr. Poon was re-
designated to an executive director of Great Eagle Holdings Limited, presiding
over the investment in innovative technology.

Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou (E#&/#}), aged 53, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company since January 2016. Mr.
Zhang graduated from China Youth University of Political Studies with a B.A.
degree in 1990, from Beijing Foreign Studies University with a LL.B degree in
1992, and from Boston University with a LL.M degree in 2002. He had been
an assistant professor of International Trade Law at Guangdong University of
Technology from 1992 to 1993. Mr. Zhang has been in private practice since
1993 when he was qualified to practice law in the PRC. He is now a partner
of Beijing Anjie (Shenzhen) Law Firm.
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Supervisors

Mr. Xiong Chu Xiong (R&£5E), aged 67, has been appointed as a supervisor
of the Company since June 2008. Mr. Xiong obtained a doctorate degree in
accountancy from Xiamen University in 1992. Mr. Xiong was an accounting
professor of Shenzhen University and now he is retired. Mr. Xiong was an
independent director of Neptunus Bio-engineering, China National Accord
Medicines Corporation Ltd. (Bl & E —HEZERH B MR A F]), Shenzhen
Wongtee International Enterprise Co., Ltd. (ZIIT EEBEBRECERMHERA
A)), Shahe Industrial Co., Ltd. (2 B 289 B R A 7)) and Shenzhen Laibao
Hi-Tech Co., Ltd. (RIIZHREZEIRD B R A F)), the shares of which are
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Xiong is currently a director of
UBTECH Robotics Corp Ltd.

Mr. Jin Ge (£X), aged 54, has been appointed as supervisor of the
Company since 25 June 2020. Mr. Jin graduated from Macau University of
Science and Technology with a master of business administration degree.
He has been engaged in the pharmaceutical and related industries for 25
years, specialising in finance, auditing and financial work. He is familiar with
the pharmaceutical market in mainland China, and has extensive experience
in financial management and auditing in the pharmaceutical industry. Since
2009, he has been an external tutor at the School of Business of Sun Yat-sen
University, serving as a thesis instructor for the degrees of master of business
administration, master of professional accounting, etc.. He joined Neptunus
Group in 1994, and served as accountant, finance supervisor and deputy
finance manager of Neptunus Pharmaceutical, finance director of marketing
centre of Neptunus Bio-engineering, and finance director of Shenzhen
Neptunus Jiankang Technology Development Co., Ltd. He was a director
and vice president of Shenzhen Kind Care Group Co., Ltd. (RYITH— %=
ABRA7F]), being in charge of group finance, auditing and investment and
financing work, the vice chairman of Shenzhen Xingye Financing Guarantee
Co., Ltd. (RIITTEE G EVERER A 7]), the director and vice president
of Shenzhen Qianhai Kind Care Holdings Co., Ltd. (EJIITIANE —EiEMkE
fR7A7\]), and the assistant to chairman of Shenzhen Neptunus Group. He is
currently the vice-president of Neptunus Bio-engineering and a supervisor of
Neptunus Fuyao, Neptunus Jinxiang and several other companies.
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Ms. Cao Yang (&), aged 32, has been appointed as an employee
representative supervisor of the Company since 18 May 2018. Ms. Cao
graduated in business administration from Shenzhen University, and possesses
Cambridge Diploma in Business Administration. She joined the Group in July
2013 and previously served as specialist, supervisor, deputy manager and
manager of the human resource department of Neptunus Changjian. Ms.
Cao has rich experience in enterprise human resources planning, organization
structure optimization, compensation system construction, performance
appraisal management, talent assessment, recruitment, training, and labor
cost control. She is currently the human resources director of the Company
and a supervisor of Neptunus Changjian, Jilin Neptunus Changjian Shiye Co.,
Ltd., Neptunus Fuyao, Neptunus Zhongxin and Neptunus Jinxiang.

Senior Management

Ms. Fung Wai Sum (F5Z%F), aged 40, has been appointed as a joint
company secretary of the Company since 1 June 2020. Ms. Fung is a senior
manager of corporate services of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional
services provider specializing in integrated Business, Corporate and Investor
Services. Ms. Fung has over 15 years of experience in the corporate secretarial
field. She has been providing professional corporate services to Hong Kong
listed companies as well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms.
Fung is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and an
Associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as “The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries”) and The
Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom.
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Report of the Directors

The Board is pleased to present the report of the Directors and the
consolidated financial statements of the Group during the Year.

Principal Activities

During the Year, the Group is principally engaged in the research and
development, production and sales of medicines, the purchase and sales of
medicines and healthcare food products.

Business Review

Details of business review during the Year are set out on pages 6 to 10 of
this annual report.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the published consolidated results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last two financial years ended 31 December 2022, and the
published consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the
Year is set out on pages 67 to 180.

Dividends

The Directors do not recommend the distribution of any dividends for the
Year (2021: Nil).

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
and the Company during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share Capital

There has been no movement for the Company’s share capital during the
Year, details of which are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and Company during the
Year are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had no distributable reserves, while
its accumulated loss, calculated in accordance with the Company'’s articles of
association and relevant rules and regulations, amounted to approximately
RMB64,912,000.
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Capitalized Interest

The Group has no capitalized interest during the Year.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association or the laws of the PRC which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

Purchase, Sale Or Redemption of the Listed Shares
of the Company

The Company and its subsidiaries did not purchase, sell or redeem any of the
Company’s listed shares during the Year. The Company and its subsidiaries
did not redeem, purchase or cancel any of their redeemable securities either.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 13.90% of the total sales for the Year and sales to the largest
customer included therein accounted for approximately 3.47% of the
total sales for the Year. Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 25.73% of the total purchases for the Year
and purchases from the largest supplier included therein accounted for
approximately 12.78% of the total purchases for the Year.

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors, the supervisors of
the Company or any of their associates or any shareholders (who, to the
best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Company’s five largest
customers and suppliers.

Directors and Supervisors

The Directors and supervisors of the Company during the Year and up to the
date of this report, and their terms of employment were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Feng 3 years from his re-appointment on 25 June
2020

3 years from his appointment on 25 June

2020

Mr. Huang Jian Bo
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Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Yi Fei from his re-appointment on 18 June 2021 up

to 24 June 2023

Ms. Yu Lin 3 years from her re-appointment on 25 June
2020

Mr. Shen Da Kai 3 years from his appointment on 25 June
2020

Mr. Xu Yan He re-elected and re-designated on 25 June 2020
for 3 years; passed away on 21 March 2022

Mr. Jin Rui from his appointment on 13 May 2022 up to

24 June 2023

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon 3 years from his re-appointment on 25 June

2020

Mr. Poon Ka Yeung 3 years from his re-appointment on 25 June
2020

Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou 3 years from his re-appointment on 25 June
2020

Supervisors

Mr. Xiong Chu Xiong 3 years from his re-appointment on 25 June

2020

Mr. Jin Ge 3 years from his appointment on 25 June
2020

Ms. Cao Yang 3 years from her re-appointment on 25 June
2020

The Company confirms that as at the date of this report, it has received
annual confirmations of independence from Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon,
Mr. Poon Ka Yeung and Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou. The Company still considers
the three independent non-executive Directors during the Year to be
independent pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Service Contracts of Directors and Supervisors

Each of the Directors and supervisors of the Company has entered into a
service contract with the Company with a term up to 24 June 2023 and is
subject to termination by either party giving not less than three months’ prior
written notice to the other.

None of the Directors or supervisors of the Company has entered into
any service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.
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Directors’ and Supervisors’ Remuneration

Directors’ remuneration is subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Remuneration
Committee with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Company. Details of the remuneration of
the Directors are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

According to the service contracts entered into between the Company and its
supervisors, (i) the Company shall pay Mr. Xiong Chu Xiong the remuneration
of RMB30,000 per annum for his service as a supervisor; (i) the Company
shall pay Mr. Jin Ge the remuneration of RMB30,000 per annum for his
service as a supervisor; and (iii) Ms. Cao Yang, the employee representative
supervisor, is entitled to a supervisor’s allowance of RMB20,000 per annum
for her service as a supervisor.

Five Highest Paid Employees

The five highest paid employees and their remuneration are set out in note
11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ and Supervisors’ Interests in Contracts

Save for the service contracts of the Directors and supervisors of the
Company as disclosed above, there were no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or its controlling shareholder
was a party and in which a Director or supervisor of the Company had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the Year
or at any time during the Year.

Controlling Shareholders’ Interests in Contract

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year had the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance or any contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

Share Option Scheme, Convertible Securities and
Warrants

Up to 31 December 2022, the Company and its subsidiaries have not
adopted any share option scheme and have not granted any option,
convertible securities, warrants or other similar rights.
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Permitted Indemnity Provision

At no time during the Year and up to the date of this report, there was or is,
any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of the
Directors of the Company or an associate company.

During the Year, a Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Liability
Insurance is in place to provide appropriate cover for the Directors,
supervisors and senior management of the Group. However, such insurance
coverage shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty
which may attach to such director, supervisor and senior management.

Interests and Short Positions of Directors, Supervisors
and Chief Executives in the Listed Securities

As far as the Directors or supervisors of the Company are aware, as at 31
December 2022, the interests and short position of the Directors, supervisors
and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be and were recorded
in the register to be kept by the Company, or were required, pursuant to Rule
5.46 to Rule 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

Long positions in shares of associated corporations of the Company:
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Approximate
percentage of

associated

Number of corporation’s

Name of shares in issued

associated associated share capital

Type of corporation corporation 1hAEEEE

Director/Supervisor Capacity interests piEkid BEEEEE ERITREZ

BEE EE g4 ERER EEEE ZRIEE BRBED

Mr. Zhang Feng (Note (a)) Beneficial owner Personal Neptunus 1,331,093 0.05%
SRE% 5T A (Wt (@) BRBEAA @A  Bio-engineering
BEEY

Ms. Yu Lin (Note (b)) Beneficial owner Personal Neptunus 900,000 0.03%
Ttz (Hiaz b)) EnEaA A Bio-engineering
BEEY

Mr. Shen Da Kai (Note (c)) Beneficial owner Personal Neptunus 2,000,000 0.07%
LRGN e & (it (<) BEmEAA fEA  Bio-engineering
BEEY

Ms. Cao Yang (Note (d)) Beneficial owner Personal Neptunus 200,000 0.01%
E5 2+ (K1iEd) E=fEA A @A  Bio-engineering
BEEY
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Interests and Short Positions of Directors, Supervisors

and Chief Executives in the Listed Securities (Continued)
Notes:

(@  Mr. Zhang Feng, chairman of the Board of the Company and deputy chairman
and non-independent director of the 9th session of the board of directors
and president of Neptunus Bio-engineering, was beneficially interested in
approximately 0.05% of the entire issued share capital of Neptunus Bio-
engineering, the Company’s controlling shareholder, which in turn held directly
and indirectly the beneficial interest in approximately 73.51% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company, of which 70.38% was directly held and 3.13%
was indirectly held through Shenzhen Neptunus Oriental Investment Company
Limited (“Neptunus Oriental”).

(b)  Ms. Yu Lin, non-executive Director of the Company, was beneficially interested
in approximately 0.03% of the entire issued share capital of Neptunus Bio-
engineering, the Company’s controlling shareholder, which in turn held directly
and indirectly the beneficial interest in approximately 73.51% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company, of which 70.38% was directly held and 3.13%
was indirectly held through Neptunus Oriental.

(0 Mr. Shen Da Kai, non-executive director of the Company, was beneficially
interested in approximately 0.07% of the entire issued share capital of Neptunus
Bio-engineering, the Company’s controlling shareholder, which in turn held
directly and indirectly the beneficial interest in approximately 73.51% of the
entire issued share capital of the Company, of which 70.38% was directly held
and 3.13% was indirectly held through Neptunus Oriental.

(d)  Ms. Cao Yang, employee representative supervisor and human resources director
of the Company, was beneficially interested in approximately 0.01% of the entire
issued share capital of Neptunus Bio-engineering, the Company’s controlling
shareholder, which in turn held directly and indirectly the beneficial interest in
approximately 73.51% of the entire issued capital of the Company, of which
70.38% was directly held and 3.13% was indirectly held through Neptunus
Oriental.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors,
supervisors or chief executives of the Company nor their respective associates
held any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, or were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be and were recorded in the
register to be kept by the Company, or were required, pursuant to Rule 5.46
to Rule 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and

Underlying Shares

So far as the Directors and supervisors of the Company are aware, as at 31
December 2022, the interests and/or short positions held by shareholders (not
being a Director, a supervisor or a chief executive of the Company) in shares
or underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or

had otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company:
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Approximate
Approximate percentage of
Number of domestic percentage of all the Company's
shares held the domestic shares issued share capital
Substantial Shareholder Capacity BERER ERERERY AR ARSRITREAN
FERE 54 RIPEE BABAH BAEA
Neptunus Bio-engineering (Note (a)) Beneficial owner 1,181,000,000 94.33% 70.38%
BEEY Wi E) BHEBA
Interest in controlled 52,464,500 4.19% 3.13%
corporation
RIEHEEER
Shenzhen Neptunus Group Company Interest in controlled 1,233,464,500 98.52% 73.51%
Limited (“Neptunus Group”) (Note (b)) corporation
RIETERROERAR(TETEE]) (Wizb) R ZE R
Shenzhen Neptunus Holding Group Interest in controlled 1,233,464,500 98.52% 73.51%
Company Limited (“Neptunus Holding") corporation
(Previously known as “Shenzhen Yinhetong RS EEER
Investment Company Limited”) (Note (c))
A EEREEER AR (T8RRI
(RIBORYHRTBREBRAR]) (W)
Mr. Zhang Si Min (Note (d)) Interest in controlled 1,233,464,500 98.52% 73.51%
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corporation
Rt ZE R
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Shares and
Underlying Shares (Continued)

Notes:

(@ Neptunus Bio-engineering was deemed to be interested in the 52,464,500
domestic shares of the Company held by Neptunus Oriental as the entire issued
share capital of Neptunus Oriental was beneficially owned by Neptunus Bio-
engineering, and Neptunus Oriental was interested in the 52,464,500 domestic
shares of the Company. Neptunus Bio-engineering was also directly interested
in 1,181,000,000 domestic shares of the Company. Therefore, Neptunus Bio-
engineering was directly and indirectly interested in 1,233,464,500 domestic
shares of the Company.

(b)  Neptunus Group was deemed to be interested in the 1,233,464,500 domestic
shares of the Company, which relate to the same parcel of shares referred to
in note (a) above, held by Neptunus Bio-engineering as Neptunus Group was
beneficially interested in approximately 44.22% of the entire issued share capital
of Neptunus Bio-engineering.

(¢ Neptunus Holding was deemed to be interested in 1,233,464,500 domestic
shares of the Company, which relate to the same parcel of shares referred to
in note (a) above, held by Neptunus Bio-engineering as Neptunus Holding was
beneficially interested in approximately 59.68% of the entire issued share capital
of Neptunus Group, which in turn was beneficially interested in approximately
44.22% of the entire issued share capital of Neptunus Bio-engineering.

(d)  Mr. Zhang Si Min (“Mr. Zhang") was deemed to be interested in 1,233,464,500
domestic shares of the Company, which relate to the same parcel of shares
referred to in note (a) above, held by Neptunus Bio-engineering as Mr. Zhang
was beneficially interested in 70% of the entire issued share capital of Neptunus
Holding and the entire issued share capital of Shenzhen Haihe Investment
and Development Company Limited (“Haihe”), which in turn was beneficially
interested in approximately 59.68% and 20% of the entire issued share capital
of Neptunus Group respectively. Neptunus Group was beneficially interested
in approximately 44.22% of the entire issued share capital of Neptunus Bio-
engineering.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and supervisors of the Company are
not aware of any other persons (except the Directors, supervisors or chief
executives of the Company) who held any interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO as at 31
December 2022.
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Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions

Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions
Exempt from Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements

The continuing connected transactions of the Group exempt from
independent shareholders’ approval requirements during the Year are set out
below:

2020 Sales Management Service Agreement

On 8 June 2020, the Company and Neptunus Pharmaceutical (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Neptunus Group and therefore a fellow subsidiary
and a connected person of the Company) renewed the sales management
service framework agreement relating to the provision of sales management
service of pharmaceutical products (the “2020 Sales Management Service
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company has agreed to provide sales
management service of pharmaceutical products to Neptunus Pharmaceutical
for the period from the effective date of the 2020 Sales Management Service
Agreement to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive). The annual caps of
such transactions under the 2020 Sales Management Service Agreement for
the year of 2020, the year of 2021 and the year of 2022 would not exceed
RMB7,000,000, RMB8,000,000 and RMB9,000,000 respectively. For details
of the transaction, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
8 June 2020.

During the Year, the Company has provided sales management service of
pharmaceutical products of approximately RMB Nil in total to Neptunus
Pharmaceutical, which did not exceed the annual cap of the above
agreement.
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Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions (Continued)

Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions
Exempt from Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(Continued)

Quanyaowang Distribution Agreement

On 16 September 2020, Neptunus Changjian and Shenzhen Quanyaowang
Pharmaceutical Company Limited (“Quanyaowang”) (a connected person
of the Company) entered into the Quanyaowang Distribution Agreement
(the "Quanyaowang Distribution Agreement”), pursuant to which Neptunus
Changjian has agreed to purchase various pharmaceutical products from
Quanyaowang for distribution in the PRC for the period from 1 January
2021 to 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive), for distribution in China.
The annual caps of such transactions under the Quanyaowang Distribution
Agreement for the year of 2021, the year of 2022 and the year of 2023,
would not exceed RMB25,000,000, RMB26,250,000 and RMB27,500,000
respectively. For details of the transaction, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 16 September 2020.

During the Year, Neptunus Changjian has purchased various pharmaceutical
products of approximately RMB Nil from Quanyaowang, which did not
exceed the annual cap of the above agreement.

Neptunus Research Distribution Agreement

On 22 July 2022, Neptunus Changjian entered into the Neptunus Research
Distribution Agreement (the “Neptunus Research Distribution Agreement”)
with Neptunus Research (a subsidiary of Neptunus Bio-engineering and
therefore a fellow subsidiary and connected person of the Company),
pursuant to which Neptunus Changjian will purchase various pharmaceutical
products from Neptunus Research for distribution in the PRC for the period
from 22 July 2022 to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive), and the
annual caps for the years 2022, 2023 and 2024 are RMB10,000,000,
RMB11,000,000 and RMB12,100,000, respectively. For details of the
transaction, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 22 July
2022.

During the Year, Neptune Changjian has purchased various pharmaceutical
products of approximately RMB1,715,000 from Neptunus Research, which
did not exceed the annual cap set out in the above agreement.
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Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions (Continued)

Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions
Exempt from Independent Shareholders’ Approval Requirements
(Continued)

The connected transactions of the Group exempt from independent
shareholders’ approval requirements during the Year are set out below:

Development Agreement

On 12 September 2019, Neptunus Fuyao and Neptunus Research (a
subsidiary of Neptunus Bio-engineering and therefore a fellow subsidiary
and connected person of the Company) entered into a development
agreement in relation to the medical research and development project of
vitamin C injection product (the “Development Agreement”), pursuant to
which both parties have agreed to participate in the project, and the total
consideration of the project is RMB4,400,000 and shall be paid by Neptunus
Fuyao to Neptunus Research by 6 instalments. For details of the Development
Agreement, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 12
September 2019.

During the Year, Neptunus Fuyao has paid consideration of approximately
RMB Nil to Neptunus Research, which did not exceed the consideration of
the above agreement.

Having considered the above, the Directors (including non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors) are of the opinion that the 2020
Sales Management Service Agreement, the Quanyaowang Distribution
Agreement, Neptunus Research Distribution Agreement and the Development
Agreement (1) were entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (2) are on normal commercial terms and on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a
whole.

The auditor of the Company has issued a letter to the Board confirming that
the above connected transactions:

(i)  have received the approval of the Board;
(i) were, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group if the transactions involve the provision of goods or services

by the Group;

(i) have been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; and

(iv) did not exceed the respective annual caps.
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Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions (Continued)

Continuing Connected Transaction Not Exempt from Independent
Shareholders’ Approval Requirements

The continuing connected transactions of the Group not exempt from
independent shareholders’ approval requirements within the Year are set out
below:

2021 Healthcare Food and Food Purchase Framework Agreement

On 6 December 2021, the Company and Neptunus Group (the intermediate
controlling shareholder and a connected person of the Company) entered
into the Healthcare Food and Food Purchase Framework Agreement (“2021
Healthcare Food and Food Purchase Framework Agreement”), to revise the
proposed annual caps for the years ending 31 December 2022 and 2023 of
the transactions under the healthcare food and food purchase framework
agreement entered into on 16 September 2020 (“2020 Healthcare Food
and Food Purchase Framework Agreement”) and apply for the proposed
annual cap for the year ending 31 December 2024, pursuant to which the
Group will continue to purchase certain food and healthcare food products
from Neptunus Group for distribution in the PRC for the period from the
effect date of the 2021 Healthcare Food and Food Purchase Framework
Agreement to 31 December 2024 (both days inclusive). The proposed
annual caps of such transactions under the 2021 Healthcare Food and Food
Purchase Framework Agreement for the year of 2022, the year of 2023
and the year of 2024 would not exceed RMB35,000,000, RMB42,000,000
and RMB50,000,000, respectively. The 2021 Healthcare Food and Food
Purchase Framework Agreement became effective upon the approval by
the independent shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 14 January 2022. Upon the commencement of the term of
the 2021 Healthcare Food and Food Purchase Framework Agreement, the
2020 Healthcare Food and Food Purchase Framework Agreement shall be
terminated with immediate effect. For details of the transaction, please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 6 December 2021 and 14
January 2022 and the circular of the Company dated 30 December 2021.

During the Year, the Company has purchased food and healthcare food
products of proximately RMB26,010,000 from Neptunus Group, which did
not exceed the annual cap of the above agreement.
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Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions (Continued)

Continuing Connected Transaction Not Exempt from Independent
Shareholders’ Approval Requirements (Continued)

2021 Neptunus Pharmaceutical Distribution Agreement

On 6 December 2021, Neptunus Changjian entered into a distribution
agreement (the “2021 Neptunus Pharmaceutical Distribution Agreement”)
with Neptunus Pharmaceutical (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Neptunus
Group and therefore a fellow subsidiary and connected person of the
Company), pursuant to which Neptunus Changjian will continue to purchase
various pharmaceutical products manufactured by Neptunus Pharmaceutical
for distribution in the PRC for the period from the effective date of the 2021
Neptunus Pharmaceutical Distribution Agreement to 31 December 2024 (both
days inclusive). The annual caps of such transactions for the year of 2022,
the year of 2023 and the year of 2024 would not exceed RMB86,000,000,
RMB97,000,000 and RMB 108,000,000, respectively. The 2021 Neptunus
Pharmaceutical Distribution Agreement became effective upon the approval
by the independent shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 14 January 2022. For details of the transactions,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 6 December 2021
and 14 January 2022 and the circular of the Company dated 30 December
2021.

During the Year, Neptunus Changjian has purchased pharmaceutical
products of approximately RMB74,281,000 from Neptunus Pharmaceutical,
which did not exceed the annual cap of the above agreement.

Nepstar Distribution Agreement

On 19 November 2020, the Company and Shenzhen Yidianyao
Pharmaceutical Company Limited (previously known as “Shenzhen Nepstar
Pharmaceutical Company Limited”, “Nepstar”) (being an associate of Mr.
Zhang Feng and thus a connected person of the Company) renewed the
distribution agreement (the “Nepstar Distribution Agreement”), pursuant
to which the Group agreed to provide pharmaceutical products, food and
healthcare food products to Nepstar and its subsidiaries (the “Nepstar
Group”) for it to distribute within the PRC for the period from the effective
date of the Nepstar Distribution Agreement to 31 December 2023 (both
days inclusive). The annual caps of such transactions for the year of 2021,
2022 and 2023 would not exceed RMB52,000,000, RMB69,000,000 and
RMB90,000,000 respectively. The Nepstar Distribution Agreement became
effective upon the approval by the independent shareholders of the Company
at the extraordinary general meeting held on 20 January 2021. For details of
the transactions, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
19 November 2020 and 20 January 2021 and the circular of the Company
dated 17 December 2020.

R REERENEMROBERAT  20226F5Hk 35

Report of the Directors
EEgHE

BER S RISEEERS (H)
RS R RE O AER S ()

20215 FZZXC il

R-ZE-_—F+-AB SIR@FUESTEE
(BETEBE2ENBAR - BAEAQBMRAR
M A E R BAEAL)ER] TR (120214
BEEERERZED - B BETRERE2021
FTHERERFERARE T _NF+=
A=+—HEM(pEaRMmAE) BBESEHE
FHEREMNE TER  WRPRETRIE - I
BZZT-—FE ZE_=FER-_ZT_NFE
M5 RSB AARES6,000,0007T « AR
97,000,0007T & AR #108,000,0007T ° 20214
BTEEREHRACARABYREAR =T =
F-ATHAZRIEFNRE LHERER -5
Mz 5715 #2HARRERAZT—
FE+-ARNABE-ZE-_—F—A+HBZAER
AREHAZZE—F+A=THZBEEK -

/\“\19/\

REFE  BIRENEEHEEXBEER
bt

R#574,281,00070 + % &L ML
FEER -

VBT BRI %%

RZZEZZFEF+—A+1B  ARQFEZFYTE
FTHMERBEFRAT(EAZIAIIMELER
BEBERAR]  BTER]) (BRBILEZHE
A WAMKARRRWBEEA L) BT TR
#Z(DBTERREHZE] - Bt - XAEBRER
BIERREDEEMARE T _=F1+=A
=t+—HIHER(BEEERA) RAESEIERKE
MEAR(NTETEREE]) HESZSL - Bm &K
BEm  UEERPE@ETRIE AT = —
FE T FERTI-FERSERS
7l AR#52,000,0007T © AR#69,000,0007C
M AR ¥90,000,0007T < /8 E 2RAHEHEER
NEBYBRERN - —F—F -+HZBRERF
RIRE ERERER - BEAZRHZFHIE  #2
MARRAPAE-—Z-_ZEF+—A+NLBEK=-F
T F—AZ+HZRAERARRBHAE=ZSZ =
TEFTZA+TERZ@EK -



Report of the Directors
EEgHE

Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions (Continued)

Continuing Connected Transaction Not Exempt from Independent
Shareholders’ Approval Requirements (Continued)

Nepstar Distribution Agreement (Continued)

During the Year, the Group has provided pharmaceutical products, food
and healthcare food products of approximately RMB13,458,000 in total
to Nepstar Group, which has not exceeded the annual cap of the above
agreement.

Neptunus Group Sales Framework Agreement

On 14 October 2019, the Company and Neptunus Group (the intermediate
controlling shareholder and a connected person of the Company) renewed
the sales framework agreement (the “Neptunus Group Sales Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Group will continue to sell certain
self-manufactured or distributed products including certain pharmaceutical
products and healthcare food products to Neptunus Group for the period
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive), and the
annual caps for the year of 2020, the year of 2021 and the year of 2022
would not exceed RMB58,000,000, RMB80,000,000 and RMB110,000,000
respectively. The Neptunus Group Sales Framework Agreement has
become effective on 1 January 2020 upon the approval by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting held on
13 December 2019. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 14 October 2019 and 13 December 2019 and the circular of
the Company dated 21 November 2019.

On 1 December 2022, the Company and the Neptunus Group renewed
the Neptunus Group Sales Framework Agreement (the “New Neptunus
Group Sales Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company
will continue to sell the above products to the Neptunus Group from the
date of approval of the Agreement by the independent shareholders at the
EGM to 31 December 2025 (both days inclusive) and the annual caps for
the year of 2023, the year of 2024 and the year of 2025 would not exceed
RMB110,000,000, RMB130,000,000 and RMB160,000,000 respectively .
The New Neptunus Group Sales Framework Agreement became effective
upon approval by the independent shareholders of the Company at the EGM
on 31 January 2023. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 1 December 2022 and 31 January 2023 and the circular of
the Company dated 11 January 2023.

During the Year, the Group has sold products of approximately
RMB77,433,000 to the Neptunus Group, which did not exceed the annual
cap of the above agreement.
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Connected Transactions and Continuing Connected
Transactions (Continued)

Continuing Connected Transaction Not Exempt from Independent
Shareholders’ Approval Requirements (Continued)

Having considered the above, the Directors (including non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors) are of the opinion that each of
the 2021 Healthcare Food and Food Purchase Framework Agreement, 2021
Neptunus Pharmaceutical Distribution Agreement, the Nepstar Distribution
Agreement, the Neptunus Group Sales Framework Agreement and the
New Neptunus Group Sales Framework Agreement (1) was entered into in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (2) was on normal
commercial terms and on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has issued a letter to the Board confirming that
the above continuing connected transactions:

(i) have received the approval of the Board;

(i) were, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group if the transactions involve the provision of goods or services
by the Group;

(i)  have been entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing the transactions; and

(iv) did not exceed the respective annual caps.

In relation to the connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions (as defined in Chapter 20 of GEM Listing Rules) entered into
by the Company during the Year, the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the Year.
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Competing Interests

On 21 August 2005, Neptunus Bio-engineering, the controlling shareholder
of the Company, entered into an agreement with the Company containing
undertakings relating to non-competition and preferential rights of
investments (the “Non-Competition Undertakings”), pursuant to which
Neptunus Bio-engineering had undertaken to the Company and its associates
(among others), that as long as the securities of the Company are listed on
GEM (previously known as the Growth Enterprise Market):

1. it will not, and will procure its associates not to, whether within or
outside the PRC, directly or indirectly (other than those indirectly held as
a result of the equity interest in any listed company or its subsidiaries),
participate in or operate any business in whatever form, or produce
any products (the usage of which is the same as or similar to that of
the products of the Company) which may constitute direct or indirect
competition to the business operated by the Company from time to
time; and

2. it will not, and will procure its associates not to, hold any interest,
whether within or outside the PRC, in any company or organization
(directly or indirectly, other than those indirectly held as a result of
its equity interest in any listed company or its subsidiaries) when the
business of such company or entity will (or may) compete directly or
indirectly with the business of the Company.

Pursuant to the Non-Competition Undertakings, at a time when the
Non-Competition Undertakings are subsisting, whenever Neptunus Bio-
engineering or any its associates enters into any negotiations, within or
outside the PRC, in relation to any new investment projects which may
compete with the existing and future business of the Company, the Company
shall have preferential rights of investments in such new investment projects.

Neptunus Bio-engineering has confirmed with the Company that it has
complied with the Non-Competition Undertakings during the Year.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued
share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

Staff Retirement Scheme

Details of the staff retirement scheme of the Company are set out in notes
2.19 and 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Review by Audit Committee

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee is of the opinion that the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 comply with applicable
reporting standards, GEM Listing Rules, and that adequate disclosures have
been made.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Grant Thornton
Hong Kong Limited, who will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Grant Thornton
Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. There was no change in auditors of the
Company in any of the preceding three years.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Shenzhen Neptunus Interlong Bio-technique Company Limited
Zhang Feng

Chairman

Shenzhen, the PRC
23 March 2023
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The Company strives to attain a high standard of corporate governance.
The principles of corporate governance adopted by the Company
emphasize a quality board, sound internal control transparency and
accountability to all stakeholders.

(A) Corporate Governance Practices

The Corporate Governance Code was effective for accounting periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2005. The Company puts strong
emphasis on the superiority, steadiness and rationality of corporate
governance. The Board is of the view that the Company has complied
with the requirements set out in the then applicable Appendix 15
“Corporate Governance Code” of the GEM Listing Rules throughout
the Year.

(B) Code of Conduct Regarding Securities
Transactions by Directors

During the Year, the Company has adopted a code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the “required standard of dealings” as set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry
of all the Directors, all the Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the “required standard of dealings” and the Company’s
internal code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors during the Year.

(C) The Board

The Board is responsible for planning and overseeing the overall
development and management of the Company with the objective
of enhancing shareholders’ value. The Board, led by the Chairman, is
responsible for the approval and monitoring of the overall strategies
and policies of the Company, approval of annual budgets and business
plans, evaluation of the Company’s performance and oversight of
the management. As at 31 December 2022, the Board comprised
nine Directors, including two executive Directors, four non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The
composition of the Board during the Year is set out as follows:
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Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Feng (Chairman)
Mr. Huang Jian Bo

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Yi Fei

Ms. Yu Lin

Mr. Shen Da Kai

Mr. Xu Yan He (passed away on 21 March 2022)
Mr. Jin Rui (@appointed on 13 May 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon
Mr. Poon Ka Yeung
Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Company to the
executive Directors, while reserving certain key matters for its approval.
The management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Company under the guidance of the General Manager.

Save as disclosed in this report, to the best knowledge of the Company,
there is no financial, business, family, or other material or relevant
relationships among members of the Board.

During the Year, the Board performed the following corporate
governance duties:

(i)  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(i)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;
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(iii)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
employees and Directors; and

(v) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

The participation of non-executive Directors in the Board brings
independent judgement on issues relating to the Company’s strategy,
performance, conflicts of interest and management process to ensure
that the interests of all shareholders of the Company have been duly
considered. The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages
16 to 20, with details of diversity of skills, expertise, experience and
qualifications concerning the Directors. The term of office of the non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors are set out
on pages 24 to 25 of this annual report.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in respect
of legal action against the Directors.

The Board held seven board meetings during the Year. The Directors
did not authorize any alternate director to attend any board meetings
during the Year.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism during the Year which sets out the processes and
procedures to ensure a strong independent element on the Board,
which allows the Board to effectively exercise independent judgement
to better safeguard shareholders” interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement
or further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what
actions of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve the
Board performance, for instance, addressing individual training and
development needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence. The Board
Independence Evaluation Report will be presented to the Board which
will collectively discuss the results and the action plan for improvement,
if appropriate.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, all Directors have completed
the independence evaluation in the form of a questionnaire individually.
The Board Independence Evaluation Report was presented to the Board
and the evaluation results were satisfactory.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.

(D) Committees
The Board strives to maintain excellent corporate governance and has
established committees with written terms of reference setting out the
powers and duties of the committees.

1.  Audit Committee
The Company established the Audit Committee on 21 August
2005. The Audit Committee comprises one non-executive Director,
namely Ms. Yu Lin and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon and Mr. Poon Ka Yeung. Mr.
Yick Wing Fat, Simon is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

to consider, and to make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditors, and to approve the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditors, and to resolve
any issues of resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the auditing process
in accordance with applicable accounting standards;

to discuss the nature and scope of the audit and reporting
obligations with the external auditors before the auditing
commences, and to ensure co-ordination where more than
one audit firm are involved;
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(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

to review and monitor the integrity of the quarterly, interim
and annual financial statements, reports and accounts of
the Company, and to review significant financial reporting
judgements contained therein, before submission to the
Board, focusing particularly on any changes in accounting
policies and principles, major judgemental areas, significant
adjustments resulting from the audit, etc,;

to review the Company’s financial control, internal control
and risk management systems;

to discuss with the management the system of internal
control and to ensure the management has discharged its
duties in maintaining an effective internal control system;

to review the external auditors’ letter to the management
and answer any material queries raised by the auditors to
management in respect of the accounting records, financial
accounts or system of internal control;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response
to the issues raised in the external auditors’ letter to the
management;

to report to the Board on the matters set out herein and, in
particular, the matters required to be performed by the Audit
Committee under the Corporate Governance Code;

to act as the key representative body overseeing the
Company'’s relationship with the external auditors; and

to discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim
and final audits, and any matters the auditors may wish to
discuss (in the absence of management where necessary).
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(vii)
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During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the quarterly,
interim and annual financial statements of the Group, and was of
the opinion that these statements complied with the applicable
accounting standards, the GEM and legal requirements, and that
adequate disclosures have been made. The Audit Committee held
five meetings during the Year (of which two meetings were held
with the external auditors).

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 16
March 2012. Currently the Nomination Committee comprises
one executive Director, Mr. Zhang Feng, and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon, Mr.
Poon Ka Yeung and Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou. Mr. Zhang Feng is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The major duties of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(i)  to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) and diversity of the Board
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

(i)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships.

(i) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the Chairman of the Board and the
General Manager.

The Nomination Committee has adopted the revised Board
Diversity Policy (the “Policy”) which became effective on 17
December 2018. A summary of this Policy together with the
measurable objectives set for implementing this Policy, and the
progress towards achieving those objectives are outlined below.
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The Company continuously seeks to enhance the effectiveness
of its Board and to maintain the highest standards of corporate
governance and recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board, which can be achieved through the consideration
of a number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience.

An analysis of the Board’s current composition based on the
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measurable objectives is set out below: FrEHIAT
Gender Age Group
5l FiRE
Male: 8 Directors 31-40: 1 Director
St 8REF 31-408% - 1REF
Female: 1 Director 41-50: 3 Directors
T 1 REE 41-50p% - 3REF
51-60: 3 Directors
51-603% - 3BEF
61-70: 2 Directors
61-708% : 2R EF
Designation Educational Background
L) HEER

Executive Directors: 2 Directors

WITES : 2885

Non-executive Directors: 4 Directors

FERITEE  4REF

Independent non-executive Directors: 3 Directors

BYFHITES  3RER

Years of Service as Director

Business Administration: 4 Directors
TRHER : 48ES

Accounting and Finance: 3 Directors
Bt ER3RES

Legal: 1 Director

ERIREF

Other: 1 Director

Hith - 1BEF

Business/Professional Experience

EERBES ¥ EELR

1-5 years: 4 Directors Accounting & Finance: 3 Directors
1-5%F : ABESR B RERE : 3BRES

6-10 years: 1 Director Legal: 1 Director

6-10%F : 12EF ERERESR

Over 10 years: 4 Directors

HBBI10F - 48 =S

Experience related to the Company’s business:5 Directors

HEARFEHAENER : SRES
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The Nomination Committee and the Board are of the view that
the current composition of the Board has achieved the objectives
set in the Policy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the
Group. The male-to-female ratio in the workforce of the Group,
including the Board and senior management as at the date of this
annual report is 43:57.

The Board targeted to achieve and has achieved to have at least
one female Director, and considers that the above current gender
diversity is satisfactory.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant
data can be found in B1: Employment of Chapter Viii Social
Aspect of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Company for the Year.

The Company will also proactively provide trainings to our senior
managements and will take into account the factor of gender
diversity when recruiting suitable candidates for our senior
management in the future, so to develop a pipeline of potential
successors for the Board and enhance gender diversity in the
Board in the coming years.
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The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for identifying
qualified candidates to become members of the Board. The
appointment of Directors will continue to be made on a merit
basis, with the principle of candidates being considered against
objective criteria (including but not limited to professional
qualifications, skills, experience, independence, time available
for performance of Director’s duties and willingness) with due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. The nomination
procedures of a Director can be divided into two categories, being
the nomination procedure of a new Director and the re-election
procedure of a retired Director. The nomination procedure of a
new Director of the Nomination Committee is: 1) evaluate the
candidate based on the abovementioned Director appointment
principle to determine whether such candidate is qualified
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new Director
and the biographical information of the candidate; 2) rank the
qualified candidates by order of preference based on the needs
of the Company and reference check of candidates; 3) make
recommendation to the Board on the proposal on appointment of
new Director; and 4) make recommendation to the shareholders
on the proposal on appointment of new Director at the general
meeting. The re-election procedure of a retired Director of the
Nomination Committee is: 1) review the overall contribution and
services to the Company, participation in the Company’s business
and performance of the retired Director; 2) evaluate the retired
Director based on the abovementioned Director appointment
principle to determine whether such retired Director is still
qualified; and 3) make recommendation to the shareholders
on the proposal on re-election of retired Director at the general
meeting. The Nomination Committee is also responsible for
monitoring the implementation and reviewing the effectiveness of
this Policy.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed
the Board composition and the effectiveness of the Policy and
the results were satisfactory. During the Year, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 21 August
2005, comprising one executive Director and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Feng, Mr. Yick Wing
Fat, Simon and Mr. Poon Ka Yeung. Mr. Poon Ka Yeung is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The major duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

() pursuant to provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the Corporate
Governance Code, to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration
of the Directors and the senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policy on such remuneration;

(i)  to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of executive Directors and senior management, which
shall include non-monetary benefits, pension rights and
compensation payments (including compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment), and to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of the non-executive Directors; and

(ii)  to review and approve the remuneration suggestions of the

management according to the corporate goals and objectives

made by the Board from time to time.

The Remuneration Committee determined the remuneration
of the Directors according to their expertise, knowledge and
commitment to the Company with reference to the Company’s
profitability and the prevailing market conditions. The
Remuneration Committee should consult the executive Directors
and the General Manager about its proposals relating to the
remuneration of the senior management.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting
to review and discuss the Directors’ remuneration packages of the
current session of the Board and the remuneration packages for
the current session of the senior management of the Company.
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Record of Number of Board and Committee (E) EEkMBEESERAER
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance EEEWHFEHE
During the Year, the number of Board and committee meetings and RAFERN  EE5EEMNBZESSH A
Directors’ attendance are set out below: REERZHFELHENAT
Annual General Meeting of
Meeting/ Chairman and
Extraordinary Independent
General Audit  Remuneration Nomination  Non-executive
Directors Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee Directors
RREEAEG/ TIEEBIF
Bz REEHAE g ERZEE FMzae REZ8E HTEZCE8R
Zhang Feng (Chairman of the Boara) 2/2 17 N/A 17 1”7 17
RE(EFELE) Taf
Huang Jian Bo 2/2 717 N/A N/A N/A N/A
HalK TER TER TEA TiEM
Zhang Yi Fei 2/2 77 N/A N/A N/A N/A
RER N TEA A T
Yu Lin 2/2 77 5/5 N/A N/A N/A
Tt N T i
Shen Da Kai 212 717 N/A N/A N/A N/A
SLAE TEf Taf Taf TEA
Jin Rui 1/2 6/7 N/A N/A N/A N/A
& NEA TER NEA A
Yick Wing Fat, Simon 2/2 17 5/5 il 1”1 11
FKE
Poon Ka Yeung 212 77 5/5 " 17 171
ARG
Zhang Jian Zhou 212 771 N/A N/A 11 11
=S TEf ™af
Continuous Professional Development for (F) EBHEEELE
Directors
During the Year, all members of the Board had attended relevant KEE  EFeREECBEAFTEES
professional development such as trainings or seminars according to I‘T SEBENEY -  BREERETEYE

their own professions. The Company also gave suggestions to Directors
from time to time in respect of training courses. Due to the impact of
COVID-19, the Company adopted online course to provide training to
its Directors and senior management on 28 December 2022. The online
course concentrated on the governance of listed companies and the
continuing obligations of and the proper performance of duties by the
Directors. All Directors, namely, Mr. Zhang Feng, Mr. Huang Jian Bo, Mr.
Zhang Yi Fei, Ms. Yu Lin, Mr. Shen Da Kai, Mr. Jin Rui, Mr. Yick Wing Fat,
Simon, Mr. Poon Ka Yeung and Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou, and relevant senior
management of the Company participated in such training.
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(G) Chairman and General Manager

The roles of the Chairman and General Manager are separate and
should not be performed by the same individual as required under
provision C.2.1 of Corporate Governance Code. As the leader of the
Board, the Chairman is responsible for the approval and supervision of
the overall strategies and policies of the Company, approval of annual
budgets and business plans, evaluation of the Company’s performance
and oversight of the management. Mr. Zhang Feng is the current
Chairman of the Board. The General Manager (same role as the post
of chief executive pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code) is
responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Company. Subsequent
to the resignation of Mr. Zhou Hang as an executive Director and the
General Manager on 8 February 2021, the Company is identifying a
suitable candidate to fulfill the vacancy of the General Manager. The
Company'’s articles of association has set out the role and powers of the
Chairman and General Manager.

(H) Directors’ Responsibility for Accounts

(1)

)

The Directors have confirmed and acknowledged their responsibility for
the preparation of the Company’s financial statements is in compliance
with the relative regulations and applicable accounting standards. The
Board has also warranted that the Company’s financial statements
would be distributed in due course.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the Year, approximately RMB1,331,000 (2021: approximately
RMB1,232,000) and approximately RMB650,000 (2021: approximately
RMB474,000) were charged to the Group's income statement for the
external auditor’s audit services and non-audit services (consultation on
ESG and review of internal control system) respectively.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for overseeing the internal control system and
risk management of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. To
facilitate the effectiveness and efficiency of business operations, to
ensure the reliability of financial report, to safeguard the Group's assets
and the interest of shareholders and to ensure compliance with relevant
laws and regulations, the Company emphasizes the importance of
a sound internal control system. The internal control system and risk
management is designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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The Board regularly and at least annually reviews the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control system and risk management through the
Audit Committee, executive management, functional departments,
external consultant of internal control and external auditors.

The Board approved the Company in 2017 to perform the internal
audit function by sharing the resources of the immediate parent
company, Neptunus Bio-engineering. And the internal audit function
is performed by an internal audit team, which comprises the personnel
appointed by the Company and seconded personnel of Neptunus
Bio-engineering. The internal audit team carried out comprehensive
auditing of certain subsidiaries during the Year. Taking a risk-oriented
approach, the team reviewed important control activities in respect
of key operation procedures, identified defects, implemented defect
rectification measures, organised and improved internal risk control and
management system for the purpose of risk control. The audit result
and rectification measures were submitted to the Audit Committee and
the Board for review in the Year. During the Year, the management
of the Company has also appointed an external consultant of internal
control to conduct a review on the Group’s internal control system
and risk management system. Such external consultant of internal
control has carried out the analysis and independent appraisal of the
adequacy and the effectiveness of the internal control system and risk
management of the Group and has submitted the results of the review
and its recommendations and opinions for consideration to the Audit
Committee and the Board. The review covers all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance and risk management
functions. The Audit Committee and the Board have discussed the
relevant results of the review and appropriate modifications will be
made to the management system of the Group according to the
findings and recommendations therein. Also during the Year, the Audit
Committee and the Board has assessed whether the Group’s resources
in accounting and financial reporting functions are sufficient, whether
the staff has sufficient qualification and experience and whether the
trainings for staff and related budget are sufficient.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness of
internal control system with following procedures and reported the
result of the review to the Board:

1. discussing with executive management on areas of risks (including
ESG risks) identified

2. reviewing the risks (including ESG risks) reported by external

consultant of internal control

reviewing the external audit plan

reviewing the matters reported by external auditors

reviewing the internal audit rectification list

reviewing the internal audit plan

reviewing the report produced by executive management and

related functional departments to ensure appropriate controls are

in place and any deficiencies or irregularities, if any, are rectified

N o v kW

Based on the information supplied, coupled with its own observations
and with the assistance of the Audit Committee, the Board believes
that, in respect of the nature and size of the Group’s operations and
business, the present internal control system and monitoring process
(including sufficiency of the resources in accounting and financial
reporting functions, staff’s qualification and experience and trainings
for staff and related budget) are effective and adequate and have
complied with the requirements under the provisions of the code.

The Board is committed to incorporating the ESG mindset into business
operations. The Board accepts full responsibility for the sustainability
of the Group, including formulating strategies, overseeing the Group's
ESG related risks and opportunities, and approving the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report. The Board is also required to keep
abreast of and comply with the latest regulatory requirements before
the approval of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

The Board believes that the management of ESG-related risks and
opportunities is essential to the Group’s efficient and effective
operation. The risk management and internal control systems assure
accuracy, reliability and timeliness of the data presented and sustainable
development measures. The Board will also regularly review the
implementation effectiveness of the systems and whether they cover
major control measures on material ESG issues.
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(K) Procedures for Handling and Dissemination of

(L)

Inside Information

The Board has established the Inside Information Policy for the handling
and dissemination of inside information. The Inside Information Policy
has stipulated the principle and contents of inside information disclosure,
the management of inside information, security measures, responsible
persons and departments, reporting methods as well as the disclosure
process, etc. The management of the Company must take all reasonable
measures from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to
prevent a breach of disclosure requirement in relation to the Company.
Relevant responsible persons for inside information reporting must
promptly notify the Board secretary of the Company of any matters that
might constitute inside information and shall keep confidentiality of such
information. The Board secretary of the Company shall ask for instructions
from the executive Directors as soon as reasonably practicable, who will
then evaluate whether the information constitutes inside information and
if so, to disclose and take other appropriate prompt actions accordingly.
In the event that there is evidence of any material violation of the Inside
Information Policy, the Company will investigate relevant personnel for
their responsibilities and impose certain punishment, so as to avoid the
recurrence of such violation.

Constitutional Documents

The constitutional documents of the Company have been published
both on the GEM and the Company’s website. At the extraordinary
general meeting held on 31 January 2023, certain amendments to the
articles of associations of the Company were duly passed. Please refer
to the circular dated 11 January 2023 and the announcement dated
13 February 2023 for the details of the amendments. Save for such
amendments, there has been no significant change in the constitutional
documents of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this
report.
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(M) Company Secretary

The company secretary supports the Chairman, the Board and Board
committees by ensuring good information flow within the Board and
that Board policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary
reports to the Board and assists the Board in functioning effectively
and efficiently. He/she also advises the Board on governance matters
and facilitates the induction and professional development of Directors.
All Directors of the Company may call upon the company secretary
for advice and assistance at any time in respect to their duties and the
effective operation of the Board and the Board committees.

Mr. Huang Jian Bo and Ms. Fung Wai Sum are the joint company
secretaries of the Company, of which Mr. Huang Jian Bo is a full time
employee of the Company and Ms. Fung Wai Sum is the external
company secretary. Mr. Huang Jian Bo is also the Board secretary, the
deputy general manager and financial controller of the Company who
has knowledge of the Company’s day-to-day affairs. Mr. Huang Jian Bo
and Ms. Fung Wai Sum undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Year.

The primary corporate contact person at the Company is Mr. Huang
Jian Bo, the joint company secretary, Board secretary, financial
controller and deputy general manager of the Company.
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(N) Shareholder’s Rights

0

(ii)

(iii)

According to the articles of association of the Company, two
or more shareholders holding 10% or more of the shares with
voting rights can sign one or more written requisitions with the
same format and contents, requesting the Board to convene an
extraordinary general meeting, and stating the business to be
dealt with at the meeting. After receipt of the aforesaid written
request, the Board shall hold the extraordinary general meeting
as soon as possible. If the Board does not distribute the notice
on holding the meeting within 30 days after receipt of the
aforesaid written request, the shareholder(s) putting forward such
requisition can convene the meeting on his/their own within four
months after the Board receives such requisition. The procedures
to convene such meeting shall be similar to the procedures that
the Board convenes a general meeting.

Shareholders of the Company can make enquiries to the Board
or the Company in relation to corporate governance or other
matters. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries. Shareholders may send written enquiries to
the Company, by email to hjb@interlong.com or by mail to Suite
1702, Neptunus Yinhe Technology Mansion, 1 Keji Middle 3rd
Road, Maling Community, Yuehai Sub-district, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, the PRC.

The Company encourages shareholders to attend and give advice
in the general meeting or to appoint proxies to attend general
meetings, and vote for them when they could not attend general
meetings. Under appropriate circumstances, chairman of the
Board, other members of the Board, chairman of committees
under the Board or representative appointed by them, and
external auditors would attend general meetings of the Company,
and answer questions from shareholders. They will also consider
or respond to the suggestions made by shareholders.

(N) BRERFER|

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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(iv)  According to the dividend policy of the Company formulated on
17 December 2018, the Company will declare or pay dividends
to the shareholders in the form deemed appropriate by the
Board in the relevant financial year or period with sufficient cash
reserves maintained in the Company, after taking full account
of the Group’s comprehensive factors (including but not limited
to financial results, cash flow position, business conditions and
strategies, future operations and revenue, capital requirements
and expenditure plans, interests of shareholders).

The Company has in place a Shareholders’” Communication Policy. The
policy aims at promoting effective communication with shareholders
and other stakeholders, encouraging shareholders to engage actively
with the Company and enabling shareholders to exercise their rights
as shareholders effectively. During the year ended 31 December 2022,
the Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders” Communication Policy and the results were satisfactory.

To put forward proposals at an annual general meeting or extraordinary
general meeting, the shareholders should submit a written notice of
those proposals with detailed contact information to the Company, by
email to hjb@interlong.com, or by mail to Suite 1702, Neptunus Yinhe
Technology Mansion, 1 Keji Middle 3rd Road, Maling Community,
Yuehai Sub-district, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, the PRC. The request
will be verified with the Company’s share registrar and upon their
confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the company
secretary will ask the Board to include the resolution in the agenda for
the general meeting.
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Report of the Supervisory Committee

ESERE

To: All shareholders

The Supervisory Committee of the Company has exercised its powers seriously
to safeguard the interests of the Company and shareholders, complied
with the principle of good faith, discharged its duties conscientiously and
undertaken tasks in a diligent and proactive manner in accordance with the
Company Law of the PRC, the relevant Hong Kong laws, regulations and the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”).

The Supervisory Committee of the Company has reviewed in detail and
approved the audited financial statements and this report which will be
presented at the annual general meeting. Supervisors of the Company have
reviewed prudently the operation and development plans of the Company,
and carried out strict and effective supervision as regards whether major
decision-making and exact decisions by the management of the Company are
in compliance with the laws and regulations of the PRC and the Articles of
Association and safeguard the interests of shareholders. Supervisors believe
that during the Year, the operating results of the Company were sufficient to
reflect its condition, and all expenses and costs incurred were reasonable. The
profit sharing scheme was in the long-term interests of shareholders and the
Company. The provision for statutory surplus reserve and public welfare fund
made during the Year has complied with the applicable laws and regulations
of the PRC and the Articles of Association.

During the Year, to the best knowledge of the Supervisory Committee,
no Directors or other senior management of the Company were found to
have abused his authority or have harmed the interests of shareholders
and employees. To the best knowledge of the Supervisory Committee, no
Directors or other senior management of the Company were found to have
violated any applicable laws or regulations, the Articles of Association or the
relevant regulations of China Securities Regulatory Commission. Supervisors
believe that the Directors and other senior management of the Company
have strictly observed their respective duties and acted prudently and
exercised their powers in good faith in the best interests of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee of the Company has full confidence in the
future of the Company and would like to take this opportunity to express its
gratitude to all shareholders, Directors and staff for their strong support to
the Supervisory Committee.

By order of the Supervisory Committee
Xiong Chu Xiong
Chairman of Supervisory Committee

Shenzhen, the PRC
23 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
SHENZHEN NEPTUNUS INTERLONG BIO-TECHNIQUE COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shenzhen
Neptunus Interlong Bio-technique Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to 178,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR S

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
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opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. BR o

How the matter was addressed in BRMAEFS 04
The Key Audit Matter our audit BRETEE REZER
Valuation of inventories FEfhE

Refer to notes 2.10, 4.1 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

At the reporting date, the Group
had inventories of approximately
RMB203,023,000. Inventories are
carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

In determining the net realisable
value of inventories, estimates and
judgements are applied by the
management, including the use of
historical ageing statistics, projection
of expected volume and price of
future sales of inventories.

We have identified the valuation
of inventories as a key audit matter
considering the materiality of the
balances and the involvement of
management’s estimation and
judgement on the net realisable
value of inventories.

Our audit procedures to the valuation
of inventories included the following:

—  Obtained an understanding
of management’s process for
estimation of net realisable
value of inventories.

—  Selected inventory items on a
sample basis and tested their
net realisable value calculation.

- Compared, on a sample
basis, subsequent sales prices
and volumes against the
management’s projections.

—  Considered the accuracy of
historical provisions against
actual inventory write-off.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in
our audit

Impairment assessment of intangible assets and goodwill
Refer to notes 2.6, 2.7, 2.18, 4.1, 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial

statements.

At the reporting date, the Group
had intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and goodwill of
approximately RMB83,425,000 and
RMB96,524,000 respectively.

Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives included anesthetic
drug production and selling right
and trade name. These intangible
assets were individually assessed
at year end for impairment. The
valuation process involved significant
estimates and judgement made by
management over the cash flow
forecasts, discount rates and growth
rates of particular drug markets.

For impairment assessment of
goodwill, the recoverable amount of
the cash generating unit (“CGU")
was determined based on value
in use calculation which involves
significant management judgement
and estimations including the growth
rates and discount rates applied in
the value in use calculation.

We have identified the impairment
of intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and goodwill as a
key audit matter considering the
materiality of the balances and the
use of estimates and judgement by
the management in assessing the
recoverable amounts of intangible
assets and goodwill.

Our audit procedures to impairment
assessment of intangible assets and
goodwill included the following:

— Obtained valuation reports
from independent valuer
employed by the Company and
assessed its qualification and
competence.

—  Reviewed and questioned the
valuation methodology selected
and the key assumptions made.

— Reconciled input data to
supporting evidence, such
as approved budgets and
considering the reasonableness
of these budgets.

— Compared prior year cash
flow projections with actual
occurrence to consider accuracy
of management's projections.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B AR S

Key Audit Matters (Continued) BRETSE (&

How the matter was addressed in BRI F 04
The Key Audit Matter our audit BEETER REZEE
Impairment of trade receivables W ERTURE

Refer to notes 2.9, 4.1 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

At the reporting date, the Group had
trade receivables of approximately
RMB152,887,000, net of expected
credit loss (“ECL") allowance of
approximately RMB24,120,000.

In calculating the ECL allowance,
the ECL rates are estimated by
taking into account the credit loss
experience, ageing of overdue
trade receivables, customers’
repayment history, customers’
financial position and an assessment
of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions, all of
which involve significant degree of
estimates and judgement made by
the management.

We have identified the valuation
of trade receivables as a key audit
matter considering the materiality
of the balances and the involvement
of management’s estimation and
judgement in assessing the ECL
allowance of trade receivables.

Our audit procedures to the valuation
of trade receivables included the
following:

—  Obtained an understanding
of how the loss allowance for
trade receivables is estimated
by the management.

—  Tested the aging analysis of
trade receivables, on a sample
basis, to the source documents
including goods delivery notes
and sales invoices.

—  Reviewed the aging analysis of
trade receivables throughout
the year to understand the
settlement patterns of the
customers.

—  Assessed the reasonableness of
management'’s loss allowance
estimates by examining
the information used by
management to form such
judgements, including testing
the accuracy of the historical
default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates
are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking
information.

ARG A EIRAN 2.9 4.1 K 19

RI|ERH - BEEHE
B MR R AR AR T

152,887,000 7T * 1 K&
TEEEEEE ((FEHE
EEBEDBEOARKE
24,120,000 JT °

REtERBEERER
e - BHEREEEE
ERBEREEBHEL
i BEPHERESL -
B BB R A K
= AT AR — AR AR B
SR RE SRS E R - P
BEUE SR EERER
REfEFTFHE -

ERE BRI ERE
K BB B AT A FE YR
FNFEREEBERE
8 R M T S HI -
BAIT 5 U AR R 1
EREE R RBRE
=15 °

62 SHENZHEN NEPTUNUS INTERLONG BIO-TECHNIQUE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BAPIE R MR R E Y
BIZRFBEEAT

- THREBRENE
AHREWAR R B 1R
B -

- HERKREREFE
o ZHER
AXfF BREEY
REERHE®

o

A

- EDOEERFERKEN
HRREE DT - TR
BEPMAEEE o

- AMAEEEEER
wfhatm A B -
TAREEEHERE
FRT T2 B 38 41
MEFR - BEAR
BB BRI E
it FEELE
BEELREER
AR OS Be B RE
BRETEEH
% o



Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the 2022 annual report of the Company,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV S CE ey

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagements and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

11t Floor,

Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong SAR

23 March 2023

Kwok Siu Kwan, Sylvia
Practising Certificate No.: P06616
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GERERREMEZEHBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_ZT_—F+-_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
FosE AR¥T T AREFT
Revenue WA 5 986,691 838,805
Cost of sales SHERAR (542,549) (464,702)
Gross profit EF 444,142 374,103
Other revenue E A 7 20,617 24,524
Other net income Heblg AF58 7 3,425 4,198
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HEFX (244,231) (238,115)
Administrative expenses THAX (93,733) (80,536)
Other operating expenses Hib & ms (38,096) (37,466)
Impairment of trade and other JFEE LA R S50 e L At WS R
receivables, net TREFRE (2,831) (3,002)
Profit from operations 4 g A 89,293 43,706
Finance costs B8 A 8(a) (7,032) (4,596)
Profit before taxation BB AR T 8 82,261 39,110
Income tax expense FriS i 9 (18,431) (4,804)
Profit and total comprehensive income  AEEREFIR
for the year 2HEKNELEEE 63,830 34,306
Profit and total comprehensive LT EEEEAREERF
income/(expenses) for the year REmkEE(BIX) #44E :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RATHEB A 54,346 35,958
Non-controlling interests FEFERR A 9,484 (1,652)
63,830 34,306
Earnings per share BRER
Basic and diluted EAREE 13 RMB3.24 cents RMB2.14 cents
AR¥3.24% AREE2 145
The notes on pages 73 to 178 are an integral part of these consolidated FEI3EEE17SENMEER L ESSMBRE
financial statements. H)—Z5 o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

As at 31 December 2022
RZZE_—F+=HA=+—H

2022 2021
—E-CF T4
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B aE ARET T AREFTT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB R&E 14 207,674 215,395
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 91,830 92,421
Intangible assets mEE 16 110,400 115,754
Goodwill EES 17 96,524 96,524
Deposits for acquisition of property, BEWE  BEMEENES
plant and equipment 1,435 950
Deposits for acquisition of land use right HEE T AR e 9,817 9,817
Deferred tax assets REFIAE E 26 5,461 6,730
Time deposits T BATF R 20 30,000 30,000
553,141 567,591
Current assets REBEE
Inventories & 18 203,023 157,954
Trade and other receivables JE UK BR R K E A FE YRR 19 341,968 270,881
Short-term bank deposits REHRIRTTIE X 20 60,000 84,000
Bank balances and cash IRITEBRRIRS 20 290,098 227,144
895,089 739,979
Current liabilities nEBAE
Trade and other payables JRE AT BR 350 Ne EL At A< R TA 21 267,483 206,449
Contract liabilities SHEE 22 43,578 16,938
Interest-bearing borrowings MEEE 23 85,028 101,137
Deferred revenue IRIE Wz 24 401 451
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 3,181 3,937
Current taxation BERF: 1R 13,052 6,578
412,723 335,490
Net current assets REBEESE 482,366 404,489
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABAERS 1,035,507 972,080
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As at 31 December 2022

R_ZE-_—_F+—-_HA=+—H

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
b AR¥T T ARETIT
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Interest-bearing borrowings MEEE 23 2,909 =
Deferred revenue EE W 24 589 940
Lease liabilities HEARE 25 1,574 620
Deferred tax liabilities BEFHIEAE 26 25,131 26,120
30,203 27,680
Net assets EERE 1,005,304 944,400
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to owners KATEE AELER
of the Company
Share capital &N 27 167,800 167,800
Reserves & 716,242 661,896
884,042 829,696
Non-controlling interests =R S 121,262 114,704
Total equity FERBRE 1,005,304 944,400
Zhang Feng Huang Jian Bo
(55 EHalR
Director Director
a2 EE
The notes on pages 73 to 178 are an integral part of these consolidated FI3EZEF178EMM T EK L F4EE M BHRE
financial statements. B —7B5 o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GaeleTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z__F+_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-_—F —E -4
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETT
Operating activities REEE
Profit before taxation R A g A 82,261 39,110
Adjustments for: EEEE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% = LREITE 24,292 22,033
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 6,901 4,799
Amortisation of intangible assets & E RS 4,751 3,436
Reversal of impairment of intangible assets m A ERERE - (858)
Impairment of trade receivables, net FEURBR SR (B F R 2,843 2,427
(Reversal of impairment)/Impairment of other H i FEUGRIE CREREE])
receivables, net B EEE (12) 575
Finance costs W5 7,032 4,596
Interest income from bank deposits SRITIE T S WA (6,471) (2,689)
Interest income from principal protected RAETF R S A
deposits - (5,533)
Subsidy income released from deferred revenue B8 E EAE WS A0 1 BAURA (401) (451)
Write-down of inventories WoRAF & 3,549 6,219
Reversal of write-down of inventories FEMUREEE (3,089) (249)
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, plantand H& REEWE - BE REERNEIE
equipment 2,638 577
Write-off of right-of-use assets {2 FARE & 2E S s = 66
Write-off of intangible assets A B R - 8
Write-back of trade and other payables JREASF B 350 e EL At JRE A< R IR [B] - (578)
Operating cash flows before working EEESRHA 2RERSN
capital changes 124,294 73,488
Changes in working capital EEELEEH
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories F&0Em) (45,529) 3,840
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables FEUBE R & Eoth e USR8 (32 40) 54> (73,295) 30,465
Decrease in pledged bank deposits B RITIFROR S - 2,445
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables & BE RN K EL b FE A5 ZR B A0, Ol 2) 40,787 (147,030)
Increase/(Decrease) in contract liabilities EHA/EEGIN, (R 26,640 (24,743)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations KeEELE (FTA)RE 72,897 (61,535)
Income tax paid BB (11,677) (8,389)
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating A ETEESL S (FTH) B2 FE
activities 61,220 (69,924)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BEZZT-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBTF T ARETFT
Investing activities RETEE
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, XNEEYE  BERRENZS
plant and equipment (3.434) (4,717)
Additions to intangible assets B EERNE (20) (1,004)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BEKEE (16,260) (7,001)
Payment for expenditure of intangible assets EREERS R - (2,351)
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired ~ UWHE—FEIMIEBAE « FERATIEE
(note 31) B (PEE31) - (63,683)
Placement of principal protected deposits FRIRATIFE R - (135,000)
Receipts from principal protected deposits RAEF AR - 135,000
Decrease/(Increase) in short-term bank deposits %2 #JER1TERUR A (3 HN) 24,000 (80,000)
Increase in time deposits TE HATF 1380 - (30,000)
Interest received 2 FI S 6,471 7,190
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing RETEESL (AT He FEE
activities 10,757 (181,566)
Financing activities REEE
Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings EEREEE (107,187) (10,000)
Repayment of entrusted loans EBERFMER - (9,000)
Proceeds from interest-bearing borrowings MBS RS A 93,987 61,137
Interest paid EFE (6,375) (4,117)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests AN AR AR 2 D L2, (2,926) (1,620)
Payment of lease liabilities HEEERN®K (6,769) (4,931)
Advance from a non-controlling shareholder FEAS FEIE AR AR R MO R IR 30,000 =
Repayment to a non-controlling shareholder B38 JEIE AR A% BR F R TE (9,753) -
Capital injection by non-controlling interests FEPERR R A - 35,280
Net cash (used in)/generated from BETE (FTH)  ELHEFE
financing activities (9,023) 66,749
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash REeRBLEEWEM(RL)
equivalents FEE 62,954 (184,741)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January R—A—BONRERBEESEED 227,144 411,885
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December, R+=-A=+—HHKES
represented by bank balances and cash RESEEYERTEBRRAS 290,098 227,144

\

The notes on pages 73 to 178 are an integral part of these consolidated FI3EEF178AENMFERBR L ERE P HHRE
financial statements. B —7B5 o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2022
E_E__FH_A=1T—RHIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KOAEEAER
Statutory Non-
Share Share reserve Capital Retained controlling
capital premium* fund* reserve* earnings* Sub-total interests Total

i RivkgE  iElkér ERgfE REER It FEhkEs s
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTL NRETT ARETT NRETT ARETT ARETT NRETT
(note 28(3)) (note 28(b) (note 28(c)
(FiEa8(a) (fE28) (80

At 1 January 2021 N-Ez-5-A-A 167,800 554844 48,936 (188,494) 210652 193738 101934 895,672

Profit{Loss) and total comprehensive

incomeflexpense) for the year - - - - 35958 35958 (1,65) 34306
Dividend paid to non-controling nterests - - - - - - (1,620) (1,620)
Capitalinjection by non-controlling interests - - - - - - 35,280 3,280

Acquisiton of a subsidary (note 31) - - - - - - (19.38) (1938

Transfer to statutory reserve fund - - 675 - (679) - - -
At 31 December 2021 W-E=-E+CR=1-A 167,800 554 844 49611 (188,494) 245,935 829,69 114,704 944,400
At1 January 2022 W-E-E-A-f 167,800 554,844 49,611 (188,494) 245,935 829,69 114,704 944,400
Proft and totel comprehensiie KERRHREENA

income for the year #8 = - - - 54,346 54,346 9484 63,830
Dividend paid to non-controling interests TREERERRE - - - - - - (2.92) (292)
Transfer to tatutory reserve fund %’&mi@%ﬁ - - 17 - (1721) - - -
Release of statutry esenve upon deregisratin s ~EHEDAEHADZ

of asubsidiay TR - - (250) - 0 = = -
At 31 December 2022 W-E-ZETCAZ1-A 167,800 554,844 51,082 (188,494) 298810 884,042 121,262 1,005,304
*  The reserves account comprise the Group'’s reserves of RMB716,242,000 (2021: * ZERBRPEEASEERGEMBEIRARTH

RMB661,896,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. HIEANRYT716,242,000 (T =—F : AR¥
661,896,0007T) °

The notes on pages 73 to 178 are an integral part of these consolidated FI3EZF 178 AR I T42 6 MK
financial statements. H—EB5 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General Information

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The address of its
registered office is Suite 1702, Neptunus Yinhe Technology Mansion, 1
Keji Middle 3rd Road, Maling Community, Yuehai Sub-district, Nanshan
District, the PRC and its principal place of business is the PRC. The
Company's shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

The Group is controlled by Shenzhen Neptunus Bio-engineering
Company Limited (“Neptunus Bio-engineering”), a limited liability
company incorporated and domiciled in the PRC and its shares are
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The ultimate parent company
of the Group is Shenzhen Neptunus Holding Group Limited, a company
incorporated in the PRC.

The Group include the development, production and sales of medicines,
the research and development of modern biological technology
business and the purchase and sales of medicines and healthcare food
products. The Group's operations are based in the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 were approved for issue by the board of directors on 23 March
2023.

Significant Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of preparation
These annual consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

2. EEREHHEE
EREE @)

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1

2.2

These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") which is also the functional currency of the Company.
All amounts are rounded to the nearest thousand except where
otherwise indicated.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied
to all the years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption
of new or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, if any, are disclosed in note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for principal protected deposits which is
stated at fair values. The measurement bases are fully described in
the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and actions,
actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December each year.

2.2

NGB IERERINETEANEBE S
LHARARGEM EmR A ([GEM
ETRAD ZWERE ©

KA UBHRRIDRARE TARE])
2% ARETRARRNEES -
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ALY TAL o

RN ANBERBERN I B et
BB IT - B R EFRES - A
HRFE 2 BERE B— R -
TR BB B R R
EEE AN RROTE WA R
IR -

REUBHRRERE LN AEER
HERARETIRAFEIIRRIN - 5t E
AR T X G ER BRI -

BRIE - AR MBRREEER
SEHERT RER - BEZFMEFIATE
BFTRA R E R E 1 RITBRHIET &
At - BRZEAERKERINZE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
When assessing whether the Group has power over the entity,
only substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the Group
and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a subsidiary in the
consolidated financial statements from the date it gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses
on transactions between group companies are eliminated in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised
losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed on consolidation,
the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from the
Group's perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements
of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect
of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests
that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business
combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at their proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
the equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the owners of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-—_F+-A=+—HILFE

2. Sig
2.2

2.3

nificant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
In the Company’s statement of financial position, subsidiaries are
carried at cost less any impairment loss unless the subsidiary is
held for sale or included in a disposal group. Cost also includes
direct attributable costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividends received and receivable at the reporting
date. All dividends whether received out of the investee’s pre or
post-acquisition profits are recognised in the Company'’s profit or
loss.

Business combination

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets include an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs. The acquired process is considered
substantive if it is critical to the ability to continue producing
outputs, and the inputs acquired include an organised workforce
with necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform that
process or it significantly contributes to the ability to continue
producing outputs and is considered unique or scarce or cannot
be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

2. FESFHE@E

2.2

2.3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3 Business combination (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value on the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquire (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as bargain purchase
gain.

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
considered as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain purchase.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the measurement period
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date. Measurement period does not exceed one year from the
acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify
as measurement period adjustments depends on how the
contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not subsequently remeasured and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as a financial liability is subsequently
remeasured at each reporting dates at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity before the acquisition date are reclassified to profit or loss
when the Group obtains control over the acquiree.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 2. FESFEBX @)
2.4 Property, plant and equipment 24 Y% BEREE

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction-in-
progress as described below and cost of right-of-use assets as
described in note 2.13) are initially recognised at acquisition cost
and/or manufacturing cost (including any cost directly attributable
to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for
them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the
Group’s management). They are subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply
or administrative purposes are carried at cost less any recognised
impairment losses. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group's accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the
appropriate categories of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of assets other
than construction in progress less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, at the
following rates per annum:

Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 to 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 to 10 years

Leasehold improvements 5 to 30 years or over
the remaining term of
the leases, if shorter
Buildings 50 years or over the lease

terms, if shorter

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets is set out
in note 2.13.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4

2.5

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as separate assets, as appropriate, only when they are
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are charged
to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Prepaid lease payments

“Prepaid lease payments” (which meet the definition of right-of-
use assets) represent the upfront payment for long-term land lease
in which the payment can be reliably measured. It is stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis over the
term of the lease/right-of-use except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the time pattern of benefits to be derived
by the Group from use of the land.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and research and
development activities

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Acquired intangible assets are recognised initially at cost. After
initial recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite
useful lives is provided on straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. Amortisation commences when the intangible assets
are available for use. The following useful lives are applied:

Computer software 5 to 10 years

Trademarks 10 years
Customer list 10 years
Technical know-how 10 years
Selling licences 5 years
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T E BT ERER M5

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

2. EEREHHEE
26 MPRE(ERBRN RIHED (@)

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.6 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and research and

development activities (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

The useful life of the anesthetic drug production and selling right
and trade name are considered by the management of the Group
as indefinite because the anesthetic drug production and selling
right and trade name is expected to contribute to the Group'’s net
cash inflows indefinitely.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

The assets’ amortisation methods and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

Intangible assets, with finite and indefinite useful lives, are tested
for impairment as described below in note 2.18.

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in profit
or loss as they occur. Costs that are directly attributable to
development activities are recognised as intangible assets provided
they meet the following recognition requirements:

(i)  demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective
product for internal use or sale;

(i) there is intention to complete the intangible asset and use or
sell it;

(i) the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible asset is
demonstrated;

(iv) the intangible asset will generate probable economic benefits
through internal use or sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

(vi) the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset can be
reliably measured.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.6

2.7

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) and research and
development activities (Continued)

Research and development costs (Continued)

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on development
activities along with an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
The costs of development of internally generated software,
products or knowhow that meet the above recognition criteria
are recognised as intangible assets. They are subject to the same
subsequent measurement method as acquired intangible assets.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset
at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date). Goodwvill
is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
Group's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested
annually for impairment (see note 2.18).

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount
of goodwill capitalised is included in the determination of the
amount of gain or loss on disposal.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 2. TESTHXGE)

2.8 Financial instruments 28 £@MIA
Recognition and derecognition SRR AL TRER
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the PHEERESRABBEANEEKSEH

Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the TEEABX—HRER -
financial instrument.

EREEREEREERNBRSREL
BRENER - REeBEENERAH
7R K B B RE A LR - 28
BEREERR - f#RR - BURSE B

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the
financial asset and substantially all of its risks and rewards
are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is

extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Financial assets
Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component and are measured at the transaction price
in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value,
in case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL"), plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss.

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as
hedging instruments, are classified into the following categories:

- amortised cost;

- FVTPL; or

- fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The classification is determined by both:

- the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset;

and

—  the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are
recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance costs or
other revenue, except for expected credit losses (“ECL") of trade
and other receivables which is presented as a separate item in
profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet
the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

—  they are held within a business model whose objective is
to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash
flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in other revenue in profit or loss. Discounting
is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The
Group's time deposits, short-term bank deposits, bank balances
and cash and trade and other receivables fall into this category of
financial instruments.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that are held within a different business model
other than “hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell” are
categorised at FVTPL. Further, irrespective of business model,
financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL.
The Group'’s principal protected deposits fall into this category of
financial instruments.
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HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 2. TESTHXGE)

2.8 Financial instruments (Continued) 2.8 £RITHE (@
Financial liabilities SHMAsE
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities PHEE AR E

AEEz 2R A EREENRRLEAM
ENZIR  MEEEREERE -

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
interest-bearing borrowings and lease liabilities.

eRABRHRTHERRB NFRAF
B (R (HER) R BEA T LATRE) 5
B MEAREEE AR AFEARR
Z R B BRI

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially measured
at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs
unless the Group designated a financial liability at FVTPL.

HiZ  eREEGITHERB ERE
BRI RORIRM P ANGTE - MRS
FEHRREIEERET TANITETAR

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method
except for derivatives which are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships and financial liabilities BERRATEF ABEN A &R
designated at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value Hh - ERERIEATESR - WaEmsE
with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. ERBEEP R °

PERBEAZ|ZFSHEBERR
(WER) TAR T EZ BB NHEE

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an
instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or loss are

included within finance costs. RARALR -

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in note 2.13. HE &8 BN BERENMIFE2.13
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEBE

Interest-bearing bank borrowings are recognised initially at fair i BERITIE ERVIR A FEHRR HK
value, net of transaction costs incurred. Interest-bearing bank RHER - Hi1BMH SIRTIE BB SER A
borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any HIRR  PTISRIE (IR R S AN) BifE )
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the BEZEAzANEERNEERRERE

redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of BRFIEER B2 N TER ©
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Interest-bearing borrowings are classified as current liabilities BRIEREEHES B GG EAEEZ 2R

unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of ARZEL1I2EAZINAE - GRIME
the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date. EEBEARDAE -

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective

interest method.

AR R AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.9

Impairment of financial assets

HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use forward-looking
information to recognise ECL — the “ECL model”. Instruments
within the scope included loans and other debt-type financial assets
measured at amortised cost and trade and other receivables.

The Group considers a broader range of information when
assessing credit risk and measuring ECL, including past events,
current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that
affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the
instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made
between:

—  financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly
in credit quality since initial recognition or that have low
credit risk (“Stage 1”) and

—  financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in
credit quality since initial recognition and whose credit risk is
not low (“Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective
evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL"” are recognised for the Stage 1 category while
“lifetime ECL" are recognised for the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial
instrument.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 2. FESFEBX @)
2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued) 29 S@EEREE)

Trade receivables JEWAR
The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL AEERABS EAEBREEERE -
and recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each WS B BREZ HIEEEEER
reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual WREERE - ZRIICREETED
cash flows, considering the potential for default at any point AEMEHRE AR R REN - ELEEL
during the life of the financial assets. In calculating the ECL, the ReREWTEARD - i EEEER
Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its E1ER - AEBEET —AERERESL
historical credit loss experience and external indicators, adjusted EEBIBLHMINTIEIR R B AR
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the WARRETS AN B IR IF A E B Al A 1
economic environment. HARAEITHE o
To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped based RETEREEER - BYERRERE
on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. BEEERRSERa RS -
Other financial assets measured at amortised cost B AT B A% R E
The Group measures the loss allowance for other receivables REEH A MENFIENEERES
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has been a significant R12EABEEEEE - RIFEH
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the EREEERRARIEN - RILIER
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime T ANEERREHBEHEEEE - 2
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the TBrEERE B EEEENT G IR
likelihood or risk of default occurring since initial recognition. 7 B WA TERR AR 3 A 3Z AR Al BB 1 3k

[\ OB SE I0 o

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly R B VIR AR EE AR RS

since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default TRIG AN - AREE® hRms A e
occurring on the financial assets at the reporting date with the risk BEZEENEREYVIRERASHE
of default occurring on the financial assets at the date of initial EREEARR - HREMEE - A5
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both EEZRaERASENEEREENE
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and B PEBAALRIEZNETNER
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking PR AR5 %% 77 B Al BVAS Y ATHE B A o

information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when LHEZ @ EHMEEERBEGEEE M

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly: B §ERUATER

—  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial - @I EfsNELUKAE)skAEE
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating; AR ER kTR ERRE =L
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost (Continued)

—  significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the
credit default swap prices for the debtor;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory, business,
financial, economic conditions, or technological environment
that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations; and

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 90
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the end of each reporting period. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if it has a low risk of
default, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfill its
contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collateral held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade receivables and
other financial assets measured at amortised cost are set out in
note 32.2.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 2. FESFEBX @)

2.10 Inventories 210 78
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable FE TR A R A R R ERBRIEET
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the iR o TR R FETN A B EBBETL
ordinary course of business less the estimated cost of completion st SR A 5T TE BB AN K 3B R 8 & 7
and applicable selling expenses. 52 ¢
Cost is determined using the weighted average basis, and in PRARZ INETIEEE - AT M
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprise KB RIBREEERME - EES
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of TRARIEE 2 BEKA - BN 1EE
overheads. It excludes borrowing costs. B o

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents 211 RERBEEZEEY
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand, RekBFeEEVBREBERITRFER
demand deposits with banks and short term highly liquid ® - RITEREFMERERHBER=
investments with original maturities of three months or less that EAKAT - BERF AT S B Ae REER
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are e REBEZSERIAZE RS RELE
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. BRE o

2.12 Contract liabilities 2.12 EHEE
A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays ERPEASBEERBARAR AR
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. B FERReafE - MAREE
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an TSR AE AU A BT 78 5 R (B O 2 151
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group R - RINgRREHNEE - EIIER
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding T IV R AR E A FE YGRS o

receivable would also be recognised.

2.13 Leases 2.13 #HE
Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee ?555 HE S RAFEEIEREAENA
At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether a REIL AR - NEEER SRS
contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, REESEEBREHE - HENTEERR
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an identified [ERHEXEHE TEBRBAERD
asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange BRIEE HEEE) R AR (E
for consideration’. To apply this definition, the Group assesses BIRER] o Eﬁgﬁﬁixﬁ?ﬁ P REERT
whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are JEBEHNEEARE[FE = REGET
whether: 1ty
- the contract contains an identified asset, which is either - BHBPEEHBREE  EREE
explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified by AHAEEFERRFREOREE
being identified at the time the asset is made available to the R SIS R IR AR
Group;
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
2.13 Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee (Continued)

— the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within
the defined scope of the contract; and

—  the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use. The Group assesses
whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’
the asset is used throughout the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-
of-use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated statement
of financial position. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost,
which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability,
any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any
costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end of
the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line
basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end
of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease
term unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership
at the end of the lease term. The Group also assess the right-of-
use asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at that date,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, or the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 2. FESFEBX @)
2.13 Leases (Continued) 2.13 A& (&)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued) i1 2 RIERIERBMABIHE (B
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability Rt EHEE ERFGANEENRERE
are made up of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed BEEH A EAENEENKR(BIE
payment) less any lease incentives receivable, variable payments BEEEEMNF)REMNEREEERR
based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under AR - Mz e BRHAAERERER
a residual value guarantee. The lease payments also included BRTIXZM - HENFNREAEES
the exercise price of a purchase option reasonable certain to be B TTENEERENITEE R
exercised by the Group and payment of penalties for terminating HEZNHES « WZHEEFHREA
a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option SEITERIEE R EERE -

to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced NinEtE% - BEBEZELEENR
for payments made and increased for interest cost on the lease R - EgREBE & ENF S
liability. It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or lease - BESEMEARMEAESN
modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed b E S - BB EEN KA E
payments. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an b o TMRKRBIE Sk A= A ] 4 F0 E 15K
index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which 1A HE 35 B B TR ) B SRR R B RR
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. RE o
The Group remeasures lease liabilities whenever: AEETEATNERAHEB EETERN
A
—  there are changes in lease term or in the assessment of — MHHEMEIHNITEREEEEE
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related W BEEEL  EEBERBR
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised T - BB EE A ERLE
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of TR R B LB RN EE N
reassessment. HEATANE - S EEENHEE
=i
—  the lease payments changes due to changes in market rental — TERBEEMNBILT @ HERNK
rates following a market rent review/expected payment RETTMSHASES FAHRAR
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related S HE RN B imE LR
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 1t EEBIERT - ERYBIT
payments using the initial discount rate. WEREERT R NEE N FEST
IR BN EREENEESR
f& o
For lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate HRREREBHEARNHEEEE
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the REBERBESHBONHEEHR - £
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease 1EBUE R B HA (AR ARIE AT RO HT IR = 47
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of BTSN FEETTRIR - MmER
modification. FrEHERE -
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.13

2.14

Leases (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee (Continued)
When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-
use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases using the
practical expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset
and lease liability, the payments in relation to these lease are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term
of 12 month or less.

The prepaid lease payments for leasehold land are included as
“Right-of-use assets” under non-current assets.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to
reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain
events not wholly within the control of the Group, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 2. FESFEBX @)

2.15 Share capital 2.15 74
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is recognised TERDERER - RATIHERRE &
at the amount of consideration of shares issued, after deducting T 2 REHBR R EZEITRR MDA
any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares (net of B 2 22 5 B 7R (HN B A (o] 48 8 P 1525 7
any related income tax benefit) to the extent they are incremental ) MAER KA AEEEERR
costs directly attributable to the equity transaction. 282 ALK RR -

2.16 Revenue recognition 2.16 W ARER
Revenue arises mainly from manufacturing and selling of WA E 2R B A MHE S KRR E
medicines and healthcare products. m °
To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a RNEE S RSB EE RS ERMA

5-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer 1. #EAEEFPHEL

2. Identifying the performance obligations 2. #ERBHNEE

3. Determining the transaction price 3. EERSHER

4.  Allocating the transaction price to the performance 4. ERRAOBEEDERSHER
obligations

5. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are 5. B /SBEERAETEITRER
satisfied KA

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated REFEEAT @ 8RB SETIRES

amongst the various performance obligations based on their BEB I v EBEESRTRERHNE

relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a FoGHZRGETBEEREE =K

contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Bz ] &%E o

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when & (SBEE) AN & BimiB K FGE  m e iR

(or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring BERTEPMBRITBAOREMER - WA

the promised goods or services to its customers. VASE — s B R Bl LA K — B ER TR
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.16 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Sales of goods

Revenue from manufacturing and selling of medicines and
healthcare products and medical devices for which control of assets
is transferred at a point in time is recognised when the goods are
delivered to customers. The Group provides sales return policies to
customers, and the amount of sales return was insignificant.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the
effective interest method.

Licence fee income
Licence fee income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance
with the substance of the relevant agreement.

2.17 Government subsidies

Subsidies from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the subsidies will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
Government subsidies are deferred and recognised in profit or
loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that
the subsidies are intended to compensate. Government subsidies
relating to the purchase of assets are deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and consequently are effectively recognised
in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced
depreciation expense.

Government subsidies relating to income is presented in gross
under “Other revenue” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 2. FESFEBX @)
2.18 Impairment of non-financial assets 2.18 FEMEERE

Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, right-of- BIVEE W% - WEREE  ERE
use assets (including prepaid lease payments), goodwill arising BE(REEMEEZE) - BUEKB
on acquisition of a subsidiary and the Company’s interests in NEIFTEENEE IR R AR EA T
subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing. R B TRVE IR -

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life or 7R % HL A AR & E AN PR TE IR A
those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least Higk AR AT AR - BT R IR A
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication that they AREDR - AR GFEITRER
are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment whenever = o TEHEMEENE RN EER
there are indications that the asset’s carrying amount may not be O BR EME R ETTRUE AR

recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately for BEEIE N REEREEBRBE R
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its HEERRE AR - HNERARYS - 1]
recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair WEl £ ARMIN 2 A TEREEX
value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal, and value REFREERSEE - SHEERE
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows B - AR RR @ RERRAT AT
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate WMEPTIREAIRE - DARIRIR R T35 4
that reflects current market assessment of time value of money cRERELAEBEERARR 2T
and the risk specific to the asset. iy o

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset does BEEREMS - WTEERERAZ
not generate cash inflows largely independent from those from BERBOBLAEMEE « ErlE
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the AR B ELRSRANZLE
smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows independently EHRE BBReELSMN)ERE - At
(i.e., a cash-generating unit). As a result, some assets are R EEREBETRENR - S0
tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash- AR @ EE SR - b¥EEERE
generating unit level. Corporate assets are allocated to individual HAEIE A - D R ERR S ELEE
cash-generating units, when a reasonable and consistent basis RIIREELBEN - BRGSO EREHA
of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they are allocated SR BN EERNR/NRSEE
to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a BRAAR - FHRIEEHE - eWOEEE
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. ERRC AR ST & O 2 R e R i
Goodwill in particular is allocated to those cash-generating units BREASEEANRALEIE B #in B
that are expected to benefit from synergies of the related business MBI EERZBREEEEEN (T
combination and represent the lowest level within the Group at R E D EB) ©

which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose
and not be larger than an operating segment.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.18 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to which
goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the carrying
amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is charged
pro rata to the other assets in the cash generating unit, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below
its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods. In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed
if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of
goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case
even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at the end of the financial year
to which the interim period relates.

2.19 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to central pension
scheme

The Group participates in the central pension scheme (the
“CPS") operated by the local government authority for all of
its employees in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
certain percentage of their covered payroll to the CPS to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
CPS is to pay the ongoing required contributions under the CPS.
Contributions under the CPS are recognised in profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the CPS.

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and contributions
to central pension scheme are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.20 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred.

2.21 Foreign currency translation

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting date,
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the reporting date retranslation of
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated (i.e. only translated using
the exchange rates at the transaction date).

2. FESFHEGE)
2.20 fEERA

fEEMANREERH

2.21 SN E

RiFAERZERIFEHRRT - SNER
HERNR 5 BBT < EXBE R ES
BRZIEEH - NRERH - PASNE
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.22 Accounting for income taxes

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the reporting
date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in profit
or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on temporary
differences at the reporting date between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other unused
tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit,
including existing taxable temporary differences, will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax
losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the asset
realised, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 2. FESFEBX @)
2.22 Accounting for income taxes (Continued) 2.22 FRf8Bi 285t 5% ()
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in RETHIBEERB B ZE RN ERTP
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in TR - BN E AR & e sk AR B 5
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to other HERsGTAZIEE B - ARLETIAER
comprehensive income or directly in equity. EXAEEEAINEMiRE lmE

BRI R o

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in net if, REARIAE E R ANERIEEB EEEAT

and only if: BERT TG LOFEEZS -

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the () ANEEKER R SIZITREA A
recognised amounts; and BRI &

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset (b) EERFHEELENFFLER
and settle the liability simultaneously. BERENEE-

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities REBEEATER T HELOFELZ7

in net if, and only if: RIETHIBE B R IE A

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current (@) FEBEEARHIEITRER AR
tax assets against current tax liabilities; and REAIBE E AR IE S E Y

i &

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate (b) FEEFIBEEHFELERIAS FHE
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on A — SR RA L LA T (B — B
either: Wz FTiSTi AR
(i) the same taxable entity; or (i) F—IERTEL X
(i) different taxable entities which intend either to settle (i) BENFBEELF R

current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to HEBHREERFRRERE
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, ENEEAENTRERE
in each future period in which significant amounts i - NS BRIERED
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be FLEHIEBGEREESHEE
settled or recovered. T8 T AEE SR E]
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BEZZT-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 2. FESFHEBEXGE)
2.23 Segment reporting 2.23 W2}
The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment AREBETEHARNTESRE AT BE
information based on the regular internal financial information K DA St AR S B SRS AR B R A
reported to the executive directors for their decisions about BIRDIIERTE - ARMEERTZE
resources allocation to the Group’s business components and AR - MAEEAREZS
for their review of the performance of those components. The ER BN EEDHBRGERDEHER o [
business components in the internal financial information reported PITESRE 2N B ER B4
to the executive directors are determined following the Group's EMD - KB AR B ZIAEBHIRE
various lines of business. B e
2.24 Related parties 2.24 BEAL
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a MR EFEWMEME - ?—TQMT%#E’\J
party is considered to be related to the Group if: AT AR 5 B AR (B
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s (@ HBALTHZBALRIELR
family and if that person: sz AL :
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group; (i) EAREEA G5 RZE ]
1
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or (i) HAKBEERZEN : 3k
(iiiy is a member of the key management personnel of the (iy RAEENAEEHFNFE
Group or of a parent of the Group. ZEREKE ©
(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions (b) ZBATAREEERMN TG E
applies: A
(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same () HEBEAEEZR—KE
group; o]p 4= VNG
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other iy —EAEERS BB
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of RAISEGERE (HE—E
a group of which the other entity is a member); RAEEESR —EKE QA
B—EEEARNEE D
%)
(iiiy  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same (i) ZEREAEEHAER—
third party; =FHEERE
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.24 Related parties (Continued)
(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following conditions
applies: (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.

2. FEE
2.24 BEAL

(b) ZBALRERR

j== 8

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

—ZAL
ALTREZ
i 3p 8=

FTBUCR (48)

()
i T 1) 5k 1 5
(&)

—EEEAE—EE=THN—
MeEELE mME—EBA
ZE=HH—EBE AR

%?m 5 — IR IR K48 A 5t

e &t & T R AR E
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R (@) ()BT HER M A L 5%
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Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs 3. BRWVERE] U REMERT BRI KR
g
Amended HKFRSs that are effective for annual periods beginning R-BE-_—F-—A—HHRRZFEHBEN
on 1 January 2022 ZRIERT BB S &R
In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the RAFE  AEEHRERUATHESE
following amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, which are relevant R AEEM - BEAREB R EESMEKERR
to the Group's operations and effective for the Group’s consolidated AEERZZE_—F—A—BRBKZFEEH
financial statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January B4R S B ISk 2 BAEF] BB M IS E £
2022: Al
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions BB EwE RZE=—FA=1H
beyond 30 June 2021 EHIZE 165 (18 2220198 MEFR
BN TR %
Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common SEIE5|5E55  HREESZEHEEERE
(Revised) Control Combination CHEN)
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework BB TSRS AR SRR SR s
35 (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds BB ERE  WE - BELRE -—HE
before Intended Use 165% (B3] 4%) A2 FTfSkIE
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Costs ARG ENE BREESH-EITEAH
of Fulfilling a Contract 375% (IBRTA) BAR
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRS BB GwEER BV BREENE-F
Standards 2018-2020 (CEHEY, —N\E-_T_ZTFRH
ZFEE
The adoption of the amended HKFRSs had no material impact on how RN ET B B 52 5 AR B S AN HA R f i
the results and financial position for the current and prior periods have T EAf 2 AR R MBI RE R 2575 %
been prepared and presented. WS AL -
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HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

3. Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)
Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements,
certain new and amended HKFRSs have been published but are not yet
effective, and have not been adopted early by the Group.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related
amendments'
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 52

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction'

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective date not yet determined

BRANETR] ML K B RT BB B 5

=R (&)

T
ERMEERER 2B REUHREER
REETIBEAREPERERER - HTHR
M R AEHERT BB I S S R B AR A 1)

RAER - B EPARE B R R

3 i AR EERE AR H AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be adopted
in the Group's accounting policy for the first period beginning on or
after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new
and amended HKFRSs that are expected to have impact on the Group's
accounting policies is provided below. Other new and amended HKFRSs
are not expected to have a material impact to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current” and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 and
Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants”
("2022 Amendments”)

The amendments provide further guidance to clarify how to classify
debt and other liabilities as current or non-current which are
summarised as follows:

e |t clarifies that a liability is non-current if an entity has a right
(instead of unconditional right as stated before the amendments)
to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months from
the end of the reporting period. This right has to be existed at the
end of the reporting period, regardless of whether the lender tests
for compliance at the date or at a later date;

e Any expectations about events after the reporting period do not
impact the assessment made at the end of the reporting period as
to the classification of the liability; and

o “Settlements” are newly defined as a transfer to the counterparty
that results in the extinguishment of the liability. The transfer
could be of cash, other economic resources (e.g. goods or
services), or entity’s own equity instruments. Thus, if the
counterparty conversion option is classified as liability under
HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”, the transfer of
equity instruments by exercising the conversion option constitute
settlement of liability for the purpose of current or non-current
classification of liabilities. One exception to the definition is that
if the counterparty conversion option is classified as equity in
accordance with HKAS 32, the transfer of equity instruments by
exercising the conversion option does not constitute settlement of
liability and would be disregarded when determining whether the
liability is current or non-current.
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Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current” and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 and
Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants”
(“2022 Amendments”) (Continued)

2022 Amendments issued in 2022 clarified that only covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, which an entity must comply
with on or before the reporting date (even if the covenant is only
assessed after the reporting date) affect the classification of that liability
as current or non-current. Those covenants to be complied with after
the reporting date do not affect the classification of loan arrangements
as current or non-current at the reporting date.

Besides, the 2022 Amendments required an entity to provide additional
disclosure when a liability arising from a loan agreement is classified
as non-current and the entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent
on compliance with future covenants within twelve months. The
information provided should enable users of financial statements to
understand the risk that the liability could become repayable within
twelve months of the reporting period, including:

e the carrying amount of the related liabilities;

. information about the covenants (including the nature of the
covenants and when the entity is required to comply with them);
and

. facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that an entity
may have difficulty complying with covenants. Such facts and
circumstances could also include the fact that the entity would not
have complied with the covenants based on its circumstances at
the end of the reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also deferred the effective date of the 2020
Amendments to the annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024, in which both amendments are to be applied as a
package and apply retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The
directors expect that the amendments have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of
Accounting Policies”

The amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose material
accounting policy information instead of significant accounting policies
in its financial statements. The amendments also provide some guidance
on how material policy information are being identified and provide
some examples of when accounting policy information is likely to be
material.

In March 2021, HKICPA issued HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making
Materiality Judgements” to provide entities with non-mandatory
guidance on how to make materiality judgements when preparing their
general purpose financial statements in accordance with HKFRS. HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 was subsequently revised to provide guidance and
examples on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual reporting period
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and are applied prospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. Except for the disclosures of accounting
policies in note 2 to consolidated financial statements may need to
be revised to cope with the above changes, the directors expect that
the amendments have no other material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
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Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates”

The amendments clarify how entities should distinguish changes
in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates by
introducing a definition for accounting estimates, which is now defined
as “monetary amounts in the financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty”.

Besides, the amendments also clarify the relationship between
accounting policies and accounting estimates by specifying that an
entity develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set
out by an accounting policy. Accounting estimates typically involve
the use of judgements or assumptions based on latest available
reliable information. A change in accounting estimate that results
from new information or new development is not correction of an
error. Therefore, the effects of a change in an input or a measurement
technigue used to develop an accounting estimate are changes in
accounting estimates if they do not result from the correction of
prior period errors. In addition, two illustrative examples are added to
illustrate how to apply the new definition of accounting estimates.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting period beginning on
or after 1 January 2023 and are applied prospectively. Earlier application
is permitted. The directors expect that the amendments have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12" Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction”

The amendments clarify that the initial recognition exemption of
deferred tax in HKAS 12 “Income Taxes” does not apply to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences,
such as lease contracts that give rise to the recognition of a lease liability
and the corresponding right-of-use assets and contracts that give rise
to the recognition of decommissioning obligations and corresponding
amounts recognised as assets. Instead, entities are required to recognise
the related deferred tax asset and liability on initial recognition, with the
recognition of any deferred tax asset being subject to the recoverability
criteria in HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”.
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Adoption of New and Amended HKFRSs
(Continued)

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12" Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction” (Continued)

The amendments are effective for annual reporting period beginning
on or after 1 January 2023. Earlier application is permitted. The
directors expect that the amendments have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Estimation uncertainty
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below:
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4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 4. BEESTHETTRHE (&)

(Continued)

4.1 Estimation uncertainty (Continued) 4.1 {HEFFEAEBAREE (&)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use V= - BiE KRG R EHERERE
assets
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are tested BEBNRBEREE REENEEE
for impairment whenever there are indications that the asset’s R - % - HER&EREREER
carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable amount ERSETRENR - BENAIKEE
of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal FEHE RN ER D ERATEREER
and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated WEREE - A EAEER - I
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a TAEFARKRR S MITRE LR REEE -
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments {58 A & 7 40 22 05 BT S B 3R BRE T 3% AT Al
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset, WEERERZEEREZRREZ
which requires significant judgement relating to the level of PATFTIER « Wik B EUAKEMLE
revenue and the amount of operating costs. The Group uses all B ANE EARAET - AREEFIAAMER
readily available information in determining an amount that is a BHNERS AW ESBIESENGHE -
reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount, including BIEE EMA] TR A KU A R
estimates based on reasonable and supportable assumptions and ERAWES o MEt SN E A gLH
projections of revenue and operating costs. Changes in these BEMRABEEEEANTE  Wrsk
estimates could have a significant impact on the carrying amounts BB AR R AR E TR BRI R (B S ]
of the assets and could result in additional impairment charge or EETIRABEEE - REWMEAR - ¥
reversal of impairment in future periods. The carrying amounts ¥ BERREEAEREAEEES
of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets as Al A AR207,674,0007T (ZF=—
at the end of the reporting period are RMB207,674,000 (2021: F: HARY215,395,0007T) R AR
RMB215,395,000) and RMB91,830,000 (2021: RMB92,421,000) #91,830,000T (ZE=—4F : AR
respectively. 92,421,0007T) °
Impairment of trade and other receivables JEURR 7 12 L it JE B 7L B
The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL (including REBFZRATEEE EERERNIE
trade and other receivables) based on assumptions about risk B (‘BB R YR AR R R H At FE U R IE) B
of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement BRAELRR R TEHREIEE  RERED
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the BiE - ERNAKE 2 BERE - RA™
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing SARIA R BTRE M hET - AEER SR
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end HHRERZ SRR EETEREL
of each reporting period as set out in note 2.9. B A\ BRI g (B FIET (RM1EE2.9) -

108 SHENZHEN NEPTUNUS INTERLONG BIO-TECHNIQUE COMPANY LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fre R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BEZZT-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

4. EERGTHETTRHE (&)

4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
(Continued)

4.1 Estimation uncertainty (Continued) 4.1

CEIROCEESESCE )

Impairment of trade and other receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate carrying amounts of
trade receivables and other receivables (excluding prepayment
and value-added tax recoverable) amounted to RMB205,021,000
(2021: RMB186,797,000) (net of ECL allowance of
RMB24,120,000 (2021: RMB25,520,000)) and RMB87,078,000
(2021: RMB44,489,000) (net of ECL allowance of RMB1,825,000
(2021: RMB1,920,000)) respectively.

When the actual future cash flows are different from expected,
such difference will impact the carrying amount of trade
receivables and other items within the scope of ECL under HKFRS
9 and credit losses in the periods in which such estimate has been
changed.

Write-down of inventories

The Group determines the write-down of inventories with
reference to inventories ageing analysis, projections of expected
future saleability of inventories and the management'’s experience
and judgement. A write-down of inventories will be made when
the carrying amounts of inventories decline below their estimated
net realisable value. Due to changes in market conditions, actual
saleability of goods may be different from estimation and profit
or loss could be affected by differences in the estimation. The
carrying amounts of inventories as at the end of the reporting
period is RMB203,023,000 (2021: RMB157,954,000).

Impairment of intangible assets

The Group performs impairment test of intangible assets in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2.18. The
recoverable amounts are the higher of fair value less cost of
disposal and value in use. The calculations of value in use require
the use of estimates and assumptions made by management on
the future operation of the business, pre-tax discount rate and
other assumptions underlying the value in use calculations. The
carrying amounts of intangible assets as at the end of reporting
period is RMB110,400,000 (2021: RMB115,754,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-—_F+-A=+—HILFE

4. EREFHMEFIRAE (&)

4. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements
(Continued)

4.1 Estimation uncertainty (Continued) 4.1 {HEFTHBRZE (&)
Impairment of goodwill B E

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in
note 2.18. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates about future cash
flows and discount rates. In the process of estimating expected

REEIRRM 2. 18Pl G St BER T &
AR ERD LR EMRE - REELE
B RmeEERNMEREENE
52#% o RERTEAZKEMBRARINEK

imb&?ﬁiﬁ?ﬁ’]fﬁﬁr EA1$uf%ﬁiHﬁ*
;Kiﬁi/ma’] %3':':'3 AE%?;*EE;K”&DIL

KomFIVER R o ;Ziﬁﬁj*“éiifk%%#

\ MEH - ERERAEFEER

f:,éﬁu\gﬂlﬁmzi}ﬁm?éﬁ%a@

CREHEAFARE - R_T__F

+ HerfEi HAENEEEAAR

#96,524,000L (= =—F : AR¥E
96,524,0007T) °

future cash flows management makes assumptions about future
revenue and profits. These assumptions relate to future events
and circumstances. The actual results may vary and may cause a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of goodwill within the
next financial year. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount
of goodwill was RMB96,524,000 (2021: RMB96,524,000).

5. Revenue 5. WA
Revenue arises mainly from manufacturing and selling of medicines and WA EEREEEREE SR RRER -
healthcare products.
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Manufacturing and selling of medicines A EANHE B 694,840 510,221
Sales and distribution of medicines and SHE Ko SHEEm kR &M
healthcare products 291,851 328,584
986,691 838,805

RAFE - EEMME SRR ABIEEERS
WiEEH AR®E113,600,000 (ZF = —
& 4 AR#55,951,0007T) °

During the year, revenue from manufacturing and selling of medicines
included sales of medical devices of RMB113,600,000 (2021:
RMB55,951,000).
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Segment Reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised
by a mixture of both business lines (products and services) and
geographical location. In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s executive directors,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of resources
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented the
following two reportable segments.

(i)  Manufacturing and selling of medicines; and
(i) Sales and distribution of medicines and healthcare products.

Currently, all the Group'’s activities above are carried out in the PRC. No
reportable operating segment has been aggregated.

The first segment derives its revenue from manufacturing, sales of
medicines and medical devices.

The second segment derives its revenue from sales and distribution of
medicines and healthcare products.

(@) Segment results, assets and liabilities
Segment assets include all current and non-current assets with
the exception of deferred tax assets. Segment liabilities include all
current and non-current liabilities with the exception of current
taxation and deferred tax liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to revenue generated by and the expenses incurred
by those segments except for corporate income and expenses
which are not directly attributable to the business activities of
any reportable segment. Inter-segment revenue are priced with
reference to prices charged to external parties for similar orders.

Y BEREFEEYRMROARAE  2022FF7, 11
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

6. Segment Reporting (Continued) 6. D2 (E)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued) (a) PEPELE  BEREE(E)
Sales and distribution of
Manufacturing and medicines and healthcare
selling of medicines products Total
LERHEER HERIHERRRER -
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E_C& “BE-F —E-CF 3 —EB-CF “E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFT ARETT ARETT ARET T AREFT
Segment revenue 2EHBA
Revenue from external customers — SMREEIA 694,840 510,221 291,851 328,584 986,691 838,805
Inter-segment revenue DEBRYA 29,932 37,580 35,113 8,734 65,045 46,314
Reportable segment revenue GIL:E G0N 724,772 547,801 326,964 337,318 1,051,736 885,119
Reportable segment profit MERRAHRA 83,937 34,022 5,662 9,157 89,599 43179
Write-down of inventories iz s (1,439) (5,604) (2,110) (615) (3,549) (6,219)
Reversal of write-down of inventories %[l 3,089 - - 249 3,089 249
Impairment of: i -
~ trade receivables — R (180) (3137) (3,586) (386) (3,766) (3,523)
— other receivables —Hi YR - (16) - (700) = (716)
Reversal of impairment of: REEEER :
- trade receivables —BYERR 923 562 - 534 923 1,096
~ other receivables — A thEWEIE - 128 12 13 12 141
Bank interest income FITRIBHA 6,256 1,224 215 1,465 6,471 2,689
Principal protected deposits interest (RIS UA
income - 5533 - - - 5533
Depreciation and amortisation of ~ FFEEIEERNEREH
non-financial assets (32,057) (27,559) (3,887) (2,709) (35,944) (30,268)
Reversal of impairment B EERNREAR
of intangible assets ‘ - 858 - - - 858
Loss on disposalfwrite-off of property, (& /EME -« BEK
plant and equipment XEREE (2,610) (105) (28) (472) (2,638) (577)
Write-back of trade and ARES W E R
other payables #E - 578 - - = 578
Finance costs HBER (6,957) (4,516) (75) (80) (7,032) (4,59)
Reportable segment assets TR HEE 1,059,172 922,969 657,586 505,032 1,716,758 1,428,001
Additions to non-current segment  AFEFEIERE)
assets (other than deferred tax RREAE (RET
assets) during the year HEEEMN 20,614 112,177 5,097 3211 25,711 115,388
Reportable segment liabilities ~ AHHAIHEE 545,283 408,754 133,449 48,879 678,732 457,633
The Group’s customer base is diversified and no customer with REBEEZT-_—_FR=_Z=_—F+=H4
whom transactions have exceeded 10% of the Group's revenue =t+—HItFEE NERRFEEZT(L - &
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. R ER S EAE TR S B AN EFJIEA

#910% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

R EREREENERMROBRAT 20226 F5k 113

6. Segment Reporting (Continued) 6. DEE2IR(E)
(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit (b) FEHIBDEUYA - BrBiIFIER BEER
before taxation, assets and liabilities EENYER
2022 2021
—E_F T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Revenue WA
Reportable segment revenue A R ER D FPUA 1,051,736 885,119
Elimination of inter-segment revenue HEREM A (65,045) (46,314)
Consolidated revenue AN 986,691 838,805
Profit before taxation BR%t A= F
Reportable segment profit AJ AR5 2B A 89,599 43,179
Elimination of inter-segment profit 73 B Fe s 4K 8 (4,361) (1,351)
Reportable segment profit derived from REAREBINREF HYA] B3R
the Group’s external customers 5 BB A 85,238 41,828
Unallocated corporate expenses ROMEHERT (2,977) (2,718)
Consolidated profit before taxation MREL B4R A Y 1) 82,261 39,110
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AR EEE 1,716,758 1,428,001
Elimination of inter-segment receivables 53 50 I PR W R TE 1 8 (273,989) (127,161)
1,442,769 1,300,840
Deferred tax assets IRAEFIIE & B 5,461 6,730
Consolidated total assets IRAEBERT 1,448,230 1,307,570
Liabilities =L
Reportable segment liabilities AR EEE 678,732 457,633
Elimination of inter-segment payables 7SR S ORI 8 (273,989) (127,161)
404,743 330,472
Current taxation BNER7A 18 13,052 6,578
Deferred tax liabilities REFIBEEE 25,131 26,120
Consolidated total liabilities IRAEBEAR 442,926 363,170




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
s 2 23

T E BT ERER M5

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

6. Segment Reporting (Continued) 6. DEBZHR (&)
(c) Revenue from major products and services () REFEEMRRBEHHBA
The following is an analysis of the Group'’s revenue from its major AT AEASE 2 E R MREHUA
products and services: DT
2022 2021
—EB-CHF —E-—4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARETTT
Sales of medicines and healthcare products %% &R & RS E 873,091 782,854
Sales of medical devices EEESMIHE 113,600 55,951
986,691 838,805
(d) Geographical information (d) HEER
The Group'’s revenue was derived from business activities in the REEHBARBERFREELEE) -
PRC and the non-current assets of the Group were located in BARSEOEREEEIMIRPE o 5
the PRC. Accordingly, no analysis by geographical segment is FAN - AEENEZEEMRFE o
provided. It - EREHIE S AT o
(e) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (e) AARBEFEHHWA
The Group derives revenue from sales of medicines, healthcare AEBENE—FERE T3 EFER
products and medical devices at a point in time from the following SN E S m MR D - BESEM L
types of customers: EriHEEERBEEKA
Hospital Pharmacy Others Total
B HE Hit st
2022 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
—E-—F AR¥T T AR¥F T AR¥T T AR¥T T
Manufacturing and selling of HERHEER
medicines 68,349 621,307 5,184 694,840
Sales and distribution of $HE D tHEm
medicines and healthcare RAREm
products - 291,851 - 291,851

68,349 913,158 5,184 986,691
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

6. Segment Reporting (Continued) 6. DEBZIR (&)
(e) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers (e) MAKBEEFEHNHUWA (&)
(Continued)
Hospital Pharmacy Others Total
L E HA #ast
2021 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB‘'000 RMB’000
—E- ARETIT ARBTIT ARBTIT AREETTT
Manufacturing and selling of FERIEEER
medicines 68,613 436,622 4,986 510,221
Sales and distribution of SHE R iH%Em
medicines and healthcare R AR IE
products - 328,584 - 328,584
68,613 765,206 4,986 838,805
7. Other Revenue and Other Net Income 7. HAWAREMUAFRE
2022 2021
—EC 8 T4
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETT
Other revenue Hg A
Interest income from bank deposits RITIF R B 6,471 2,689
Interest income from principal protected RABIFFF) EMA
deposits - 5,533
Government subsidies: 2GR
— released from deferred revenue — B R IRE s 401 451
— directly recognised in profit or loss —HE B 5,383 5,014
Licence fee income HEEIE=J'ON 7,547 9,434
Others EHh 815 1,403
20,617 24,524
Other net income Htgl A F58
Reversal of write-down of inventories FEMRED 3,089 249
Over-provision of expenses in prior years JREIARTE EiRE & = 2,230
Net foreign exchange gains b b Wz RE 24 27
Write-back of trade and other payables FEAT AR R R EAth FE A~ R IE B [B] - 578
Reversal of impairment of intangible assets & & AR E B @ - 858
Others Hith 312 256
3,425 4,198
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8. Profit before Taxation 8. PBRFA=EF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRF B A T AEHIBR (G A) AT B 18
2022 2021
—E:-—F T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREFTT
(a) Finance costs (a) MHKEH
Interest on bank loans, amount due to RITER - B IEERR
a non-controlling shareholder and [ ER TR IE R EoAth R A FILE
other borrowings 6,375 4,117
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBENTBEWE 657 479
7,032 4,596
(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) EIRAN(BIEEEHSE)
emoluments) (note) GE
Contributions to defined contribution TEREH FURIRET BB (R
retirement plans 19,901 15,408
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe  TENMEMEF 131,367 104,675
151,268 120,083

Note:

- Staff costs of RMB47,107,000, RMB38,847,000, RMB45,445,000
and RMB19,869,000* (2021: RMB35,972,000, RMB28,357,000,
RMB39,367,000 and RMB16,387,000%) are included in cost of sales, selling
and distribution expenses, administrative expenses and other operating
expenses respectively.

- At 31 December 2022, the Group had no forfeited contributions available
to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years (2021:
RMB nil).

fiE

BTHRAARYA7,107,0007C * AR
38,847,000t + AR#45,445,0007T & A
K%19,869,000t* (ZZ=—% : ARK
35,972,0007T + AR#¥28,357,0007T * AR
#39,367,0007T K A R # 16,387,000 *) 7
BT ASHERA « HE R HMAY « T
T REAGER

R-ZZB_—_F+_A=1t—H ~&H
I AR W R AT SR A R R FE
MBESEMHERCE_—F: A
REZETT) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

@*ﬁﬁﬁ\\;'\%u (nﬁ)
B R AR A 948 H0BR S (G A) AT R IH ¢

8. Profit before Taxation (Continued) 8.

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): (Continued)

(&)

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
(c) Other items () HfER
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEETE 6,901 4,799
Amortisation of intangible assets* BB R 4,751 3,436
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BEREETE
equipment 24,292 22,033
(Reversal of impairment of)/Impairment of: CRUEHRR) RE
— trade receivables, net — R RR RS 8 2,843 2,427
— other receivables, net — F b EMGRIE F 58 (12) 575
Reversal of impairment loss of intangible B A E R EEERR *
assets* = (858)
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, HE S REEYEE BB REE
plant and equipment* B s e * 2,638 577
Auditor’s remuneration: IZERRT B
— Audit services —E T IRTS 1,331 1,232
— Non-audit services —EEAT RS 650 474
Lease charges in respect of short term EEEECHESH
leases 42 1,372
Cost of inventories FEKA 442,902 453,737
Write-down of inventories* TFE MR * 3,549 6,219
Write-back of trade and other payables P 1 B 0  EL A P AF SR IE 185 ) - (578)
Write-off of right-of-use assets {5 A & = SRR - 66
Write-off of intangible assets T B B R - 8
Reversal of write-down of inventories BB 1F S MO (3.089) (249)
Research and development costs* THEE & A+ (B FEHT E8(0)A
(including salaries, wages and other BF e« TERHEMER
benefits of RMB 19,869,000 (2021: /\Eﬁm 869,0007T
RMB16,387,000) in note 8(b)) (T =% : AR¥%
16,387,0007T)) 28,723 25,203
Net foreign exchange gains b 3, W 2 F 28 (24) (27)
*  These amounts are included in “Other operating expenses” in the * WESEHAGEERREMSEKERN

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

[EAR SRS A
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

9. Income Tax Expense 9. FBBiRX
2022 2021
—E-CF — T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTFT
Current tax BIHARE 1E
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") HR B 2R PTAS AT
(TEZEAMER)
Current year REE 18,151 8,940
Deferred tax B E
Current year (note 26) NEE (f7E26) 280 (4,136)
18,431 4,804
Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the Group had no REBE_TE-__Fk=_FE=_—%+=A
assessable profits subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended =+ —HIEFE  HRAEEN EEMANE
31 December 2022 and 2021. BHEHHERTOEN - SRR FEAL &

FHEBRENSHEME -

During the year ended 31 December 2022, three (2021: three) HE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HIFE " K
subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC are qualified as “High SERFBKIN=[(CZE=—%F : =H)
and New Technology Enterprise”. In accordance with the applicable MEBAREERKARAMEMEZE] - BI&
Enterprise Income Tax Law (“EIT”) of the PRC, these subsidiaries are HERARBEEMEEE(EERBEE]D -
subject to the PRC EIT at a preferential rate of 15%. ZEW B R RIEIR15% BB AP

EFTEH
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Income Tax Expense (Continued)

According to a policy promulgated by the State Tax Bureau of the
PRC, effective from 2019 onwards, enterprises engage in research and
development activities are entitled to claim 175% of the research and
development expenses incurred in a year as tax deductible expenses
in determining the taxable profits for that year (“Super Deduction”).
Three (2021: Three) subsidiaries of the Group are eligible to such Super
Deduction in ascertaining its assessable profits for the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Company and other PRC subsidiaries are subject to the PRC EIT at a
rate of 25% (2021: 25%) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Reconciliation between income tax expense and accounting profit at
the applicable tax rates:

fre R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

FriE®ip X (@)
BEFBEERHEEBEMBE  B=F
—NER - REFBEDHNEEFEERT
ZEENERBENR - EXREZFEEE
KB EE B BV 175%(E AT ELFZ ([HBAR
MNKRIE]) - AEE = (CZE=—F : =f)
WEBAREREEHEEZE T _—F+_A
=T HIEFENERBEHE » Al Z2Z
LB HBRIA o

BHE-ZS-_—F#+-A=+—HILEE -
ARRE R EA BN E AR AEZ25% (—F
——F 25%) W BB RS H R
w35 o

PRSTA R S BB A R ET E & 5HE FI A
HiR

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT ARETTT
Profit before taxation B F5t Al S A 82,261 39,110
Tax on profit before taxation, calculated at %2R FH I & BEAE 4 358 R 8 PR 75 =R
the rates applicable to profits in the tax TEBRE AR TR
jurisdiction concerned 13,192 6,892
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses B A ORISR 14,808 6,220
Tax effect of non-taxable income IR R TS R 2 (5.788) (5,446)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not )R AT R TER A
recognised HIEEE (3,781) (2,862)
Income tax expense FRiSHif 2 18,431 4,804
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-E-__F+-A=1+—HILFE \
=0
10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments 10.

Directors’ and chief executive’s (that is, general manager) emoluments
disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2022 —EC-CE
Executive directors HiTES
Mr. Zhang Feng R E

BRI (o)

Mr. Huang Jian Bo (note ¢)

Non-executive directors FHTES

Ms. Yu Lin Tzt

Mr. Shen Da Kai AR EE

Mr. Zhang Yi Fei (note b) REMSA (kD)
Mr. Xu Yan He (note d) RIS A (P Ed)
Mr. Jin Rui (note e) S5 4 (ke
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon SKBEEAE

Mr. Poon Ka Yeung VA e

Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou EalALE

BEERSHTHRAEME
RIRGEM L #R Al « BB R RMEHIFE383(1)
R AR (FEEESMmER) R 5152505
BENEERSRITERA S GIAELIR) 5B
T
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments 10. EERSRITHAEMNE (B)
(Continued)

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors'’ and benefits- scheme
fees in kind contributions Total
o= BRG]
5502 REWFE= HHR FCE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

2021 —E--f

Executive directors HiTES

Mr. Zhang Feng REESEE 100 - - 100
Mr. Zhou Hang (note a) B e A& (Pt Ea) 19 42 4 65
Mr. Huang Jian Bo (note c) BRI A& (st 100 479 61 640
Non-executive directors FHITES

Ms. Yu Lin Tkt 100 - - 100
Mr. Shen Da Kai R AL 100 = - 100
Mr. Xu Yan He (note d) TREMEE (PiH3Ed) 100 604 2 706
Mr. Zhang Yi Fei (note b) REMRSE (D) 75 - - 75

Independent non-executive directors BYFHITES

Mr. Yick Wing Fat, Simon SXELE 212 - - 212
Mr. Poon Ka Yeung VA bt 106 - - 106
Mr. Zhang Jian Zhou ERlf R 100 - - 100
1,012 1,125 67 2,204
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no emoluments RBE-ZTE-_—_FEKR-_F=-—F+=-H4
were paid or payable by the Group to any of the directors as an =T—HIEFE - AEEWERES M
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for ® - ERMARE B SANAZEK E & 6 526
loss of office. SAERBERAE -
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed REBEZT-_—_FR_F=_—F+=A1
to waive any remuneration during the years ended 31 December 2022 =+—HILFE  WESENEXRENE
and 2021. EIENE H 2k
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

10. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:

(@)  Resigned as an executive director on 8 February 2021.

(b)  Appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 1 March 2021.

(c)  Appointed as an executive director and general manager for a term of 3
years with effect from 25 June 2020.

(d)  Passed away as a non-executive director on 21 March 2022.

(e)  Appointed as a non-executive director with effect from 13 May 2022.

11. Five Highest Paid individuals’ Emoluments

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
for the year included one (2021: two) directors of the Company whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis in note 10. The aggregate
emoluments payable to the remaining four (2021: three) individuals
during the year are as follows:

10.

11.

EENSRITHRAEME (&)

FisE
(@ R-BE-_—F_AN\BREHTES -

(b) BZE=—F=F—BEREZERIFNTE
=

(0 EZEARTESRAKE F£H=F 8
—E_TENATRBREER -

(d) (ERIEMITEEN -_ZT-_—F=A—-1+—8
Attt o

() B-Z__FhAT=RAREZERIFNT
5=

T AR SH A L A5
FAREERLERSHFALTHEBE—R(Z
T WAB)ARAEF - REZME
ERBRIF108 DT o F AR EER
mE(CZ=—F : =R)AAOMeEEN
T

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREET T

Salaries and other emoluments e kEMmNES 2,497 1,580
Retirement scheme contributions RORET IR 90 78
2,587 1,658

Their emoluments are all within the band of HK$nil to HK$1,500,000
(equivalent to RMB1,332,000) for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.

12. Dividends

The directors do not propose the payment of any dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: RMB nil).

12.

BE—ZT__FR—F_—FHFH=t—
AtFERsFEENEFMEEN T8
JC21,500,0007 7T (F 498 AR 1,332,000
JL) °

BE
EFUARBENBE B =5+ f
S+—ALFECARE(CEI—F A
R%T) -
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X = A
# N AR e I SRR M EE
) [ ek { For the year ended 31 December 2022
) J HE_Z-—F+-"HA=+—HIFE
75
13. Earnings Per Share 13. BIREF|
Basic earnings per share BRELER
The calculation of basic earnings per share has been based on the profit BREAZBNERBARTHEE AELR
attributable to owners of the Company of RMB54,346,000 (2021: AR¥54,346,000 (ZZE=—F : ARK
RMB35,958,000) and the weighted average number of 1,678,000,000 35,958,0007T) * A RAEFE WE%’*H%@
(2021: 1,678,000,000) ordinary shares in issue during the year. & Ay hn#E 5 2101,678,000,0008% (=T =
4 : 1,678,000,000/%) @R H °
Diluted earnings per share FREEET
Diluted earnings per share equals to basic earnings per share as there A R E 2 3R E I B INE S
were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding for both years AR WEERESRNENERERR
presented. A o
14. Property, Plant and Equipment 14. Y% - BERZE

Cost AR
At 1 January 2022 RZB-—#-A-A
Additions HE
Transfer g2
Write-off &%
At 31 December 2022 RZB=Z§+ZB=1-R

Accumulated depreciation and ZIAERAE

impairment
At1 January 202 R=B==%-A-B
Charge for the year REERH
Eliminated on write-off kL
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZf+ZA=1-H
Carrying amount HEE
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZA=1-H
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 14. Y12 ~ BERZE (E)
Furniture,
Leasehold Plant and Motor fixturesand ~ Construction-
Buildings  improvements machinery vehicles equipment in-progress Total
iy iR %2
BT 5 Bk 7B Rt fRIR &5

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARMTTE  ARMTT  ARMTR  ARETR ARETR ARBTR AR

Cost BRAR

At 1 January 2021 R=E--F-A-H 129,282 5,257 106,423 8,250 15,557 6,750 271,519
Additions e 862 1,44 583 2745 2570 1,406 14,659
Acquisition of a subsiciary (note 31) ~ WE—RINBAR(H31) 54012 - 2416 349 7781 - 64,558
Write-off i - - (13,799) (1,256) (367) - (15422)
Transfer B 7,758 398 - - - (8,156) -
At 31 December 2021 R=BZ-F+Zf=1-A 191,914 6,399 100,872 10,088 25,541 - 335,314

Accumulated depreciation and ZHTERAE

impairment
At 1 January 2021 RZEZ-F-A-A (41,447) (3.254) (55,566) (3,024) (9,440) = (112,731)
Charge for the year AEERH (8,534) (1,210) (3.391) (1,464) (2,434) - (22,033)
Eliminated on wite-off HEBHH - - 13711 792 32 - 14,845
At 31 December 2021 RZB=-%tZA=1-A (49,981) (4.464) (50,246) (3.696) (11,532) - (119919)
Carrying amount BEE
At 31 December 2021 RZB=-F+ZR=1-H 141,933 2435 50,626 6,392 14,009 - 215,395
At 31 December 2022, the Group'’s buildings with a carrying amount of RZBE_—F+_A=+—H  xEBELK
RMB24,387,000 (2021: RMB78,972,000) were pledged to secure the HEARK24,387,000c (= =—%F : A
Group's banking facilities of RMB61,000,000 (2021: RMB161,000,000), R#78,972,0007T) KIEFE (AN EBR
of which RMB57,070,000 (2021: RMB61,000,000) have been utilised as TREE ARE61,000,000c(Z = —4 ¢
at 31 December 2022. AE¥161,000,0007T) KIHEHA D - EF A
R#57,070,000 (T = —%F : AR
61,000,000L) R =B =F+=A=+—
HE®A -
At 31 December 2022, the Group's furniture, fixtures and equipment R-ZE-—F+-A=+—8 ' ~AEBEREK
with a carrying amount of RMB1,822,000 (202 1: RMB nil) were pledged HEARK1,822,000c(ZE=—F : AR
to secure the Group’s other borrowings. MO HRE - B NBRED KBRS

AEEZHMEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

15. Right-of-use assets 15. EREEE
Prepaid
lease Office
payments Buildings equipment Total
KN
HERIE BF BAERE Bt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFIT ARBFIT ARBTFT
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (b))
(Ff5E(@)) (P E () (F5E(b))
Net carrying amount RZE=—F—A—HAK

at 1 January 2021 BREFE 56,169 756 = 56,925
Additions NE = 850 = 850
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 31) U iE — R B A &

(F45E31) 30,725 - 8,343 39,068
Depreciation e (2,263) (1,482) (1,054) (4,799)
Wirite-off Rz - - (66) (66)
Lease modification HEEE] - 443 - 443
Net carrying amount at R=—F=_—-%+=A

31 December 2021 and =+—HR=-E=-_—F%

1 January 2022 — A —HNEREFE 84,631 567 7,223 92,421
Additions INE - 6,482 - 6,482
Depreciation e (2,561) (2,607) (1,733) (6,901)
Wirite-off HhRE - (172) - (172)
Net carrying amount at R=—F=_—_F+=A

31 December 2022 =t+—HHNEREFE 82,070 4,270 5,490 91,830
Notes: F3E
(@)  The prepaid lease payments represent prepayments in relation to leases of (@) HENHEEFIEELATENHEE AR

land in the PRC which were amortised over the lease term on a straight- M ZERNEEREREERHERERE
line basis. By o

At 31 December 2022, no prepaid lease payments of the Group were RZZEZZF+A=+—0H  AKEL
pledged. At 31 December 2021, the Group’s prepaid lease payments with EOERZEMNEERE RZT=Z—F
a carrying amount of RMB84,631,000 were pledged to secure the Group’s +TZA=+—8  AEERAEHARE
banking facilities of RMB161,000,000 of which RMB61,000,000 have been 84,631,000 AN EREREARER
utilised. RTTREE AR ¥ 161,000,000 T A9 G -

(b)

Hehgg AR#61,000,0007cEEA ©

Details of the leases are set out in note 25. (b) THEKFIFHRMIEE25 -
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HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

16. Intangible Assets 16. B EE
Anesthetic
drug Internally
production Acquired  developed
Computer and selling Trade  Customer technical technical Selling
software  Trademarks right name lit  know-how  know-how licences Total
il BhEh  mEER

Bt i1 EBR  RBER BFRE EARM BAMN BEROR it
RVBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBION0
ARBTR  ARMTT  ARETn  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR ARETR AREAR

note 16(a) note 16(a) note 16(b) note 16(c) note 16(d)
Ti3¥16(a) Hiz16(a) Ti3%16(0) fiz16(0 HiEE16(d)

Cost TS
At 1 January 2021 R-E--%-A-H 1412 75 53,143 46,483 39,502 3 821 6,763 148222
Acquiston of a subsidary (note 31) W& —EHBRA (H:31) - 626 - = 18587 = - 6,831 26,044
Write-off BE (13) - - - - - - - (13)
Additions HE 822 - - - - 3] 2,351 145 3,355
At 31 December 2021 and R-B--%+-f=1-H

1 January 2022 R=E--%-f-H 221 101 53,143 46,483 58,089 60 3172 13739 177,608
Write-off HE - - - - - - - (623) (623)
Additions e 0 - - - - - - - 2
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—E+-f=t-H 224 101 53,143 46,483 58,089 60 31 13,116 177,005
Accumulated amortisationand ~ EitEEREE

impairment
At 1 January 2021 R-E--&-f-H (885) (75 (17.059) - (39,502) - (67) (1,693) (59,281)
Reversal of impaiment loss for ~— AEEHEEREMD

the year - - 858 - - - - - 858
Amortisation charge for the year — AEFE#HT (176) (116) - - (1,084) 2 31 (1,741) (3436)
Write-off HE 5 - - - - - - - 5
At 31 December 2021 and RZE_—F+-B=1-H

1 January 2022 R=E--%-A-H (1,056) (191) (16,201) - (40,586) 0] (384) (3434) (61,854)
Amortisaton charge for the year A& (219 (199) - - (1,859) (4) (19 (245) (8,751)
At 31 December 2022 W-BZZE1+Zh=t-R (1.275) (390) (16.201) - (42,445) 6) (402) (5,886) (66,605)
Carrying amount e
At 31 December 2022 W-BZZE+Zh=t-R 966 M 36,942 46,483 15,644 54 2710 7230 110,400
At 31 December 2021 R=E--F+-f=1-A 1,165 510 36,942 46,433 17,503 53 2788 10,305 115,754
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16. Intangible Assets (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Anesthetic drug production and selling right and trade name

The anesthetic drug production and selling right and the trade name
used to produce revenue to the segment of manufacturing and selling
of medicines under Fuzhou Neptunus Fuyao Pharmaceutical Company
Limited (“Neptunus Fuyao”). The anesthetic drug production and selling
right carries a sole narcotic production and selling right in Fujian Province
as designated by the State, and has no foreseeable limit to the period
over which the Group can use to generate net cashflows. As a result, the
anesthetic drug production and selling right and trade name was assessed
by the management of the Group as having an indefinite useful life and is
not amortised. It is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is
an indication that it may be impaired.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the recoverable amounts of anesthetic
drug production and selling right and trade name were assessed by
reference to a valuation carried out by Verity Appraisals Company Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer with appropriate qualification
and experience in the valuation of similar assets in the relevant industry. As
the assessed value of anesthetic drug production and selling right is higher
(2021: higher) than its carrying amount, no provision for impairment loss
(2021: reversal of provision for impairment loss of RMB858,000) was made
during the year. In respect of trade name, as the assessed value is higher
than its carrying amount as at 31 December 2022 and 2021, no provision
for impairment loss is considered necessary.

The recoverable amount of anesthetic drug production and selling right
is determined based on value in use calculations. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budget approved by the executive
directors covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond five-year period
are extrapolated using an average growth rate of 2% (2021: 2%). The
growth rates used do not exceed the long-term average growth rates of
the medical industries. The cash flows are discounted using a discount rate
of 25.06% (2021: 23.5%). The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

The recoverable amount of trade name is determined based on the fair
value of trade name as measured using a royalty rate of 5.1% (2021:
5.1%) on sales and a discount rate of 24.3% (2021: 23.1%). The annual
sales were projected based on financial budgets approved by the executive
directors covering a five-year period and has been extrapolated using an
average growth rate of 2% (2021: 2%). The average growth rate of 2%
(2021: 2%) is based on the average of 10-year consumer price index in
the PRC and does not exceed the long-term average growth rates of the
pharmaceutical industries.
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FifsE -
(a) MiBHEEHBEREKER
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BENRZE MMM EERE - BASE
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HAMR o Fitt > ANEEEE E L S
HEREGERAGERRAEAFH &1
RS - REBEFETRERR - ARM
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A -
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ERLRABY A AR EEAEMEHITE
BRARETHE - AFTEERARE
—RRBEBTEFEBEEERRENUEE
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R EEENTHESR (ST —F
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BITENRPTHERE - REREMITIR
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FrEER
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. . P =
16. Intangible Assets (Continued) 16. B EE (B)

Notes: (Continued) MeE : (B

(b) Customer list (b) EFRE
The customer list has a finite useful life and is amortised on a straight-line EFZERREAFERAFRILAEBZEN10
basis over 10 years. The useful life of the customer list is determined with FREE -  EEZENFRAFRILIZZER
reference to the estimated future revenue from the customer list which BELERMGHRE RSB BEAMBERE
is based on historical information. The management is of the view that WATMETE - ERERR  10FHRHBIE -
the future economic benefits that can be derived from the customer list TR B %P4 B AR AR P s T B o
beyond the 10-year period are insignificant.
The customer list is allocated to the segment of manufacturing and selling BEREDIESEmEERHE D BEEK
of medicines. A e

() Internally developed technical know-how (c) REPBAREERI;M
Internally developed technical know-how represented development cost of A B 7 B A B A4S Bk R A ) R B AR
Sodium Bicarbonate Tablets, which has a finite useful life of 10 years. The K BEREENTFEALR o AR A
useful life is determined with reference to the estimated future revenue K2EWRBEI N R RBEARETE
from the Sodium Bicarbonate Tablets. The management is of the view that RAE B RS EE & BN A &
the future economic benefits that can be derived from the technical know- SHEEWAZFRGEE - BEEERA - 105
how beyond the 10-year period are insignificant. 1823k B B A BT AR R AL BBz 0/ A ©

(d) Selling licenses (d) SHEFAHE

Selling licences have a finite useful life and is amortised on a straight-
line basis over 5 years. The useful life is determined with reference to the
period of validity of the selling licences.

SHERT A B AR E A A FRIABFLER
SENE - AIEAFRIDSZHEFE
B MHATMEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

17. Goodwill 17. &
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTF T ARETFT
At the beginning of year REF)
Gross carrying amount HEREE 96,524 -
Accumulated impairment 2EHRE - -
96,524 -
Net carrying amount at 1 January R—A—B8REFE 96,524 =
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 31) WeiE — M B A | (MPRE31) - 96,524
Net carrying amount at 31 December R+=A=+—BMEREFE 96,524 96,524
At the end of year RER
Gross carrying amount #HARE(E 96,524 96,524
Accumulated impairment ZERIE - =
96,524 96,524
The carrying amount of goodwill, net of any impairment loss, is EEREE (MR ERREER) Do k=
allocated to the cash generating unit identified according to the B G E B Ry B FNIR G EAE
location of operation and operating segment, that is, manufacturing iz BIAE A B b Fr A 42 ap AR EE R 81 65 36 765 o

and selling of medicines business in Beijing, the PRC.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

17. Goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit was assessed
by reference to a valuation carried out by an independent qualified
professional valuer, Verity Appraisals Company Limited, and was
determined based on value-in-use calculations covering a detailed five-
year budget plan, followed by an extrapolation of expected cash flows
calculated using the growth rates set out below.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations were as follows:

17. BE(E)

ReEL BN RReE2EBILAER
BXHEMEFFIEERARETNMHEE
TaHl - WRBREFALFRETENE
REEFEREE - NIRRT XS &R
HBEERERE

AR EEREBEEMRESRERRD T

2022 2021

—E- 8 T4

Growth rate BRE 2% 3%
Discount rate (pre-tax) PR (BiAN) 15.75% 15.60%

As the recoverable amount is higher than its carrying amount as at
31 December 2022 and 2021, no provision for impairment loss is
considered necessary.

ARARESEERNERZZE__F R =F
——F+-A=+—HBMEA+HE  FEtR
BIENEFHRREEE

18. Inventories . FE
2022 2021
- T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTT
Raw materials R} 70,565 57,800
Work-in-progress ER 47,801 44,553
Finished goods BIAK 84,657 55,601
203,023 157,954

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group reversed
RMB3,089,000 (2021: RMB249,000) of an inventory write-down as the
obsolete inventories previously written down were sold.

RBE-_ZT-_—_F+-_FA=+—HItFE
A BRLERIMIRHRETEELED - &
£ (35 [0 77 EHURL A R #53,089,0007T (=&
——%F : AR¥249,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

19. Trade and Other Receivables 19. BEWERR R H AR FRIE

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—4F

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B ARETT ARBT T

Trade receivables FEUTER X 177,007 144,351
Less: ECL allowance A TBHEE R (24,120) (25,520)
152,887 118,831

Bills receivables EUEE (i) 52,134 67,966
205,021 186,797

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEU R Z B A RIFIE (ii), 33(b) 60,288 32,210
Amounts due from related companies JEURRRE N RFIAE (i), 33(b) 4,487 5,589

Amount due from an intermediate FEY R R EEA BIFRIE
parent company (i), 33(b) 330 214
Amount due from immediate EE B A RIFIE

parent company 2 -
Other receivables H b GRIE 8,796 8,396
Value-added tax recoverable EEEAEr - 5
Prepayment and deposits TERIBRIES (iif) 64,869 39,590
Less: ECL allowance B TBEEEEEEE (1,825) (1,920)
136,947 84,084

341,968 270,881

R EREREENERMROBERAT 20224 F ¥k 131



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
s 2 23

T E BT ERER M5

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

- - = ==
19. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued) 19. FEURBRFR R HAth FE SR IE (4E)
Notes: Fif3E
(i)  These bank acceptance bills matured within one year from date of issue. () ZERTEHZENBETRE—FRIIHE -
The Group considered the issuing banks of the bills are of good credit REBERSRBENBITRITEERER T
quality and therefore, the ECL of these receivables are considered to be Bt - ZEREFIENTRBEEBRERR
insignificant. BRERX -
(i) The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable within one (i) ZEREAEIE REUANER—FRNE
year. Further details on the Group’s credit policy is set out in note 32.2. & - FAARKEEEBRNE - S HEHR
fI5E32.2 ©
(i)  Prepayment and deposits mainly represent deposits prepaid in advance (i) HAbEWFIE BRFERZRESEZEERE
to suppliers of RMB27,951,000 (2021: RMB21,494,000), which aged T EENES AR 27,951,000 (=ZF
within one year and earnest money paid for potential investment of ——%F : AR®21,494,0007T) ' BRER B —
RMB15,000,000 (2021: RMB nil) . Further details on the Group’s credit F o REEREHE S/ ARK15,000,000
policy is set out in note 32.2. T(ZE=—F : ARBZT) - AREE

EEBURAE — S IE N HIE32.2

The directors of the Group consider that the fair values of trade REEEERA - BUSRF I EH A EUGRIAN 2
and other receivables are not materially different from their carrying FEEEFEmMETESAER - BRESHER
amounts because these balances have short maturity periods on their R aa R A 2 BRRF R TR R
inception.
Ageing analysis BRi 247
Trade and bills receivables are due within 30-180 days (2021: 30- FEUERE R R FEUCE IR B 23 H B A B5T30E 180
180 days) from the date of billing. Based on the invoices dates (which H(ZZT——% : 3081808 NFIHAZfF - A T A
approximate the respective revenue recognition dates), the ageing RNEE 7 IR R RN E R IR FEREEEE
analysis of the trade and bills receivables net of ECL allowance, was as R REF B (R WARR B HIEE) 252
follows: BREC DT :
Trade receivables AR
2022 2021
—Eo—F =
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBF T
Within 3 months 3fEAR 120,856 90,804
4 to 6 months 4618 A 13,485 7,185
7 to 12 months 721218 A 8,247 10,600
Over 1 year HBid1E 10,299 10,242
152,887 118,831
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BEZZT-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables is as follows:

19. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued) 19. FEUWRBRFN &K H At FEURFRIE (48)
Notes: (Continued) fisE = (88
Bills receivables W RE
2022 2021
—EC-CF —F——F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETT
Within 3 months 3fEAR 17,582 30,790
4 to 6 months 4% 61E A 34,301 37,176
7 to 12 months Z=12{8A 251 -
52,134 67,966
Impairment of trade receivables YRR E

FEURR T E R IR BB 2 BN T

2022 2021
—Eo—F —F-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET ARETT
Balance at 1 January R—A—HBH&sH% 25,520 1,765
Acquisition of a subsidiary I EE— B AR - 21,432
ECL recognised during the year FARRZ BEEEEE 3,766 3,523
ECL reversed during the year FRERL ZEREEEE (923) (1,096)
Amount written off during the year FRMEESEE (4,243) (104)
Balance at 31 December R+ A=+—H8&sH 24,120 25,520
Impairment of other receivables L B RIE AR
i s 5
The movement in the ECL allowance of other receivables is as follows: A BBHRORBERERBEZZDHOT :
2022 2021
—ECF —T-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET AREFT
Balance at 1 January R—A—BH&sH% 1,920 4,345
Acquisition of a subsidiary I —RM B AR - 2
ECL recognised during the year FNERZ B EEEE - 716
ECL reversed during the year FRERL ZEREEEE (12) (141)
Amount written off during the year FRMHSEE (83) (3,002)
Balance at 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 1,825 1,920

B EREEEYRMROARAE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

20. Time Deposits/Short-Term Bank Deposits/Bank

20. EMEREHRITER RIT

Balances and Cash HEHRRIRS
2022 2021
—EC-CF T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Non-current assets kREES
Time deposits EHFE R 30,000 30,000
Current assets RBES
Short-term bank deposits RRERSRTTER 60,000 84,000
Bank balances and cash IRITERTE LIRS 290,098 227,144
350,098 311,144
380,098 341,144

As at 31 December 2022, the time deposits carry interest at 3.99%
(2021: 3.99%) per annum. The time deposits will be matured in March
2024 (2021: March 2024).

As at 31 December 2022, the effective interest rate of short-term bank
deposits ranged from 3.80% to 3.85% (2021: 2.25% to 3.85%) per
annum. The short-term bank deposits have a maturity of within 12
months (2021: 12 months).

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from 0.25%
10 2.03% (2021: 0.3% to 1.75%) per annum.

Included in bank balances and cash of the Group is RMB380,098,000
(2021: RMB341,144,000) of bank balances denominated in RMB placed
with banks in the PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Under
the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement and Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies through
banks that are authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

R-ZZBE-_—_F+-_A=+—H ' EHEXR
BIFEHEA3.99% (ZFE = —4F : 3.99%) °
ZEHRERER_ZT_mF=A (=2 =—
F T _NFE=F)FE -

N—BE-—F+-A=+—8  BHETHE
HHEEREFRNF3.80%%E3.85% (==
——1%F :2.25%%3.85%) ° MHIRITER
R1I2EARBE(ZZ=—F : 12 A) -

RITEREMH ARG E - FRRATF
0.25%%2.03% (ZT=—%F :03%%
1.75%) °

AEBERTEBRRESBEFRR PR
MIRTTUARBEGTENRITERARE
380,098,000 (=& =—F : AR¥
341,144,0007T) > ARKEIIER] B FHEHRA
B IR B INE B IR GG R AELE - &
ERMNEERRE  AEEEESBERE
HEITINEEFAIRITIEARE LR AINE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

21. Trade and Other Payables 21. B ERREEMENTIE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’'000
B =E AR¥T T ARETTT
Trade and bills payables FERRR R IENZE 114,003 96,271
Other payables and accruals HAb R FRIE R EET B A 0) 125,191 95,337
Consideration payable FERHRAE 31 - 10,600
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries FERTR 2B A B3R (ii), 33(b) 4,935 2,008
Amount due to an intermediate parent FER R AR FRIAE
company (i), 33(b) 607 772
Amounts due to related companies FETRAE A R FIA (i), 33(b) 2,500 56
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder J&f<f 2 A% A% 58 (iii), 33(b) 20,247 1,405
267,483 206,449
Notes: BsE
()  Other payables and accruals mainly represent security deposits, VAT () HMEENKRBREFERIZERES -
payable, selling expense payable, other tax payables and final payment ERHIEER - EMNEEER « EMERMT
of construction of building of RMB21,260,000, RMB14,367,000, HREERTIRHRENKR - DRIHARE
RMB29,662,000, RMB10,047,000 and RMB3,065,000 (2021: 21,260,0007C + AR¥14,367,0007T * A
RMB 18,430,000, RMB7,056,000, RMB22,649,000, RMB3,868,000 and [R#29,662,0007T + AK#10,047,0007T
RMB9,668,000) respectively. R ARY3,065,0007T (Z2=—F : AR

18,430,0007T * AR¥7,056,0007T * AR
#22,649,0007T + AR 3,868,0007T & A
K ¥9,668,0007T) °

(i)~ The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. (i) ZERSHAERE . G5 REREREE -

(i) As at 31 December 2022, the amount due was unsecured, interest-bearing iy MW-—TE-——&#+-—B=+—0 ENAE
at 6% per annum and repayable in June 2023. As at 31 December 2021, BE . EFNEA6%RRA_E-—=F5XAHE
the amount due was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. BoR—E-——F+—-A=+—HWENSE

EER - RERERERER -

All amounts are short term and hence the carrying amounts of the A< BAREHN - Bt - AREEEA
Group’s trade and other payables are considered to be a reasonable 'f”&Emﬁﬂ&%ﬁ\lﬁa’gﬁ,ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁjé@ﬁ{/ﬁ
approximation of fair value. HLE N EMER
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

21. Trade and Other Payables (Continued) 21. ETRRF R H A RIE ()
Based on the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the trade and bills FERTER R I B At FE S BB R R 3 22 B IRV BR
payables was as follows: O -

2022 2021
—E-—F T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT AREETTT
Within 3 months 3EAR 53,404 67,705
4 to 6 months AZ6ME A 16,090 5,721
7 to 12 months 7E12{E A 31,125 9,798
Over 1 year 1A E 13,384 13,047
114,003 96,271
22. Contract Liabilities 22. EHNEE
2022 2021
—EBE-CF —E -4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTFT
Contract liabilities arising from receipts EXABRRIEZENAE
in advance 43,578 16,938
Contract liabilities outstanding at the beginning of the year amounting RETDHABEZENEBEARE
to RMB16,938,000 (2021: RMB16,345,000) have been recognised as 16,938,000t (ZZFE=—F : AR
revenue during the year. 16,345,000) © ERFRERARA -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

23. Interest-bearing Borrowings

23. fIEEE

2022 2021
—E-—F T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETIT
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Other borrowings HibEE 2,909 =
Current liabilities REEE
Short-term bank loans REEIRITER 83,106 101,137
Other borrowings HibfEE 1,922 =
85,028 101,137
87,937 101,137
As at 31 December 2022, other borrowings of RMB4,831,000 from a HE_Z-_—F+-_A=+—8 ' RKEF=

third party were secured by a pledge of the Group’s furniture, fixtures

HAREA4,831,000 Tt EMEERAER

and equipment (note 14). The effective interest rate was 6.5% and the FIE - R ERRBEEMR (HE14) - BEA
other borrowings were repayable as follows: EE6.5% K EERBE AT
2022 2021
—E- 8 B4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARETT
Carrying amount repayable IREEZER
Within one year —F R 1,922 -
In the second year F_F 1,922 -
In the third to fifth year EEEEZAHE 987 -
4,831 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-—_F+-A=+—HILFE

23. Interest-bearing Borrowings (Continued) 23. [fEBE (8)

As at 31 December 2022, the short-term bank borrowings were
denominated in RMB, repayable within one year and the securities were
as follows:

(a)

(e)

As at 31 December 2021,

Bank borrowings of RMB20,023,000 were secured by a pledge
of the Group’s buildings (note 14). The effective interest rate was
3.70%.

Bank borrowings of RMB37,047,000 were secured by a guarantee
from a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary and a pledge
of the Group'’s buildings (note 14). The effective interest rate was
4.05% to 4.35%.

Bank borrowings of RMB15,021,000 were secured by a guarantee
from a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary and a subsidiary
of the Group. The effective interest rate was 4.8% to 5%.

Bank borrowings of RMB5,007,000 were secured by a guarantee
from a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary. The effective

interest rate was 4.5%.

Bank borrowings of RMB6,008,000 were unsecured. The effective
interest rate was 4.5%.

the short-term bank borrowings were

denominated in RMB, repayable within one year and the securities were
as follows:

(a)

(b)

(0)

Bank borrowings of RMB61,000,000 were secured by a pledge of
the Group'’s buildings (note 14) and prepaid lease payments (note
15). The effective interest rate was 3.95% to 4.55%.

Bank borrowings of RMB10,000,000 were secured by a guarantee
from a director of a subsidiary and pledge of his property.

Bank borrowings of RMB30,000,000 were secured by a guarantee
from a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary and pledge of
his properties. The effective interest rate was 4.05% to 6.18%.

N-ZE-_—F+-A=+—0H ' BHERTE

EUARKTIE  R—FAERE -

WHRT

R

(e)

RITHEE AR%20,023,0007T HANEE
RIZZEY) (B 5E14) IMIRIEER - B
FR53.70% °

RITEE ARE37,047,0007T B — MEH
B Al A FEFE AR AR AR 3B &EHZIS’E@E’J
YRR (I RE14) (BB (R - B
=R 5E4.05%Z%4.35% ©

RITEE AR 15,021,0007C 8 —FE
HB A Al IR AR A R e A R B A
AIVESEAR  BBREFIEA4.8% 5% °

IRITIEE ARKS5,007,000THHBA
A IR R RAEER - BRFIR A
4.5% o

RITEBE ARK6,008,0007T &£ R
& BERFIER45% °

R-Z-_—F+-"A=+—H " WEEEN
ARBINE R —FAEE  LBATHE

1*

(a)

IRITERARK61,000,0007T B AL
B2y (MisE14) RIBERAE R (B
FE1S) (R - BEFEB3.I5%E
4.55% o

IRITIE R AR%10,000,0007T B —fH
B AR EEERER KA Y EER
o

ER1TIE KA R #30,000,0007T F — [ HF
B RIR eI AR AR RAE (R R A B W %
{EIEH - BEEFIE AB4.05%%6.18% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

24. Deferred Revenue 24, IEFEW =
2022 2021
—EBC-CF —ET-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETTT
Current portion mENEB 401 451
Non-current portion EmENE S 589 940
990 1,391
Deferred revenue represented subsidies granted by the Shenzhen B 18RI R B & 50K 81 B
Bureau of Science and Technology and/or the Shenzhen Bureau of BABBARARETHREREREHN
Finance for assisting the Group in performing research and development WY o WAK FHRIARASEENFZ
of medicines products. Income will be recognised to match with the X % - BB REERNGAFANIER
research and development expenses incurred, useful life of property, SERKRS o FBIRIEEIZAN T ¢
plant and equipment or when the project is completed. Details of the
subsidies granted are as follows:
Subsidy A Subsidy B Subsidy C Subsidy D Total
HEA BB fiBiC fHED @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

At 1 January 2021 W-E--%#-f-H 299 40 1,203 300 1,842
Amortisation for the year TEEEH = = (401) (50) (451)
At31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022~ W=F=—%+=-A=+-H

k=Z-—%—H—H 299 40 802 250 1,391
Amortisation for the year RERRHE = = (401) = (401)
At 31 December 2022 R=2-Z%+-A=t-R 299 40 401 250 990
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BE-_ZT-—_F+-A=+—HILFE

25. Lease Liabilities

25. FHE&AE

2022 2021
—E-_—F —E-—4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTFT
Total minimum lease payments: &ERERIBERE
Due within one year —F N EIH 3,341 4,434
Due in the second to fifth years FE_FEHFEH 1,714 712
5,055 5,146
Future finance charges on leases liabilities HEaENRKBEER (300) (589)
Present value of leases liabilities HEaERE 4,755 4,557
Present value of minimum lease payments:  SIEKASFHIEIRE :
Due within one year —FAEE 3,181 3,937
Due in the second to fifth years FE-_FEhFEH 1,574 620
4,755 4,557
Less: Portion due within one year included & : st ARBIBEEBE N —F
under current liabilities AEHRYER 5 (3,181) (3,937)
Portion due after one year included SAERBBRIET —F&
under non-current liabilities ZERI D 1,574 620

REBE—Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILEE -
HEMERS R AAREE,811,0007T(=
—%& : AR¥6,303,0007T) °

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total cash outflows for
the leases are RMB6,811,000 (2021: RMB6,303,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

25. Lease Liabilities (Continued) 25. HEAE (&)
Details of the lease activities HETEHS
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group has entered into leases R_EBE-_—FR-—_E-——F+-_H=+—
for land use right in the PRC, office, office equipment, staff quarters H - AEEEHRP R ERAE - #HA
and warehouse. E WAERE BEIFEEREERUME
# e
Financial statements Range of
Types of items of right-of-use Number remaining
right-of-use assets assets included in of leases lease term Particulars
EREEESER EREEENHBERRER HEHA BTHRREE #f5
Land use right in the PRC  Prepaid lease payments in “Right-of- 3 28-30 years All lease payments are prepaid upon
use assets” (2021: 3) (2021: 29-31 years) entering the contract.
RPENTERE  RIEREEEINENEETE 3 2830 FARENTRIT LA NREN o
(CB=—%:3) (ZBZ—-%:2931%)
Office Buildings in “Right-of-use assets” 1 1 year Contains an option to renew the lease for
(2021: Nil) (2021: N/A) additional 1 year after the end of the lease

by giving a six-months notice to landlord
before the end of the contract.

NS RIEREEE]NEF 1 14 BEERNERARAANEABAEENS
(CZ—F:8) (CZ=-%: TER) A EROEREBLER—F

Office equipment Office equipment in “Right-of-use 3 Within 12 months All of the contract contains an option to

assets” (2021: 3) (2021: 1 to 2 years) purchase the equipment at the end of the
lease term.

N RIEREEEIMHBAERE 3 12{8 AR FIBMANEBE—TEEE - AIERE
(ZB—F:3) (ZB=-%:129) EHEREBEZRENEE -

Warehouse Buildings in “Right-of-use assets” 1 1 year Contains an option to renew the lease for

(2021: 1) (2021: 1 year) additional 1 year after the end of the lease
by giving a two-months notice to landlord
before the end of the contract.

BE RIEREEE] BT 1 14 BETEENERARAMEABNEENS

(ZB=—%:1) (2519 A ERNEREBIER—F -

Warehouse Not applicable as short term lease 1 Within 12 months Subject to monthly fixed rental payment
exemption under HKFRS 16 applied ~ (2021: 3) (2021: Within 12 months)  and no extension option or termination
option would be exercised at the lease
commencement date.

BB FIFTRE A& B B T iR S 2R 51657 1 12AR %8 AEERSMNHRNE SR B H
BT REHERE T ER (ZB=—%:3) (CZ2=—F:120A%) HETEESRERRLE-
Staff quarter Buildings in “Right-of-use-assets” 5 1102 years Contains an option to renew the lease for
(2021: Nil) (2021: Nil) addition 1 year after the end of the lease

by giving an one-month notice to landlord
before the end of the contract.

BIFES RIEREEE|NET 5 1225 BEEANEREN —HABMEINST
(=% 8 CF=-%:8) A EROEREBER—F -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

26. Deferred Tax

26. IEIEFIE

The movement during the year in the deferred tax liabilities/(assets) is as EXEHBAR (BE)RERRNZEIT
follows:

2022 2021

—E-_—F T4

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFT ARETTT

At 1 January n—H—H 19,390 8,516

Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 31) e — KB A7) (Fd7E31) - 15,010

Recognised in profit or loss (note 9) R8s iER (I 5E9) 280 (4,136)

At 31 December m+=—BA=+—H 19,670 19,390

The movement in deferred tax liabilities/(assets) (prior to offsetting of
balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) during the year is as

FREEREERE (BE) GEHNERB
Wi R AR EERE) MECIERMT -

follows:
Fair value
change of
non-current
assets Others Total
FRBEE
WA E2E Hith #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
At 1 January 2021 RZZEZ—F—H—H 11,502 (2,986) 8,516
Acquisition of a subsidiary WiE—MK B A A
(note 31) (Fff5E31) 15,010 - 15,010
Recognised profit or loss TR B R (392) (3,744) (4,136)
At 31 December 2021 and RZZE-—F
1 January 2022 +ZA=+—HK
—E-—%—HF—H 26,120 (6,730) 19,390
Recognised profit or loss HERIE R (989) 1,269 280
At 31 December 2022 N-EBE-—F
+F=H=+—~H 25,131 (5,461) 19,670
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BEZZT-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

26. Deferred Tax (Continued) 26. IEIEFIE ()

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial R MBS RPEAN BT
position are as follows:

2022 2021
—E_F T4
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARETTT
Deferred tax assets recognised in the & BTSRRI R
consolidated statement of financial position E’\JLL%RIEQE (5,461) (6,730)
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the BERERE AR R AER
consolidated statement of financial position ~ HYIRIEF EH & (& 25,131 26,120
19,670 19,390
As at 31 December 2022, the Group has unrecognised tax losses of RZEBZZF+A=+—H - AKEEFN
RMB51,558,000 (2021: RMB73,568,000) to carry for PRC EIT purposes THAEPEMESRERBERHIEEE
as follows: AR®51,558,000 . (ZE=—F : ARK
73,568,0007T) :
2022 2021
—E-—fF T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Year of expiry: E|EIEE(p -
2022 T —F - 4,703
2023 —E_=4F 5,122 5,215
2024 —E U 4,983 4,926
2025 —“E-hHF 1,672 1,672
2026 —EREF 759 759
2030 —T=TF 940 18,154
2031 —T=—%F 38,082 38,082
51,558 73,568
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HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

27. Share Capital 27. A
2022 2021 2022 2021
Number of Number of
shares shares
—E-C& % —BCoCE —E_—&F
RAEE BEEE!
Notes ‘000 ‘000 RMB’000 RMB'000
(i TR T ARBT R ARETT
Registered, issued and fully paid: &t * E#17k
BRI :
At 1January and 31 December ~ W—A—BAK+=A
=+—H:
— Domestic shares of RMBO0.10 each — SR EEAR0.107T
HAER (i) 1,252,000 1,252,000 125,200 125,200
~ H shares of RMBO.10 each - BREBEARKC.10T
FIHRR (ii) 426,000 426,000 42,600 42,600
1,678,000 1,678,000 167,800 167,800

The shareholders of domestic shares and H shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared by the Company from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All domestic
shares and H shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual
assets.

Notes:
(i)  The domestic shares are not currently listed on any stock exchange.

(i) The H shares have been issued and listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 5 September 2005.

PO AR IR HAR MO RR L  ABMER AR A B B
EMRS - LEERAA TS SRS
—F . FENERRHRYAA RS TAE
THRSER -

GEE
) NERBEBLRAEAEAZHH L -

iy HREB-ZZTREFNARLALRETING
BHERZZMERARGEMLET -
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28. Reserves

(a)

(b)

(0

Share premium
Share premium arose from the issue of shares at prices in excess
of their par value less share issue expenses.

Statutory reserve fund

The companies of the Group incorporated in the PRC are required
to allocate at least 10% of its net profit according to its PRC
audited financial statements to the statutory reserve fund until the
balance of such reserve has reached 50% of the companies’ issued
share capital. In such case, any further appropriation is optional.
The statutory reserve fund shall only be used for making up losses
or for capitalisation into share capital, provided that the remaining
balance is not less than 20% of the issued share capital after such
capitalisation.

Capital reserve

Capital reserve comprises (i) the difference between the total
amount of fair value of shares issued to the immediate holding
company and a fellow subsidiary of the Company and the
amount of the net assets value acquired during the acquisition of
Neptunus Fuyao, (ii) the difference between the total amount of
consideration paid to the immediate parent company and a fellow
subsidiary of the Company and the amount of the net assets value
acquired during the acquisition of Shenzhen Neptunus Changjian
Pharmaceutical Company Limited, and (iii) the difference between
the total amount of consideration paid from immediate parent
company and a subsidiary of the Company and the amount of the
net assets value disposed during disposal of Taizhou Neptunus
Nano Bio-medical Technology Company Limited.
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28. f#E

(a)

(b)

(9]

MR8 8
REBET M EEHNREEBLE
EEMRERNDEITER -

EEAEE
REERHBEEMKZNARAED
75 E AR % o B AR B AR B T R O A R
10% D REEERES - EEZW R
BHREDZERREHTRAMNS50%
BRIk - RZIBERT - NRRAEREEL
ETREIMETR < EE ATEE R AT AR
e HENMERIRAE - ERRFEA
TORETEBEANENE BITRA
20%

BB

BERRERENARNRAERERAT
R—HRZKBARETORDH AT
ERBRNESTRERCWBEES
BEZENER (XN TARFAEBT
RAR—RRRNME A RN EEER
Wi R E RIEBEEFR A B PTKEE
BEFENTHRIMENER - R4
AR EBHRRIRARR—HNB AR
ENREARELERNETANALEY
BERMRERARNELHEEEFEL
EIR)ZHE
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28. Reserves (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Distributability of reserves
At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Company had no
distributable reserves.

Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders by pricing products and services commensurately
with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of net debt
to equity ratio. For this purpose, net debt is defined as total debt
(which includes interest-bearing borrowings and lease liabilities)
less bank balances and cash.

28. f#fE (&)

(d)

(e)

B2 IRME
RZBEZ—_FR-_FT-_—F+=A
=t+—B ' AR EAED RS

EXEE
AEEEREARN B R AREARNERRS
BICEMRES)  LREMBERBIRER
B3R &Rt RIS AR E AR - 77
V2 s A R B 7K 1 o e AR T (B %
BAEERAESHE -

AR B R SR R R R A
B R RSREEE (TEARS
fe AT B BB AR AR T 2 5
BB RRERIOTE - LKA
REB B AR -

REEBIFET BB AL R BB SR
HERERE - e 5 - AEBESEF
BEBRERBER (BEMSEERE
BRE)RBTERLAT -
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28. Reserves (Continued) 28. f#4E (&)
(e) Capital management (Continued) (e) EBEXEE(E)
During 2022, the Group's strategy, which was unchanged from MITZZF  REBERINARIKE
2021, was to maintain a gearing ratio within 30% to 70%. In T —FHR - RERFEREELER
order to maintain the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of 30%E70% 2fH o BHEFERNBIEL
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital %= REE AR S FARIRN T AR AR
to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce BEE% - BIIHRKRG  RMREREE
debt. The net debt to equity ratio at 31 December 2022 and 2021 PN 1@&1%&6@1%%%&%&%%5?%5&
was as follows: LEG RIE_ER-T-—F
+_J51f+ H &) E 15 #E w2 a0
T
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARETT
Total borrowings BEHE
Lease liabilities HEARE 4,755 4,557
Interest-bearing borrowings MEEE 108,184 101,137
112,939 105,694
Less: bank balances and cash W RITRASRRIRE (350,098) (311,144)
Net debt HE (237,159) (205,450)
Total equity T ABER 1,005,304 944,400
Net debt to equity ratio FEB R L N/A N/A
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29. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising From
Financing Activities
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities
can be classified as follows:

"' -~ @ i

29. EAHRBERB 2 BEZHIR

AEBEELEEREED 2 AEES A SN
F ¢

At 1 January 2022

Cash-flows:
- Payment of lease liabilities
- Proceeds
- Repayment
- Interest paid
Non-cash:
- Interest expenses
- Entering into new leases
- Write-off

At 31 December 2022

At 1 January 2021

Cash-flows:
— Payment of lease liabilities
- Proceeds
- Repayment
Non-cash:
- Interest expenses
- Entering into new leases
- Acquisition of a subsidiary
(note 31)
- Lease modification

At 31 December 2021

BeNE:
-REBERR
- FiSsE
- &
-BRFIE

E3k
-FlER%

- A E
-

RZB-ZF+=-A=t-H

A\_Z-—F—-f—H 1,059 -

9,000 10,059

BeRE:
- HEARMT (4,931) = = - (4,931)
- FifS3aE - 61,137 - = 61,137
- &7 - (10,000) - (9,000) (19,000)
FEE:
-FlERX 479 - - - 479
-ATuHHE 850 - - = 850
- -ERB AR (1)
6,657 50,000 - = 56,657
- HEE] 443 - - = 443

R=B=-%£+=ZA=+-H 4,557 101,137 = = 105,694
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30. Non-Cash Transactions

31.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered into
lease contracts in which additions to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities amounting to RMB6,482,000 (2021: RMB850,000) was
recognised at the lease commencement date.

Business Combinations

On 1 June 2021, the Group acquired 51% interest in Beijing Neptunus
Zhongxin Pharmaceutical Co., Limited (formerly known as Beijing
Zhongxin Pharmaceutical Co., Limited) (“Neptunus Zhongxin”)
from three independent third parties, at a cash consideration of
RMB76,500,000. Neptunus Zhongxin is a company principally engaged
in production and sales of medicine. Neptunus Zhongxin was acquired
so as to continue the expansion of the Group’s manufacturing and
selling of medicines operations by setting up a new production base in
Beijing, the PRC.

fre R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BEZZT-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

30. RERS

31.

HEZT-_—_F+=-A=+—HLEFE &
SEFIVETHEARY  ERFERABREER
HE S FEREINEEARE,482,0000T (= F
——4F : AR¥850,000) 2 AHE SR E

ES N
R=B=—EXA-A  AEEERRA=

%%*M*EW$tRiE¢ﬁ1¥kT

AR (ATFB AL R EERHBBRAR)
Uﬁf¢%ﬁm%%%%'ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁAE
#76,500,0007C * B LHHA—RESHE
EEREEEYNAT - WEEBEHFA
MBI KNSR B MY B2 AR B R SH S ST
R R ARSI FT A A EE A o

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of EREEHRINEERERE
acquisition
RMB’000
ARETFT
Property, plant and equipment M - BB k& 64,558
Right-of-use assets FREEE 39,068
Intangible assets mEE 26,044
Deposit for acquisition of land use rights BE T RENES 9,817
Inventories =FE 46,903
Trade and other receivables JFEE LT B R Rz L Ath P LKL kIR 33,156
Bank balances and cash RITEHREIRE 2,217
Trade and other payables JE 1T BR R R EL Ath FEE A5 SRR (163,948)
Contract liabilities EHaE (25,336)
Lease liabilities HEAE (6,657)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M ERITEE (50,000)
Tax payables FERTARIE (74)
Deferred tax liabilities REFIABE (15,010)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value BAFEYER 2 A #A B EFEERE (39,262)

R E 2
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31. ¥HA0F (&)

31. Business Combinations (Continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition WBELENESE
RMB’000
AREETTT
Consideration transferred EEERE 76,500
Non-controlling interests (49%) FEIE IR ER(49%) (19,238)
Fair value of identifiable net liabilities acquired FriiE AT a5l B EFEN A TE 39,262
Goodwill arising on acquisition IR EE R 2 96,524
Net cash outflow on acquisition of a subsidiary WiE— BB AR NREERE R
RMB’000
ARBTFT
Total cash consideration HeBRE 76,500
Less: consideration payable (note 21)* B ERRE (BfRE21) (10,600)
Consideration paid in cash BEfRERE 65,900
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FriiE 2 3 & RIReFEY (2,217)
63,683
*  The consideration payable was settled in January 2022. * ERRERZZE—F—ABKIH

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

Included in the profit for the year of the Group is loss of
RMB27,694,000 attributable to the additional business generated by
Neptunus Zhongxin. Revenue for the year includes RMB54,577,000 in
respect of Neptunus Zhongxin.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2021, the Group's revenue
would have been RMB882,309,000 and profit for the year would have
been RMB21,572,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. This pro
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily
an indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed
on 1 January 2021, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

W AR EEEENS
AEBFRGNTRESEFNEENE
INETSFEEMEE AR 27,694,0007T °
FRARABEESERHBEENARE
54,577,0007T °

WEWER =T =_—F—A—HEEE ' &
SEHE_T-_—F+-A=+—HIEFE
HIU A B A R #882,309,0007T @ F Ak
Fis A AREE21,572,0007T ° AiEEERHE
HHEPZA  T—EERRAEER=_Z=—
F—A—HAEKKELRERSERAKRAG
KB ZELE - JNIERIREERTER] o
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32. Financial Risk Management

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment
activities. The financial risks include market risk (included foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure in
respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it manages and

measures the risks.

32.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position relate to the following categories of financial

assets and financial liabilities:

ire MRS ER R T &

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

. IR EE
AEEFBNEBBKERERRIREED
RmiEAe R TAMERSERER - FEER
BiEmSER (\L%QI\’%H YSEIESEN PR
1§f§\ﬂ PR //|b§j)§iﬂ 7R

EREEHZERRETTEEREE - R
KA Ut B EE 2 1R 1 o

AEERERT AL HNERRLREEE
KEER T AL EES) o

321 eREEREEZER
RAEMBERRAERR 25| REEELA T
HIWERmEERSRBERR

2022 2021
—E-CF —E——4F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARBT T
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REBHERASTENERERE
Trade and other receivables JrE U BR 3 N EL A i U R0 292,099 231,286
Time deposits TE BT 3K 30,000 30,000
Short-term bank deposits SSHASRTTIE X 60,000 84,000
Bank balances and cash RITEBR RIS 290,098 227,144
672,197 572,430
Financial liabilities =N
Financial liabilities measured at REBHERASTTENERERS
amortised cost
Trade and other payables JE A AR R B L At AN 35K 243,069 195,525
Interest-bearing borrowings MEeEE 87,937 101,137
Lease liabilities HEAE 4,755 4,557
335,761 301,219
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R EE B R EEK (8)
nzﬁﬁﬂm

32. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
32.2 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with
creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral,
where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial
loss from defaults.

The Group'’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from time
deposits, short-term bank deposits and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are the major banks in the PRC with
established credit ratings, for which the Group considers to have
low credit risk. Given the high credit ratings of the banks, the
management does not expect any counterparties to fail to meet
its obligations.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components
of the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December
2022 and 2021 is the carrying amount as disclosed in note 32.1.

(1) Trade receivables
The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining to
the economic environment in which the customer operates.
Trade receivables are due within 30-180 days from the date
of billing. Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised)
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collaterals from
customers.

EERRES NN R — TR RAELE
E’J%i‘xfﬁ%lﬁ$§léﬁﬁﬁﬁl§ﬁa e K%
BERAR EAEEN TP RERG
%Eﬁm@%ﬁ@%ﬁﬂﬁlkmﬁﬁ
RFEIRRHBER TR ZHIEE -

AEEOEERRE 25 RN EYIRR
N EL Ao FEMCGERIA o 7N 5% (B P E R H 7€ 2R
7k~ RERIT A RIRITAER 2
SRBRER - ARZHFHNTEES
ReEERFANEERT - Bt - A&
ERREERRKE - ERRTHERS
SRR BEEERRZEET AR
NETHEME -

AEBR_Z_—_FR=_T=—F+=
B=+—RZEAMBRRERARK S
W AEERRAMTE32. 1P EERNR
MEFE -

() WAL
AEENEERBRIZZEZER
M ERIE T (MIEFEFEEME
MTRHBZ) EE - REER
BREEETHBRAERZZFERARN
%E%ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁik@ﬁ%%

B o

AEBEHMBEZRBBETEHE
EENEFETEMNEER G -
ZEFEEEREPXMNEH
IR B E RSN B AT 3R BE
h WEREFPRBEREZERPK
EERBRENKEERERRNE
£t o AR AR B 530
E180KAEIH - BURANTE
HATNREA I 4 ol By i 3 (BN AR LT
R) - ARBEREE TS REF ER
o
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
32.2 Credit risk (Continued)

()

Trade receivables (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group's historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 was determined as follows:

—E_CF
31 December 2022 +=A=1+-H

ECL rate BHEEEER
Gross carrying amount 28R EIE

— trade receivables - [EIER R
Lifetime ECL 2HBHEEEE

R BEREEREMEMROABMRAT 202254 153
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32. B ETE B E R BUR (8)
32.2 FERK ()

(@

JEW AR ()

AEBZEEN2HNEREES
BB ERUIRRBRE
% BB NERREERE
HRH R AREELEERS
BRI BB TIRAD TP
RELBINBERAEREZR
B B B H B A Ay S 1R
BIRAEETRE P EREEL
E—FED

TREINRZEZ=F+=A=+
—BE=ZE=_—F+=-HA=+—H
REEEREERBREE AR ER
IRRWTEHREESENER
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32. I RAMERE B ERBER (B)
32.2 EERK (@)

32. Financial Risk Management (Continued)
32.2 Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables(Continued) () JEUER (&
Current and Over 6 months
within 6 but less than Over 1 year
B 2 months 1 year but less than 3 Over 3 years
31 December 2021 +ZA=1+—H past due past due years past due past due Total
2R B iB6(E A BB
eEARES  EIMFEH  EIR3FaH B3 FRL 5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
ECLrate BHEEERE 0%-1% 4% 10%-50% 100% -
Gross carrying amount  42BEE{E
~ trade receivables - FERER R 109,073 1,430 10,398 23,450 144,351
Lifetime ECL LHREEE
B 58 57 1,955 23,450 25,520

(i)

As set out in note 19, at 31 December 2022, the Group
had bank acceptance bills of RMB52,134,000 (2021:
RMB67,966,000). Nonetheless, the Group only accepts bank
acceptance bills issued by banks in the PRC with good credit
rating and considers that the credit risk associated with such
bank acceptance bills to be insignificant.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include other
receivables, deposits and amounts due from related parties.
The management would make periodic collective and
individual assessment on the recoverability of these other
financial assets based on historical settlement records,
past experience and current external information and
adjusted to reflect probability-weighted forward-looking
information, including the default rate where the relevant
debtors operates. Other monitoring procedures are in place
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In these regards, the credit risk of other receivables
are considered to be low.

(i)

AN EE19FTE  R=F==F
+=-A=1+—8  KAEBZET
A BB A ARES2,134,0007T
(Z==—% : AR¥67,966,000
JC) ° A - AEBEEMTEA
B RIFEEFARMRITEIT 2R
THRALEE  WRABEZER
THEEEER ZEERBEN

H i A Er) 2 A E
H B R A ENSREE
BREEMEYRIE - FREEK
BERHNE - ERERRBEES
BECE - BELRNERINE
B EREERN A BT
TEHIE SR B8 I (B A FHE I 4K 58
EURRBERMBEORE LS
£ BEAEEBARLENED
Ko AEENCHEHLMERE
Fr o DARER AT SRER R 2 45 4 Uk
BHER - bt s - ek
REREERRERARE
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

32.2 Credit risk (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

(ii)

The ECL rate applied for the amounts due from related
parties (trade nature and non-trade nature) and other
receivables are as follows:

(a

amounts due from related parties (trade nature) are
to be considered using “0% for amounts that are
between current and within 3 months, 1% — 4% for
amounts that are more than 3 months but less than 12
months; 10% — 20% for amounts that are between 1
and 2 years, 30% — 50% for amounts that are between
2 and 3 years and 100% for amounts that are over 3
years according to the past due ageing” for calculating
the ECL.

amounts due from related parties (non-trade nature)
and other receivables are to be considered using “20%
for amounts that are between 1 and 2 years, 50% for
amounts that are between 2 and 3 years and 100%
for amounts that are over 3 years according to the past
due ageing” for calculating the ECL.

Total ECL recognised for other receivables amounted to
RMB1,825,000 (2021: RMB1,920,000).

R EREFREENRMRHOBERAT 20224 F ¥k 155
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. IR EE B ERBER (B)
32.2 &Rk (&)

(i) BB HEI AT ENE B EE

(#)
SN E T KR (B S 1EE I
BHMUE) hixFHM BN IRRE

RHBEHREEERXMT

(a) EWEEFFRIEBSHED)
W AR B R (AR 5 e HA BR iR
AT & 318 A R 5 5 58
#0% @ BB3EAETR
NREABHSEREE %-
4% 1 B2F m i EEE
10%-20% : 2E3F @ L
EARE30%-50% MR IE3F
B S RAEE100% | LARHE
TEHEEEE -

() RUKEETFAEGEESE
B B B b WK TR A AR A
ERMR BB KK 1 E24F
B REEME20% - 22 3F
B HA S R 50% MR B3
FRRSREMB100% AT
HrHEMEEEE -

ERAEMERFENESREE
BEREA A AREE1,825,0007T
(ZZ=—%F : AR™1,920,000
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 32. MKRMEREBERBER (B
32.3 Liquidity risk 323 RBELER
Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible REEBETNMEREEEREEEATH
for their own cash management, including the short-term ReEWER  BRENESEMETRE
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans to cover HiRE - MEREEERFEEARESE
expected cash demands, subject to parent company’s board ko ARG EARESSHHLE o A
approval. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and SEERIBBUR A E RERB T R IEaT
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending BB KRB TEREEH - FEURRE
covenants to ensure that it maintains sufficient amounts of cash HREMNRS  ARAEZVEHEE
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial BISTEHRRAEEERE - AEREH
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and REERESESF K - ARELKBLE
longer term. The Group relies on operating cashflows as a REMEBRBDESHEZNR - R
significant source of liquid fund. As at 31 December 2022, the T+ A=+—H  rxKEARE
Group has available unutilised banking facilities RMB3,930,000 REBETRBORDARTHRERA
(2021: RMB100,000,000) for loan and issue of bills. [R#£3,930,000T (ZTE=—4F : AR

100,000,0007T) °

Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual maturities INTOMAEER_E_—_FR=F
for its non-derivative and derivative financial liabilities as at 31 ——F+ - A=+—HRIFTERTE
December 2022 and 2021. When the creditor has a choice of CREBBENHBRTAEOIEAE - BEEA
when the liability is settled, the liability is included on the basis AILGEREENEERHER - Z8EHR
of the earliest date on when the Group can be required to pay. REE A ERZ R RTE B EZIA -
Where the settlement of the liability is in instalments, each s B ENEE D BT - BIgHS R
instalment is allocated to the earliest period in which the Group is ARG E RGN FHRE o

committed to pay.
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and the Group has no significant foreign currency risk because its
business is principally in the PRC and most of the transactions are

denominated in the Group's functional currency.

32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) B ERERE B EREER (B)
32.3 Liquidity risk (Continued) 32.3 REBELRER (F)
2022 2021
“ECCE “E-F
Total Total
Within ~ Over1year contractual Within 1 year contractual
fyearor  butwithin  undiscounted Carrying 1yearor butwithin-~ undiscounted Carying
on demand 5 years cash flow amount | on demand 5 years cash flow amount
i R AHAIE i i 17
BEDRE  1EESERN BENEEE BAE  EDE (FESEN BensuE L
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB‘000 RMB'000
AEBTR  ARETzZ  ARETR  ARBTR | ARETT  ARETT ARETR ARETR
Non-derivative finanal liabilities {4 £BEE
Intrest-bearing borrowings HEEETER= 87,555 33 90879 87,937 103,304 - 103,304 101,137
Trade and other payables EREAREMENE [ 23,646 - 23,646 243,069 195,525 - 195,525 195,525
Lease libiltes HERE 334 1,714 5,055 4755 4434 m 5,146 4557
334,542 5,038 339,580 335,761 303,263 12 303,975 301,219
32.4 Foreign currency risk 32.4 JNEEEBS
Presently, there is no hedging policy with respect to the foreign BB - WA EINE R S ¥R R
exchange exposure. The Group's functional currency is Renminbi NEBRINGEEE BARK . EEIEA$E

EREBET2ETE - REBARXHAKR
SENIEEEIHE - RUtAESEAI

G

o

32.5 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily
from short-term interest-bearing borrowings with variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The exposure to
interest rates for the Group’s bank balances, time deposits and
short-term bank deposits are considered immaterial.

R REFERENEMROBRAT 20224 F ¥k 157
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 32. MKRMEREBERBER (B

32.5 Interest rate risk (Continued)
At 31 December 2022, it is estimated that an increase/decrease
of 50 basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would decrease/increase the Group's profit after income
tax and retained profits by approximately RMB460,000 (2021:
RMB379,000). The 50 basis point increase/decrease represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in
interest rates over the period until the next annual reporting date.

33. Material Related Party Transactions 33.

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group had the following significant
transactions with related parties during the year.

(a) Related party transactions

32.5 A=k ()

R-E-_—F+-_A=+—H BB
EMESRFIENBERLT - HTF
R, HASOERL - D
NN E2 B &) P 1S B 12 A8 K AR B8 F))E
#) B ANREE460,000T(Z = —4F -
379,0007T) ° ¥R 50fEES 2
EREHED T —EFEHRE HHREF
KM ESIE A RE B L RYET( o

EDN-GE R
BRAGARBRREMIT HR RSB
R B AP0 8 SRRE T T TAIEA

R5 e

() BIEZXRS

2022 2021
—E-CF 2%
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB'000 RMB'000
BERER B XakE i3 AR¥ETT ARETFT
Neptunus Group Intermediate parent Rental of office (i) 1,459 1,528
BIEE company HERRE
SlEISYN]
Neptunus Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Purchase of finished goods (ii) 74,281 72,842
BEEE RZKBAF BRSNS
Purchase of raw materials (ii) - 341
BERMH
Rental of storage (i) 276 296
EREEE
Sales of goods (ii) 2 -
HERY
Hangzhou Neptunus Bio-engineering  Fellow subsidiary Purchase of finished goods (ii) 501 2,118
Company Limited RZNBAR BERNm

MMEEENTIRAERAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
T _FETA=+—BIEFE

33. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued)

HZEZ

33. ERBAERIRS (B)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued) (a) BERZRS @
2022 2021
b St 3 —T--F
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB'000 RMB'000
BERAB B REME i ARET R ARETFT
Hubei Neptunus Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 223 241
Group Company Limited EELHEING HEEN
LB TREEEERA
Heilongjiang Province Neptunus Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 81 1,072
Pharmaceutical Company Limited ~ FZHBAF] HEEN
REIEATRBEFRAA
Henan Dongsen Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 224 85
Company Limited RIZMBAR HEEN
AERAREERRAA
Henan Neptunus Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 10,164 4179
Group Company Limited RZMBAR HEEN
AEESIREEEERA
Jining Neptunus Huasen Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 205 239
Pharmaceutical Company Limited R ZHIB A HEH
BESTEREEERAA
Henan Neptunus Kangrui Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 76 475
Pharmaceutical Company Limited R RHIEAR] HEEN
RS TR EEARA
Shenzhen Neptunus Jiankang Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 1,247 350
Shiye Company Limited EESE A HEEY
MTEEEREXERAR
Jiangsu Neptunus Jiankang Fellow subsidiary Purchase of finished goods (ii) 946 4,410
Bio-technology Co., Ltd. RZMBAT BEEKS
TEHETREEMREAERAF Sales of goods (ii) 74 608
HERY
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

33. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued) 33. ERAAERR S (@)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued)

(a) BEZRZ (H#)

2022 2021
—E-ZF “ZT-—F
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB’000 RMB'000
HEL 2R 13 RHME Firsk ARBTR ARETT
Sulu Neptunus Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 364 266
Group Company Limited EECHENG HEENM
HESIRESEFRAR
Anyang Hengfeng Pharmaceutical  Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 991 2,943
Co., Ltd. RZKEAR HEEY
ZHEEEEERAR]
Quanyaowang Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 293 7,728
280 RZKBAF HERY
Guangxi Guilin Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 2,462 1,931
Company Limited AN BAR HEEM
ERENSTEEBR AR
Zhoukou Renhe Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (i) 2,006 2,400
Company Limited RZNBAR HEEY
FRmCMEEERAR
Neptunus Research Fellow subsidiary Research and (iv) - 4,250
BT RZRBAT development expense
HEER
Research and (v) 3 969
development income
I
Purchase of finished goods (ii) 1,715 -
BERKS
Henan Neptunus Yinhe Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 670 2,213

Pharmaceutical Company Limited R ZIEA R

WA REGRAT]

HES
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

33. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued) 33. EXEERREG (B)
(a) Related party transactions (Continued) (a) BERZRS @

2022 2021

—E-C-E —T_—F

Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB'000 RMB'000

BERAB B REME i ARET R ARETFT

Neptunus (Zhanjiang) Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 264 187

Company Limited EELNEING HEEN

BE(EL)BEERAF

Shandong Neptunus Yinhe Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 24,040 14,643
Pharmaceutical Company Limited ~ FZHIBAF] HERN
LB TR EEERAR

Zhongshan Changjian Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 762 710
Company Limited RIZMBAR HEEN

R EREXERAR

Neptunus (Maoming) Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 113 241
Company Limited RZKBAR HEEN

BE (KB BEERLA

Shenzhen Shenye Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 1,357 364
Development Company Limted ~RAZKBAF HER
AR BEERERA

Xinjiang Neptunus Pharmaceutical ~ Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 544 579
Company Limited RZKBAR HEEN
RS REBRN

Anhui Neptunus Guoan Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 653 109
Pharmaceutical Company Limited R ZHER A HEEN
B TERBEEERAF

Qingdao Huaren Medical Delivery  Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 894 217
Company Limited RZMBAT HERN

BRECEENZERAT Sales returns (ii) = 847
HERD
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-—_F+-A=+—HILFE

33. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued)

33. EXBEERIRS (88)

(a) BEZRZ (H#)

2022 2021
—BC-Cf “ZT-—F
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB’000 RMB'000
HEL 2R 13 RHME Firsk ARBTR ARETT
Anhui Neptunus Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 995 645
Group Company Limited EECHENG HEENM
ZHETREEEFRAA
Guangxi Neptunus Yinhe Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 113 200
Company Limited RZMBAT HERN
RS THRIEEERAR
Henan Enji Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 1,036 1,194
Company Limited RZNBAR HEEM
AEREEEBRAR
Shenzhen Neptunus Yidianyao Related company Sales of goods (ii) 6,200 5,640
Pharmaceutical Company Limited ~ BiEA 7] HEENM
AmEESHEREERAA Marketing fee (iii 40 =
ZHER
Jiangsu Nepstar Pharmaceutical Related company Sales of goods (ii) 4,526 5,179
Company Limited NG| HEEN
TEHSTERBEBRAR Marketing fee (i) 21 -
ZHER
Jilin Neptunus Jiankang Related company Purchase of finished goods (ii) 4,787 5,542
Bio-technology Company Limited ~ BEAF] BERKS
EWEEREEVREER AR
Nanning Neptunus Jiankang Bio- Related company Purchase of finished goods (ii) 19,775 12,707

technology Company Limited
HESTEREMEHARAF

NG

BESMKm
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

33. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued) 33. EXEERREG (B)
(a) Related party transactions (Continued) (a) BERZRS @

2022 2021

—E-C-E —T_—F

Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB'000 RMB'000

BERAB B REME i ARET R ARETFT

Shaoyang Neptunus Pharmaceutical ~ Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 473 344

Company Limited EESENG HEEN

e EREERA

Guangdong Neptunus Medical Group Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 20,208 4,160
Company Limited EEGENE HERN
ERETREEBBB AT

Huizhou Neptunus Hongyu Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) - 119
Pharmaceutical Company Limited ~ [FZKIEAF] HEEN
BT REEEERAR

Henan Guanbao Yuntong Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 649 2,314
Pharmaceutical Company Limited R ZHER A HEEN
MR EEREEBR AR

Neptunus (Shaoguan) Medical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 114 190
Company Limited RZMBAR HER
BT () BEERAR

Hunan Kangfulai Medical Company  Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 58 1M1
Limited RZHBEAF HERY
HEREEREEARAR

Shanghai Fangcheng Medical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) - 168
Equipment Company Limited RZHE LA HEEY
EELAREENER AR

Kashi Neptunus Yinhe Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 409 286

Company Limited RZMBAR HERN
ROGTRIBRERAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-—_F+-A=+—HILFE

33. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued)

33. EXBEERIRS (88)

(a) BEZRZ (H#)

2022 2021
—BC-Cf “ZT-—F
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB’000 RMB'000
HEL 2R 13 RHME Firsk ARBTR ARETT
Henan Zuojinming Pharmaceutical ~ Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 1,071 1,420
Company Limited RZMERE HEEY)
AR SHBREER DA
Jilin Neptunus Jiankang Technology ~ Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 2,411 15,328
Development Company Limited ~ RIZKIB A HERN
ENEEREHBEERERAA
Shenzhen Neptunus Dayuancao Related company Purchase of finished goods (ii) 872 1,521
Bio-technique Company Limited ~ BEAF] BERH@
REBEATEEMRRER AR
Hubei Neptunus Deming Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 102 84
Pharmaceutical Company Limited ~ RIZHIB A HEENM
LS T EABERRAR
Binzhou Neptunus Huanghe Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 264 28
Pharmaceutical Company Limited ~ FIZH B2 A HEEY
BIETENBEERAR
Linyi Dongrui Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 321 -
Company Limited RZKBAR HEEM
VIS Y] YN
Shandong Neptunus Yangguang Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 536 12
Xinnuo Pharmaceutical Company R ZMEAF] HEEY
Limited
WREEG A EEREERAR
Luan Neptunus Pharmaceutical Fellow subsidiary Sales of goods (ii) 194 41

Company Limited
NEBTBEBRAR

BEGEING]

HERW
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33. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(a) Related party transactions (Continued)

fre R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

33. EXBEERIRS (88)
(a) BEIRS (HE)

2022 2021
—E-C-E —T_—F
Name of related parties Relationship Nature of transactions Note RMB'000 RMB'000
BEHEE B RHUE BifzE ARET T ARETT
Liaoning Province Nepstar Related company Sales of goods (ii) 1,855 -
Pharmaceutical Trading Company B A HEEN
Limited
EELBTERBREESERAA
Fuzhou Nepstar Jiankang Drugstore  Related company Sales of goods (ii) 877 -
Chain Company Limited NG| HEEN
BINETERREEREHEERAA
Notes: Ff%E
(i)  Neptunus Group leased office premises to the Group, the rental of () BEEERASELHEBRAEME  HAE
office premises was charged at pre-agreed rates with reference to VM HIREMISE T%&%?EHTEEHW
market rates. R e
(i) The purchases, sales and rental of storage were transacted in the (i) BREWIEBE - HEREFRHEEBKRATIN
normal course of business on the same terms as those charged to —REEBIEFD - IEEME = JEF‘]'&
and contracted with other third party suppliers and customers. P FTRT S AOUER K 5T 494 B B0 R BT T ©
(i)  The marketing fees were based on pre-agreed rates with reference (i) HHEBERADK2EREASENERFKES
to the volume of purchase of goods from the Group. % REAHENELTHE -
(iv) The research and development expenses are for technical (iv) WEBAIDEARESTHERNEMFAZS
development cooperation with Neptunus Research. fE-
(v  The research and development income are from technical (v) BB AREESEREROEMERES

development cooperation with Neptunus Research.

o
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N
33. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued) 33. EXEERRE (B)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (b) MRBENEESEER
Amounts due from Amounts due to
related parties related parties
EkREELE ENEELFE
2021 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
Amount due from immediate parent ENEBEAR
company ] - -
Amount due from/to an intermediate fEd/ FERHRRER AR
parent company T 214 772
Amounts due from/to fellow subsidiaries: I/ TET R 2 HIB
ARFE
Neptunus Pharmaceutical BEEE 52 597
Shandong Neptunus Yinhe Pharmaceutical  [LIZR/E T 3F 24
Company Limited BBAH 706 1,055
Henan Dongsen Pharmaceutical Company A EAREEAR AR
Limited - -
Hangzhou Neptunus Bio-engineering mMETENIR
Company Limited BRAA - 14
Anhui Neptunus Pharmaceutical Group ZHETRECE
Company Limited BRAA 10 .
Henan Neptunus Pharmaceutical Group MRS TEEEE
Company Limited BRAH 1,065 =
Sulu Neptunus Pharmaceutical Group HESTEELE
Company Limited BRATE 86 =
Quanyaowang 288 2,461 =
Anyang Hengfeng Pharmaceutical Company %5 [EIE B EHR A7
Limited 692 -
Shenzhen Neptunus Property Management  FIFE T 1% &2
Company Limited BRAR 19 =
Henan Neptunus Yinhe Pharmaceutical AT RS
Company Limited BRAR 112 49
Shenzhen Hongyang Property Management  FSImZBEEE
Company Limited BRAH 30 -
Neptunus Research BEHE - -
Shenzhen Neptunus Jiankang Shiye AmETREESE
Company Limited BRAR 369 B
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_ZT-_—_F+-A=+—HILFE

33. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (Continued)

Amounts due from/to fellow subsidiaries:
(Continued)

Guangxi Guilin Neptunus Pharmaceutical
Company Limited

Binzhou Neptunus Huanghe Pharmaceutical
Company Limited

Shaoyang Neptunus Pharmaceutica
Company Limited

Shenzhen Shenye Pharmaceutica
Development Company Limited

Qingdao Huaren Pharmaceutical Distribution
Company Limited

Guangxi Neptunus Yinhe Pharmaceutical
Company Limited

Heilongjiang Province Neptunus
Pharmaceutical Company Limited

Henan Enji Pharmaceutical Company Limited

Neptunus (Shaoguan) Medical Company
Limited

Henan Neptunus Yinhe Medical Company
Limited Zhumadian Branch

Zhongshan Changjian Pharmaceutical
Company Limited

Jiangsu Neptunus Jiankang Bio-technology
Company Limited

Kashi Neptunus Hongkang Medical
Instruments Company Limited

Kashi Neptunus Yinhe Pharmaceutical
Company Limited

Guangdong Neptunus Medical Group
Company Limited

fels/ TR R
REE : (8)
BRENSIEE
BRAAE
BMETETBE
BRAF

MEETREERAT

RMARBERR
BRARF
BRECEERX
ARAR
ERSTHRIES
BRAE
REIEETIRE
BRAHF

AEBEBREARAT
BT (R BERERAA

TEEIERREER

NEESED AR

PUTEREXERAT

TEETREENRE

BRAE

BT LERERM

BREMRT
BB ERmEELE
BRAR

ERSIBESEAR

NG|

Amounts due from Amounts due to
related parties related parties
FEWEEEA A EEEATE

2021 2021

—E-—F B

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETTL

110 2

- 84

- 1

- 1

790 -

690 -

_ 7

- 9

= 110

908 -

- 1

- 41

3,790 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 J g ) E
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N
33. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued) 33. EXEERRE (B)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (Continued) (b) MRBENEESEER
Amounts due from Amounts due to
related parties related parties
ERBELE ERBERRE
2021 2021
& “Z-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT
Amounts due from/to fellow subsidiaries: — FEI/TEF R 2 HIB
(Continued) NEFUE : (B)
Henan Guanbao Yuntong Pharmaceutical ~ IEEBESEEAR
Company Limited S| 1,657 18
Xinjiang Neptunus Xinjia Pharmaceutical ~ ¥iESTMREEAR
Company Limited NG| - 19
Henan Zuojinming Pharmaceutical Company HE{£4 BREEH B A ]
Limited 344 =
Shenzhen Neptunus Dayuancao Bio- FIMmEEATEEY
Technique Company Limited REERAH 419 =
Zhoukou Renhe Pharmaceutical Company ~ AOM{CHZEEFRAF
Limited 578 -
Jilin Neptunus Jiankang Technology EWEERENEEE
Development Company Limited BRAH 17,322 -
Hubei Neptunus Deming Pharmaceutical ¥t/ T /2R 2
Company Limited BRAR - -
Shenzhen Neptunus Media Jiankang MM TEEREER
Company Limited GG -
Heze Neptunus Pharmaceutical Co, Ltd. ~ SHEBTEEBRAF - -
Hubei Neptunus Pharmaceutical Group eI REEE
Company Limited BRAH = =
Tengzhou Neptunus Pharmaceutical BN ERE
Company Limited BRAR - -
Luan Neptunus Pharmaceutical Company ~ ~ZETEEAR
Limited AR - =
Jiangsu Neptunus Pharmaceutical Company  JT#R 8T EEER
Limited AR - =
Neptunus (Zhanjiang) Pharmaceutical BT (T 8%
Company Limited BRAR - -
Jining Neptunus Huasen Pharmaceutical EEGTERE
Company Limited BRAR - =
32,210 2,008
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-_ZT-_—_F+-A=+—HILFE

33. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued) 33. EXEERREG (B)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (Continued)

(b) [EARBHEABIET &R ()

Amounts due from Amounts due to
related parties related parties
KB E R A ENBERFE
2021 2021
—E-—F B
RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARBTT
Amounts due from/to related companies  [EM/TE(IREEA A
TR
Shenzhen Neptunus Yidianyao G T 55 4
Pharmaceutical Company Limited BRATE 994 =
Jiangsu Nepstar Pharmaceutical Company i T#vE T £ RE %
Limited BRAF 591 -
Jilin Neptunus Jiankang Bio-technology EWETREEMRE
Company Limited BRAR 4,000 1
Nanning Neptunus Jiankang Bio-technology ~ FIZ/8 T (2 A MR
Company Limited BRA - 55
Shenzhen Nepstar Jiankang Drugstore Chain  FIf /8 L ERREFERE
Company Limited EHARAT 4 -
Liaoning Province Nepstar Pharmaceutical ~ BE2BTIEREZEH
Trading Company Limited BRAF - =
Shenzhen Neptunus Dayuancao Bio- AT ATEERHL
Technique Company Limited BRAR = =
Fuzhou Nepstar Jiankang Drugstore Chain &ML ERERERE
Company Limited HERAR - -
5,589 56
Amount due to a non-controlling BRI 5
shareholder - 1,405
38,013 4,241
The balances with related parties are unsecured, interest-free MRIEN IEIEARAR R RIE - BAE S ERR A E
and repayable on demand except for the amount due to a non- T - B ERBIRENREE  FERME21
controlling shareholder, details of which are disclosed in note 21. R EE o
*  The English translation of the Chinese name in these consolidated * ERENBRT  AEEPBIRERAPXE
financial statements, where indicated, is included for information BRRXEZEAREERZA -

purpose only.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

33. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued) 33. ERAAERR S (@)

(c) The Group’s amounts due from/to related parties which are of (00 TSKEBREZUERIEZEFEE R
trade nature and non-trade nature, consisted of the following: W ERE R RIERETSSIE

Amounts due from Amounts due to
related parties related parties
as at 31 December as at 31 December
RT=B=+-R R+=A=+-H
EWEERE EfBEERNE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —E_F —ECCF —E_F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTTL ARBT R ARBTIL
Note (i) Note (i) Note (ji) Note (ii)
EA() MiE ) W3 (ii) BiF3E (i)
Trade nature ESNE
Amounts due from/to fellow subsidiaries &Yt /BRI ZH B A FIZE 60,221 32,187 4,935 1,957
Amounts due from/to related companies e/ FENRIE A RIZUR 4,487 5,683 2,500 56
64,708 37,870 7,435 2,013
Non-trade nature FESME
Amount due from immediate parent ENEBEARFE 2 = = =
company
Amount due from/to an intermediate e/ R EE AR 330 214 607 7
parent company
Amounts due from/to fellow subsidiaries U /TERRIZMBA AFA 67 19 - 51
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder B SE AR R B - - 20,247 1,405
399 233 20,854 2,228
65,107 38,013 28,289 4,241
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BEZZT-—_F+-A=+—HLFE

33. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued) 33. EXEERREG (B)

(c) The Group’s amounts due from/to related parties which are of (0 AEEBNESUHENIEESHE 2 &
trade nature and non-trade nature, consisted of the following: W, FERRRE S B RETHEE
(Continued) ()

Notes: MHEE
(i)  The aging analysis of amounts due from related parties arising from () RBEXBBERFELABESHEER
the ordinary course of business which are of trade nature, based on BB E B HIE fE W BE & 77 ;IE R B
invoice date, is as follows: AT :
2022 2021
—EBCCF —T-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AE¥TT ARETT
Within 3 months 3{EARA 51,951 34,967
More than 3 months but less than 12 months HBiR3EARLR 12 @A 2,666 2,728
Over 12 months @@ 12 @A 10,091 85
64,708 37,780
(i)  The aging analysis of amounts due to related parties arising from iy RBEXBBRFELABESHEER
the ordinary course of business which are of trade nature, based on EREE HHI e R & 77 RUERR B
invoice date, is as follows: AT
2022 2021
—EBCCF —T——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Within 3 months 3EARA 7,077 2,013
Over 12 months @@ 12 18 A 358 -
7,435 2,013
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

33. EXBEERIRS (88)

d) EEEHEAEME
AEETEEEEAEME BIESLA
FAATEEOME GAMI 105 3
B RINFETRSEMEENSE

33. Material Related Party Transactions (Continued)
(d) Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group

including remuneration paid to the Company’s directors as

disclosed in note 10 and certain of the highest paid employees as

(e)

disclosed in note 11, are as follows: (RIFFE11 R HRER) a0 T
2022 2021
— s T4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETFIT
Short-term employee benefits EEEB BT 3,306 3,894
Post-employment benefits RUKREA 189 192
3,495 4,086

Certain related party transactions in respect of (a) and (b) above
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

(e) AR LiH(a)R(b)FETHAERRFHE
BX B A 5 3 GEM LT 4R B 205 Fr
AERNFEBRERS - GEM ETMHE A

The disclosures required under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing F20ERTEHHBEHNEFTSRE -
Rules are provided in the Report of the Directors.
34. Commitments 34, EiE
(a) Capital commitments (a) EAREE
2022 2021
—E- 8 =4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFT ARETFT
Property, plant and equipment W BERRE
Contracted but not provided for: EHEVEES I
Property, plant and equipment Y - B k& 990 1,337

(b) At the reporting date, the lease commitments for short-term (b) RM¥EmEBE - ENEAEENEERE
leases are as follows: N
2022 2021
—E-—& —EEas
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBTT
Within 1 year R—FRA 1,764 1,712
Details of the leases are set out in note 25. ERAMEEAZFE  ERMFE252
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

35. Statement Of Financial Position Of The Company 35. R BB EAMOR TR

2022 2021
—E-_—F —E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFTT
Assets and Liabilities BEEREE
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment W BE L&A 1,390 1,615
Intangible assets mLEE 28 =
Right-of-use assets ERERE 340 -
Interests in subsidiaries (Note ii) M8 A mIRR & (ki) 476,520 476,520
478,278 478,135
Current assets RBEE
Trade and other receivables JFEE AT B 350 e L At R WS R 185,553 117,853
Value-added tax recoverable EEEA R - 5
Bank balances and cash RITEBR IR 7,443 54,178
192,996 172,036
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables JREASF B S50 e B At JE AT 35K 5,683 887
Contact liabilities BHAEE 1,505 1,700
Current taxation BNEARE T8 2,342 2,342
Lease liabilities HEARE 342 =
9,872 4,929
Net current assets REBEEFE 183,124 167,107
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABAE 661,402 645,242
Non-current liability FRBEME
Deferred revenue EIE W e 340 340
Net assets FEE 661,062 644,902
Equity =
Share capital A& 7R 167,800 167,800
Reserves (Note i) e (B =ED 493,262 477,102
Total equity e 661,062 644,902
Zhang Feng Huang Jian Bo EiE =&
Director Director e ==
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‘e B M
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-_ZT-—_F+-A=+—HILFE

35. Statement Of Financial Position Of The Company

(Continued)

Notes:

35. RA BB HEAR R TR (48)

iR
(i)  The movement in the Company's reserves is as follows: () ARARAFENFEZOT
Share Statutory Accumulated
premium reserve fund losses Total
4D 518 EEAES RitEE st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
AU sy 202 R-B-——%—A—H 554,844 3,330 (86,230) 471,944
Profit for the year and total ERREARERES
comprehensive income for the year ok e B B 5158 5158
At 31 December 2021 and RZZE=—5+=A
1 January 2022 =f+—Hk
—E--#—f—H 554,844 3,330 (81,072) 477,102
Profit for the year and total FRRHRFANERE
comprehensive income for the year et = - 16,160 16,160
At 31 December 2022 -3
+=A=+—H 554,844 3,330 64,912 493,262
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35. Statement Of Financial Position Of The Company

(Continued)

/\‘/T\

B RN

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BHEZ

- _F+_A=t—HLFE

35. RQ BRI 3R (8)

Notes: (Continued) BeE - (8D
(i)  The following is a list of principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022: (i) WATRR-F-_F+_A=+—BHEA
GIE
Percentage
Place of Particulars of of ownership
incorporation  Class of registered/issued interests held
Name of subsidiary and operation  shares held and paid up capital by the Company  Principal activity
HEMEILR &/ ERTR ARRFRE
AEER S HERGBER BREAFE BERERED TEER
Directly held by the Company:
RPREERE
Ascendent Bio-Technology Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 (2021: HK$1) 100%  Dormant
SRR AR AR &b B b (2021:100%)  mrqpmse
(cE-—fF ) (CE=TF100%)
Fuzhou Neptunus Fuyao Pharmaceutical PRC Registered RMB30,000,000 80%  Production and sales of
Company Limited (“Neptunus Fuyao”)*# F EEaii (2021: RMB30,000,000) (2021:80%)  medicine
BMNETREREERAR (TEERE]) AR#30,000,0007 (ZZ=—F:80%) HERHEEY
(=B——%:
AE#30,000,0007T)
Shenzhen Neptunus Changjian Pharmaceutical ~ PRC Registered RMB10,000,000 100%  Sales and distribution of
Company Limited (“Neptunus Changjian”)*@ 3l (2021: RMB10,000,000) (2021:100%)  medicines and healthcare
AIEERREEERAR TEERE]) ARH10,000000  (ZZ=—%:100%)  products
(ZB=—F: HERDRERRRER
AE#10,000,0007T)
Indirectly held by the Company:
ANAREESE
Fuzhou Neptunus Jinxiang Chinese PRC Registered RMB10,000,000 76%  Production and sales of
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd H A (2021: RMB10,000,000) (2021:76%)  medicine
(“Neptunus Jinxiang")*# AK#10,000,000 (ZZ=—5:76%) HEREEEN
BINEEERPEHEERAR (ZB=—%:
(a2 ) AR#10,000,0007T)
Fuzhou Fuyao Medical Co., Ltd PRC Registered RMB10,000,000 79.6%  Sales of medicine
(“Fuzhou Fuyao”)** EP i (2021: RMB10,000,000) (2021:79.6%) $HELZY
BMEEREERAR (RMNEE) AR#10,000,000  (ZZZ—%F:79.6%)
(2%
AR#10,000,0007T)
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T E BT ERER M5

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

35. Statement Of Financial Position Of The Company 35. R BB MOR TR ()

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued) MisE : (88
(i) The following is a list of subsidiaries at 31 December 2022: (Continued) (i) WUTFAR=ZZE_—_F+-_A=+—HKEBA
GIEZE NC))
Percentage
Place of Particulars of of ownership
incorporation  Class of registered/issued interests held
Name of subsidiary and operation  shares held and paid up capital by the Company  Principal activity
MK E/ ERITR EAREE
ARER BB FERGBER BREXFHE BERERAIN TEER

Indirectly held by the Company: (Continued)
FRRBERE (B

Jilin Neptunus Changjian Industrial Company ~ PRC Registered RMB500,000
Limited (“Jilin Changjian“)*@ H EZaii (2021: RMB500,000)
EMEIREEXARAR(EMRE]) AR#500,0007T
(ZZ=—%:

ARH500,0007T)

Beijing Neptunus Zhongxin Pharmaceutical PRC Registered RMB51,000,000
Co., Limited (""Neptunus Zhongxin")*@ H EZaii (2021: RMB51,000,000)
TR HERRNE RAR (BEHI]) e AK#51,000,0007T
(ZZ=—%:

ARH51,000,0007T)

Hainan Neptunus Changjian Trading PRC Registered RMB1,000,000
Co., Limited (“Hainan Neptunus")*®" ® R (2021: N/A)
BEEEREESERAR(DERSEE]) AR#1,000,000

(2% TR

* These companies are registered under the laws of the PRC as limited *
liability companies.

# Neptunus Fuyao has controlling interests in Neptunus Jinxiang and
Fuzhou Fuyao (“Neptunus Fuyao Group”).

O Neptunus Changjian has controlling interest in Jilin Changjian, b
Neptunus Zhongxin and Hainan Neptunus (“Neptunus Changjian
Group”).

Hainan Neptunus was newly incorporated on 13 May 2022.

100%  Sales and distribution of
(2021: 100%) medicines and healthcare
(ZZ=—%:100%)  products
HERDHERRRER

51%  Production and sales of
(2021: 51%) medicine
51% 4ERHEEY)
(ZZ=Z—F :51%)

100% Sales and distribution of
(2021: N/A)  medicines and healthcare
100%  products
(ZZ=—F : TER) $ERIBERRRRR

ZERARBEFBREARELAEREMR
=

BEREHETIERMEMNEE(EERE
KE ) FAER R -

BERBEEMNRE  BERFERET
(MEEREEE D FEERER

BEEEN T _FHA+=HAHEMK
e
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fre R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE

35. Statement Of Financial Position Of The Company 35. AR A AR AR O 2R (4B)
(Continued)

The following table lists out the information relating to the Neptunus TRINTBAEAIEERER ([JEERE
Fuyao Group which has material non-controlling interests (“NCI"). =R TRESENER « TXMRIME
The summarised financial information presented below represents the BRBEE THIs A RIEE ER 2 258 -

amounts before any intragroup elimination.

2022 2021

—E-CF —T=—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFTT

NCI percentage SRR R A DL 20% 20%
Current assets MENEE 512,249 367,816
Non-current assets IERBEE 323,451 326,197
Current liabilities mEEE (259,840) (162,795)
Non-current liabilities JEmBAaE (13,355) (12,248)
Net assets BEFE 562,505 518,970
Carrying amount of NCI FEPERR A R ) AR TEN (B 112,501 103,794
Revenue WA 610,036 493,224
Profit for the year REZ A 57,622 47,450
Total comprehensive income 2HEMSAREE 57,622 47,450
Profit allocated to NCI 7 BE T IEERR A AR A R A 11,524 9,490
Dividend paid to NCI ST IR R R AR S (2,926) (1,620)
Cash flows (used in)/from operating activities &&= &8 (FTA) FIEIR TR (18,004) 56,360
Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities & EEFTE, (FTA)IRE R 81,115 (58,218)
Cash flows used in financing activities mEEBFTAE SR (13,272) (60,434)
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T E BT ERER M5

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_Z-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE

35. Statement Of Financial Position Of The Company

(Continued)

The following table lists out the information relating to the Neptunus
Changjian Group which has material NCI. The summarised financial
information presented below represents the amounts before any inter-

company elimination.

35.

R B BARR K ()

TRINFEBEEAHERZERNE T RE
SENER - TXARHBERBZTEE
Al R RIS SHAT 2 25 ©

2022 2021

—E-CHF —E -4

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AREFTT

NCI percentage IR E DL 49% 49%
Current assets BN EE 146,492 112,133
Non-current assets ERBEE 76,453 90,923
Current liabilities mEaE (244,942) (228,246)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (6,020) (318)
Net liabilities afE#E (28,017) (25,508)
Carrying amount of NCI R R Y BRI (B (13,728) (12,499)
Revenue WA 117,328 57,502
Loss for the year NEEEE (2,509) (23,185)
Total comprehensive expense FHMAS 4R (2,509) (23,185)
Loss allocated to NCI AL F IR = A ETIE (1,229) (11,361)
Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities #&4EBFF1S, (FrA)BRE R 14,588 (100,441)
Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities & EEFTAR SN 6,912 (1,034)
Cash flows (used in)/from financing activities EY& EE) (FrFH), FTEIR &7 (25,539) 114, 897
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Five Year Financial Summary

EEMBERE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-—F —E-—F —EC-TE —hE —N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET R AREFT ARBF T AR®EF T AREF T
RESULTS £ ]
Revenue WA 986,691 838,805 1,031,369 1,080,871 867,123
Cost of sales SHE R (542,549) (464,702) (457,009) (437,833) (364,908)
Gross profit 7 444,142 374,103 574,360 643,038 502,215
Other revenue HA g A 20,617 24,524 13,538 9,103 11,731
Other net income HAa WA F5E 3,425 4,198 1,649 176 1,647
Selling and distribution costs HERDHERZ (244,231) (238,115) (420,578) (456,599) (349,026)
Administrative expenses TEFAY (93,733) (80,536) (64,456) (65,573) (55,916)
Other operating expenses HiEeR® (38,096) (37,466) (50,266) (49,542) (40,948)
Impairment losses on trade and ~ FEURER 3K EL At FE Uk
other receivables, net FIBREEETE (2,831) (3,002) (3,205) (365) 272)
Profit from operations ERR 89,293 43,706 51,042 80,238 69,431
Finance costs HHKER (7,032) (4,596) (830) (1,417) (1,787)
Profit before taxation BRBi AR F 82,261 39,110 50,212 78,821 67,644
Income tax expense FrisBimx (18,431) (4,804) (11,470) (15,412) (16,580)
Profit for the year REFBR 63,830 34,306 38,742 63,409 51,064
Attributable to: PEfL
Owners of the Company EAREE A 54,346 35,958 36,592 59,719 48,089
Non-controlling interests FEfE R RS 9,484 (1,652) 2,150 3,690 2,975
63,830 34,306 38,742 63,409 51,064
Assets and liabilities BEHEE
Total assets BAE 1,448,230 1,307,570 1,120,882 1,124,123 986,096
Total liabilities mafk (442,926) (363,170) (225,210) (264,193) (187,264)
1,005,304 944,400 895,672 859,930 798,832
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Group Property
SEY=

PROPERTY IN PRC
B =

Location Intended use

Hh3ik Jizkes

Site area
T ERE

(sq.m)
(F7K)

Gross
floor area
EEEE
(sq.m)
(FEF3K)

Group’s
interest
EihfEm
(%)
(BZtE)

Kuigi Village, Industrial
Gushan Town,

Jin'an District

Fuzhou City

Fujian Province

The PRC

e RN T T
B2 5 L SA R IR AT

No. 1, Qiangyun Road Industrial
Miyun Economic

Development Zone,

Beijing City,

The PRC

B R HEE I%
SREER15R

15 Zhansimen Road, Industrial
Shahe Town,

Changping District,

Beijing City,

The PRC

B R 2 TR R T3

R BFIEE 1598

166,109.5

166,109.5

18,086.47

18,086.47

6,768.48

6,768.48

58,434.74

58,434.74

16,441.71

16,441.71

1,691.90

1,691.90
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